Subsets of intestinal dendritic cells and their role in orally-induced immune responses

Jessica Westlund



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Department of Microbiology and Immunology Institute of Biomedicine Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg Gothenburg, Sweden 2013 Cover illustration: Schematic view of intestinal dendritic cell migration

Subsets of intestinal dendritic cells and their role in orally-induced immune responses © Jessica Westlund 2013 jessica.westlund@gu.se

ISBN 978-91-628-8775-9

Printed in Gothenburg, Sweden 2013 Kompendiet

Till mina älskade

Subsets of intestinal dendritic cells and their role in orally-induced immune responses

Jessica Westlund

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Institute of Biomedicine Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg Göteborg, Sweden

Abstract

Vaccination is the most effective means of preventing infectious diseases and improving global health. However, few vaccines have successfully been developed for protection at mucosal surfaces where most infectious pathogens enter our body. One major reason for this is the lack of adjuvants, immune enhancing agents, that can be administered together with the vaccine. The enterotoxin cholera toxin (CT) is a potent mucosal adjuvant but the toxicity precludes its use in humans. Derivatives of enterotoxins with reduced toxicity are today the most promising candidates for safe and efficient oral adjuvants. However, the underlying mechanisms for the adjuvant activity of enterotoxins are still not fully known.

Dendritic cells (DCs) are immune cells that sense the microenvironment and confer T cells with ability to help B cells differentiate into antibody-producing plasma cells, necessary for vaccine-induced protection. Intestinal DCs are important both for immunity and tolerance. However, intestinal DCs constitute a heterogeneous population of cells. The function of intestinal DC subsets therefore needs to be defined further to understand how these contribute to tolerance under steady state and to induce immunity during infection or following oral immunization.

In this thesis the role of intestinal DC subsets, in the induction of immune responses following oral administration of antigen, with or without CT as adjuvant, was elucidated. This was done after developing a microsurgical technique in mice that by cannulation of lymphatic vessels allows the direct collection of DCs that exit the intestine under steady state and following vaccination. This technique was combined with the use of genetically modified mice 1) in which DCs can be ablated; 2) that lack specific DC subsets; 3) that are deficient in intracellular signaling pathways in DCs or in other immune cells or 4) that lack CD47, a surface receptor known to influence cell migration.

In the thesis we demonstrate the requirement of cDCs for the activation of antigen-specific T cells and the generation of antigen-specific antibodies following oral immunization when using limiting doses of antigen and CT as an adjuvant. In addition, we show *in vivo* that intact signaling through Gs α specifically in cDCs is essential for the oral adjuvant activity of CT. Using the cannulation technique we show that four subsets of DCs migrate from the intestine under steady state and following oral immunization. Selectively the CD11b⁺CD8⁺ subset does not show signs of activation after oral CT and this subset was also found to be dispensable for the generation of antigen-specific intestinal antibodies using this adjuvant. The necessity for CD11b⁺CD8⁻ cDCs could not be establish in CD47 deficient mice, although these mice display significant reduction of this subset in intestinal tissues. Rather, expression of CD47 by non-hematopoietic cells is pivotal for intestinal antibody generation after oral immunization. Finally, signaling pathways involved in CT's adjuvanticity were addressed and shown to be independent of classical TLR-signaling. Moreover, caspase 1/11 activity was not necessary for the generation of antigen-specific serum IgG but for intestinal IgA following oral immunization with CT.

In conclusion, we have shown a requirement for cDCs and an intact signaling specifically in these cells for the oral adjuvant activity of CT. Furthermore we have identified that the generation of intestinal and systemic antibodies following oral immunization with CT are differentially regulated. These results may therefore have important implications for the development of improved oral vaccines.

Keywords: dendritic cells, oral vaccination, intestine, antibody responses, cholera toxin, Gut-associated lymphoid tissue **ISBN**: 978-91-628-8775-9

Original papers

This thesis is based on the following studies, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Fahlén-Yrlid L, Gustafsson T, <u>Westlund J</u>, Holmberg A, Strömbeck A, Blomquist M, MacPherson G G., Holmgren J, Yrlid U CD11c(high) dendritic cells are essential for activation of CD4+ T cells and generation of specific antibodies following mucosal immunization *Journal of Immunology*, 2009, vol. 8, Issue 183, pages: 5032-41
- II. <u>Westlund J</u>, Livingston M, Fahlén-Yrlid L, Oldenborg P-A, Yrlid U CD47-deficient mice have decreased production of intestinal IgA following oral immunization but a maintained capacity to induce oral tolerance *Immunology*, 2012, vol. 3, Issue 3, pages: 236-244
- III. <u>Westlund J,</u> Capar S, Fahlén-Yrlid L, Livingston M, Ekman L, Lycke N Y., Yrlid U

Oral adjuvant activity of cholera toxin is independent of classical toll-like receptor and inflammasome pathways but requires G_sa expression in CD11c⁺ dendritic cells *Manuscript*

Table of contents

Table of contentsiiiAbbreviationsvIntroduction7General introduction7Two sides of the immune system – tolerance and immunity7Tolerance – central, peripheral and oral7Immunity – innate and adaptive8Anatomy of the immune system8Primary lymphoid organs9Small intestinal lamina propria9Peyer's patches9Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles10The lymphatic system10Mesenteric (lymph nodes10Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Cholera toxin25Cholera toxin25
Abbreviations v Introduction 7 General introduction 7 Two sides of the immune system – tolerance and immunity 7 Tolerance – central, peripheral and oral 7 Immunity – innate and adaptive 8 Anatomy of the immune system 8 Anatomy of the immune system 9 Small intestinal lamina propria 9 Peyer's patches 9 Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles 10 The lymphatic system 10 Mesenteric lymph nodes 10 Dendritic cells 11 Classification of DCs 11 DC subsets 14 Intestinal DC subsets 16 Antigen processing and presentation by DCs 19 Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs 19 Pathogen recognition receptors 20 Vacines and adjuvants 24 TLR agonists 24 Alum 25 Mucosal vaccination 25 Aim 25
Introduction 7 General introduction 7 Two sides of the immune system – tolerance and immunity
General introduction7Two sides of the immune system - tolerance and immunity7Tolerance - central, peripheral and oral7Immunity - innate and adaptive8Anatomy of the immune system8Primary lymphoid organs9Small intestinal lamina propria9Peyer's patches9Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles10The lymphatic system10Mesenteric lymph nodes10Dendritic cells11DC ontogeny12DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs.19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells21Mucosal vaccination25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Two sides of the immune system – tolerance and immunity7Tolerance – central, peripheral and oral7Immunity – innate and adaptive8Anatomy of the immune system8Primary lymphoid organs9Small intestinal lamina propria.9Peyer's patches9Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles.10The lymphatic system10Mesenteric lymph nodes.10Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs.19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25
Tolerance - central, peripheral and oral7Immunity - innate and adaptive8Anatomy of the immune system8Primary lymphoid organs9Small intestinal lamina propria9Peyer's patches9Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles10The lymphatic system10Mesenteric lymph nodes10Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Immunity – innate and adaptive8Anatomy of the immune system8Primary lymphoid organs9Small intestinal lamina propria9Peyer's patches9Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles10The lymphatic system10Mesenteric lymph nodes10Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC ontogeny12DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Anatomy of the immune system8Primary lymphoid organs9Small intestinal lamina propria9Peyer's patches9Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles10The lymphatic system10Mesenteric lymph nodes10Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC ontogeny12DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs.19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Primary lymphoid organs9Small intestinal lamina propria9Peyer's patches9Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles10The lymphatic system10Mesenteric lymph nodes10Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC ontogeny12DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs.19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Small intestinal lamina propria9Peyer's patches9Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles10The lymphatic system10Mesenteric lymph nodes10Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC ontogeny12DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs.19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Peyer's patches.9Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles.10The lymphatic system.10Mesenteric lymph nodes.10Dendritic cells.11Classification of DCs.11DC ontogeny.12DC subsets.13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets.14Intestinal DC subsets.16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs.19Pathogen recognition receptors.20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells.21B cell responses - generation of antibodies.22Vaccines and adjuvants.24TLR agonists.24Alum.25Mucosal vaccination.25Atim.29
Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles10The lymphatic system10Mesenteric lymph nodes10Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC ontogeny12DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
The lymphatic system10Mesenteric lymph nodes10Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC ontogeny12DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses – CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Mesenteric lymph nodes10Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC ontogeny12DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25
Dendritic cells11Classification of DCs11DC ontogeny12DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Classification of DCs11DC ontogeny12DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
DC ontogeny12DC subsets.13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets.14Intestinal DC subsets.16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs.19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses - CTLs and T helper cells.21B cell responses - generation of antibodies.22Vaccines and adjuvants.24TLR agonists.24Alum.25Mucosal vaccination.25Cholera toxin.25
DC subsets13Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs.19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses – CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25
Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets14Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs.19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses – CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Intestinal DC subsets16Antigen processing and presentation by DCs.19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors.20T cell responses – CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants.24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25
Antigen processing and presentation by DCs.19Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors.20T cell responses – CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants.24TLR agonists.24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs19Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses – CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
Pathogen recognition receptors20T cell responses – CTLs and T helper cells21B cell responses - generation of antibodies22Vaccines and adjuvants24TLR agonists24Alum25Mucosal vaccination25Cholera toxin25Aim29
T cell responses – CTLs and T helper cells 21 B cell responses - generation of antibodies 22 Vaccines and adjuvants 24 TLR agonists 24 Alum 25 Mucosal vaccination 25 Cholera toxin 25 Aim 29
B cell responses - generation of antibodies 22 Vaccines and adjuvants 24 TLR agonists 24 Alum 25 Mucosal vaccination 25 Cholera toxin 25 Aim 29
Vaccines and adjuvants. 24 TLR agonists. 24 Alum 25 Mucosal vaccination. 25 Cholera toxin 25 Aim 29
TLR agonists 24 Alum 25 Mucosal vaccination 25 Cholera toxin 25 Aim 29
Alum
Mucosal vaccination
Cholera toxin
Aim 29
Key methodologies
Mice
Immunizations (paper I-III)
Oral tolerance (paper I)
Bone marrow chimeras (paper I-III)
Bone marrow DC culture (paper I and III)
Adoptive transfer
Antibody assay (paper I-III)
Flow cytometry and cell sorting (paper I-III)
Thoracic duct cannulation (paper III)
Results
Paper I: CD11chigh Dendritic Cells Are Essential for the Activation of CD4+ T Cells and the
Generation of Specific Antibodies following Mucosal Immunization
Conventional DCs are essential for the activation of CD4 ⁺ T cells
Conventional DC dependence is overridden by increased antigen dose

Paper II: CD47-deficient mice have decreased production of intestinal IgA following oral	_
immunization but maintain the capacity to induce oral tolerance	37
CD47-expression is important for maintaining cell numbers in gut	38
Impaired mucosal but not systemic immune response following oral immunization of CD47 ^{-/-}	
mice	39
Non-hematopoietic cells and not the reduced frequencies of CD11b ⁺ cDCs are responsible for	
the impaired mucosal immune response in CD47 ^{-/-} mice	40
Paper III: Oral adjuvant activity of cholera toxin is independent of classical toll-like receptor	
signaling, but requires $G_s \alpha$ expression in CD11c ⁺ dendritic cells4	11
The role of different intestinal lymph DC subsets after oral CT administration	41
The role of Batf3-dependent DCs in oral immunization	42
$G_{s}\alpha$ -expression in cDCs is necessary for DC-activation and for the oral adjuvant activity of	
cholera toxin	43
The oral adjuvant activity of CT does not require TLR signaling	44
Involvement of the inflammasome in the generation of intestinal IgA but not systemic IgG	
following oral immunization with CT	44
Discussion	17
The role of CD11s ⁺ DCs in oral vascingtion with CT	+/
Superific involvement of aDC subsets in availy induced immune responses	1/ 10
Specific involvement of CDC subsets in orally-induced immune responses	19
The role of CD47 in immune responses induced by oral C1	1
Signaling pathways involved in the oral adjuvant effect of CT5	52
Conclusion	55
Acknowledgement	57
References	61

Abbreviations

APC	Antigen presenting cell
BATF3	Basic leucine zipper and transcription factor ATF-like 3
BM	Bone marrow
BMCh	Bone marrow chimeras
BMDC	Bone marrow DC
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
cDC	Classical dendritic cell
cDC	Conventional dendritic cell
CESE	5 6-Carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester
CLN	Cervical lymph node
CLP	Common lymphoid progenitor
CMP	Common myeloid progenitor
CT	Cholera toxin
	Cholera toxin Cholera toxin subunit A
CTR	Cholera toxin subunit A
СТВ	Cutatoria Threehoute
CIL	Cyloloxic T lymphocyte
CP DC	Dandaitie cell
DU	
DIK	Diphtheria toxin receptor
DIX	Diphtheria toxin
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FAE	Follicular associated epithelium
FLT3L	FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand
GALT	Gut-associated lymphoid tissue
GC	Germinal centre
GM-CSF	Granulocyte monocyte-colony stimulating factor
HEV	High endothelial venules
i.n.	Intra nasal
i.v.	Intravenous
IFA	Incomplete Freud's adjuvant
IFN-γ	Interferon-y
IFR	Interfollicular (T cell) regions
IL-DCs	Intestinal lymph DCs
ILF	Isolated lymphoid follicle
Irf	Interferon regulatory factor
ITIMs	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs
КО	Knock-out
LP	Lamina propria
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
M cell	Microfold cell
MDP	Macronhage DC progenitor
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MIN	Mesenteric lymph node
MINX	Mesenteric lymphadenectomy
NALT	Nasal associated lymphoid tissue
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (as in NOD-like recentor)
	Nucleotide-officing officinzation domain (as in NOD-fixe feeeptor) OVA transporte $CD_{2}^{+/}CD_{4}^{+}$ T calls
	Ovelhumin
	Der os (oral)
	r ti us (ulal) Dathagan associated malacular netterns
	r atnogen-associated molecular patterns
pDC	Plasmacytola DC

PLO	Primary lymphoid organ
PP	Peyer's patches
PRRs	Pathogen recognition receptors
S.C.	Subcutaneous
SED	Subepithelial dome
SHP	Src homology domain 2 containing phosphatases
SILT	Solitary intestinal lymphoid tissue
SIRP-α	Signal-regulatory protein α
SLOs	Secondary lymphoid organs
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
TD	Thoracic duct
TDC	Thoracic duct cannulation
TF	Transcription factor
Tfh	T follicular helper cells
Th1/2/17	T helper cells type 1/2/17
TLRs	Toll-like receptors
TNBS	Trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor- alpha
WT	Wild type

Introduction

General introduction

The importance of our immune system is well known to us for defending us against dangerous microorganisms. The majority of such pathogens enter our body through mucosal surfaces, such as the lining of nose, mouth and intestine. The oral route in particular is one of the major points of entry for pathogen invasion[1]. The intestinal mucosa and its integral immune compartment has an intricate and dual role in protecting us from pathogens in an environment in which the majority of the antigens derive from beneficial commensal bacteria, harmless food derivatives and the body's own proteins which need to be tolerated by the host. To generate tolerance towards self and non-harmful substances is as important as inducing immunity to pathogens. If either fails, pathology results. Throughout the intestine and other mucosal surfaces, dendritic cells (DCs) are positioned. They internalize proteins at the mucosal site, process the protein and migrate to draining lymph nodes (LNs) where they present the processed protein to T lymphocytes. The outcome of this T-DC interaction results either in induction of tolerance or an active immune response with effector cells specifically to function to eradicate the pathogen and to help B cells become antibody-producing plasma cells. Generation of high-affinity antibodies are crucial for a memory response in case of reinfection, and the goal with vaccinations, i.e. to give prophylactic protection. At the onset of this thesis, the role of intestinal DCs in either setting was incompletely studied. In particular, the specific role of the emerging subsets of intestinal DCs was not fully known.

During my PhD, I have therefore studied subsets of intestine-derived DCs and their role in immune responses induced by the oral route. In the following sections I will give a general overview of the field of research of DC biology and present aspects of immunological mechanisms key to this thesis work.

Two sides of the immune system – tolerance and immunity

The gut is home to a tremendous amount of commensal bacteria that together with food and the body's own proteins, constitute antigens that must be tolerated by the immune system. Therefore, the steady state of the T-DC interaction in intestinal draining LNs (mesenteric LNs; MLNs) is tolerance. However, during an infection this tolerogenic state has to be overridden to elicit immunity against the intruding pathogen, in which antibody production and microbial killing is initiated.

Tolerance – central, peripheral and oral

All nucleated cells express major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) to enable presentation of endogenously expressed proteins. In case of infection, viral proteins transcribed by the cell will be processed and presented on MHC-I molecules. However, during the steady state, the majority of antigens presented on MHC-I are self-antigens and various mechanisms operate so that lymphocytes do not start an immune reaction towards these antigens. Mechanisms to ensure self-tolerance include clonal deletion, clonal diversion, receptor editing, and anergy[2]. Central tolerance is the term for tolerance induced in the primary lymphoid organ (PLO) during the maturation of B and T lymphocytes (henceforth termed B and T cells). Tolerance induced outside PLO is termed peripheral tolerance. Cells with high affinity to self-antigens are eliminated either by clonal deletion (apoptosis), or induced to a state of unresponsiveness; anergy, within the B and T cells. The former mainly applied for central tolerance, while anergy occur more frequently also in peripheral tolerance.

Self-reactive cells, mainly B cells, can escape elimination by a process called receptor editing, in which the affinity of its B cell receptor (BCR) is changed. Self-reactive T cells within the thymus may be selected by clonal diversion with imprints for suppressor or regulatory function, i.e. to become regulatory T cells (Treg)[2].

In the periphery/systemically, another type of tolerance can be generated, in fact toward antigens in combination with immunostimulatory agents. In order for this to occur, the antigen must have entered via the oral route in the initial encounter with the host. Hence, the term for this type of tolerance is oral tolerance. The reason is that oral delivered substances are prone to elicit tolerance as the majority of substances within the gut are beneficial commensals or food derivatives, important to tolerate. In contrast, an immunostimulatory antigen in the periphery elicit antibody responses upon the second encounter if the first encounter also was peripheral/systemical.

Immunity - innate and adaptive

The immune system can be divided into two parts; the innate and the adaptive, or native and acquired, immune system. The innate immune system gives a very rapid response with specificity receptors covering a broad yet limited spectrum. The receptors involved in adaptive immune system display nearby unlimited amount of specificities. These are screened to identify a certain motif and, hence the name, adapt the response to an re-infection, with high affinity receptors with adapted functional specificity.

The innate immune system acts as a first line of defence, together with the epithelial cells lining body surfaces, as the first barrier against invading pathogens. The innate immune system mounts a very rapid response that is initiated within hours or even minutes of infection or trauma. Cells of the innate immune system recognize structures common for different pathogens, usually involved in specific functions, such as motility, and thus distinct from the host. These structures are conserved between different pathogens and are integrated in the term pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). They are recognised by pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) on innate immune cells, for example antigen presenting cells (APCs) such as DCs, which express a large variety of these receptors. The innate immune response is similar to all pathogens at all time. In contrast, the adaptive immune system involves cells with highly specific receptors recognising specific sequences and, most importantly, results in a memory. This memory lies in the ability to mount a more rapid response upon re-encounter, to produce antibodies with a higher affinity and functional specificity, from memory cells generated at the first encounter. Due to the increased multitude of specificities among lymphocyte receptors within the adaptive immune system, the machinery is slow in the initial encounter but ensures a more rapid and effective response upon re-infection.

Although innate and adaptive immune responses are usually treated as separate divisions of the immune system, they are intimately connected. DCs function as an important link between the two. In peripheral tissue, such as the intestine, DCs scan the tissue for antigens and migrate to draining LNs. In the LNs processed antigen is presented to T cells, belonging to the adaptive immune response, which respond cognately to the presented antigen - either with tolerance or immunogenic reaction.

Anatomy of the immune system

Structurally, three different anatomical regions are of importance for an appropriate immune response. Firstly, the primary lymphoid organ (PLO) in which immune cells are generated and

matured. Secondly, the secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs), (inductive sites), in which migratory DCs present the captured antigen to T cells, in a process called priming - to initiate a response. Finally, the effector site, i.e. the site of infection in which DCs captured the antigen and to which lymphocytes home after priming, becoming fully activated upon reencounter of the antigen in order to eliminate the infection. Thus DCs migrate from bone marrow to peripheral tissue, e.g., intestine, and finally to SLO.

Primary lymphoid organs

All immune cells are of hematopoietic origin, thus originating from a precursor in the bone marrow (BM) (Figure I1). The BM is thus a primary lymphoid organ, further it is responsible for all the steps generating mature B cells. T cells arise from BM-derived progenitors that home to the thymus. Thymus is thus the PLO for T cells. After T lineage commitment and expansion, T-cell receptor (TCR) gene rearrangement follows to generate CD4 and CD8 double-negative cells. Double-negative cells give rise to a large number of CD4 and CD8 double-positive thymocytes. CD4 and CD8 are glycoproteins that functions as co-receptors for the recognition of either MHC-II or MHC-I, respectively[3]. Somatic recombination of TCR genes results in a tremendous repertoire of distinct TCRs with random specificity. Before leaving the thymus, the T cells have matured into single-positive cells with non-self restricted antigenic specificity by selection processes mediated by APCs. Positive selection is mediated by thymic epithelial cells and ensures that T cells can respond to self-MHC[4]. T cells that recognize antigen-MHC-II-complex on the epithelial cell, and at the same time bind to the complex with the CD4 co-receptor, receive a survival signal trough the TCR-complex that allows further maturation into single-positive, CD4⁺ T cells. A reciprocal selection process leads to MHC-I restricted CD8 expressing T cells. Double-positive T cells expressing TCRs that do not bind antigen-MHC complexes die by neglect[2]. However, the antigen presented in the thymus is self-derived and thus T cells with strong avidity to such antigen must be regulated to ensure self-tolerance. Self-tolerance induced in the thymus is referred to as central tolerance as depicted earlier. Thymic APCs, preferentially DCs, are the responsible cells for the process in which T cells with a too strong binding to antigen-MHC-complex are eliminated by induction of apoptosis (clonal deletion) or selected for imprints to become regulatory T cells (clonal diversion)[4]. Clonal deletion is also denoted as negative selection within the T cell repertoire and can occur either in the stage of double positive or single positive thymocytes.

Small intestinal lamina propria

The small intestinal lamina proria is the effector site in orally induced immune responses. The wall of the small intestine consist of four layers, closest to the gut lumen is the mucosa, after which follows; submucosa, muscularis externa and serosa. A single epithelial layer, organized into crypts and villi lines the mucosa in the small intestine and is protected with a mucus layer. Underlying the epithelial cells, the basal lamina, a layer of extracellular matrix separates the epithelial cells from the lamina propria, the effector site of gut immunity[5]. A thin smooth muscle layer, the muscularis mucosa, separates the mucosa from the submucosa. Within the submucosa, a network of lymphatics (together with blood vessels and nerves) reside[6]. DCs arrive into the submucosa via the blood, and migrate toward epithelial cells close to the gut lumen to sample the environment.

Peyer's patches

Throughout the intestine a number clusters of lymphoid follicles, Peyer's patches, are dispersed. Peyer's patches (PP) are organized lymphoid follicles within the intestine which act as inductive sites for gut immune responses[7]. They usually consists of several follicles per patch, and have a specialized epithelial layer, called the follicle-associated epithelium (FAE),

an underlying subepthelial dome (SED) under which the B cell follicles and interfollicular T cell regions (IFR) are located. Anatomically, PP can stretch down through muscularis mucosa into the submucosa[8]. FAE is clearly distinct from regular epithelium in the LP, containing specialized microfold (M) cells with shorter and fewer microvilli[8]. The M cells are specialized to take up luminal antigens for transport to DCs in the SED[7,9].

Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles

Cryptopatches (CP) were first identified by Kanamori and collegues in murine intestinal wall as clusters of innate lymphoid tissue cells surrounded by DCs[10]. The clusters contain cells expressing stem cell growth factor receptor (C-kit) and are negative for lineage markers, and are located at the base of the intestinal crypts. CP have been described in mice but originally reported to be lacking in humans[11], which recently, has been challenged by Lügering and collegues[12]. One function of CP was suggested to be the generation of intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) in the overlying epithelium. This was supported by the increased number of IELs upon transfer and tissue graft of Lin⁻c-kit⁺ CP cells[13]. However, CPs was later shown to be dispensable for IEL generation[11]. Isolated lymphoid follicles (ILF) are another form of organised gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT), comprising single B cell follicles, sometimes including a germinal center (GC) with IgD⁺ and IgA⁺ B cells, underlying an epithelium containing M cells[14]. Microbes such as Salmonella enterica and Yersinia have both reported to infect through ILFs[15,16]. ILFs are microbiota-induced structures whereas CPs develop in germ-free mice. An emerging concept suggests that CP are precursors for ILF[17]. In line with this, the colonization of germ-free mice induces profound changes within the solitary intestinal lymphoid tissues (SILT)[18], increasing the number of ILFs with reduced numbers of CP[18]. Suggestively, this modulation involves the recognition of peptidoglycan, by the innate receptor NOD1 in epithelial cells with upregulation of ccl20 and subsequent activation of CCR6, critical for ILF formation[19].

The lymphatic system

The lymphatic circulation is a system consisting of lymphatic vessels that drain peripheral tissues of excessive interstitial fluid, which is later returned to the blood. Thus, lymphatics function as a reservoir to adjust the blood volume. The lymph draining a tissue will contain soluble antigens. DCs with captured antigens also use the lymphatic drainage to migrate to the nearest LN. Several afferent lymphatic vessels join in one LN, which is drained by a single efferent lymph vessel. This progressive assembly leads to larger and larger vessels, ultimately leading to a point where the fluid returns to the blood circulation. The thoracic duct (TD), or left lymphatic duct, is the largest lymphatic vessel collecting most of the body's drained lymph, including intestine-derived lymph. TD empties back to the blood in the left internal jugular vein[20]. Several mesenteric lymphatic vessels drain the small intestine as it descends and transitions into colon. The mesenteric lymph vessels drain to the MLN, which consist of several LNs adjacent to one another (like pearls in a necklace)[6]. DCs role as the primary inducer of naïve T cells endows them to migrate from intestinal LP and PP in lymph to draining MLN[21,22], to exert their function as APC after which they die by apoptosis. The LNs are continuously flushed with lymph from the periphery that continues its flow through the LNs, however virtually no DCs continue in the efferent lymphatics.

Mesenteric lymph nodes

MLNs presumably together with PP are the SLOs most important for gut immunity. The MLN drain different parts of the intestine and are connected to each other in a chain[6]. Afferent lymphatics drain the intestinal tissues into the MLN subcapsular sinus. DCs entering the LN from the intestine enter via the subcapsular sinus and translocate into the cortex. Internal to the cortex is the medulla. Several afferent lymphatics are scattered throughout the fibrous capsule

covering the LN, but only one efferent lymphatic vessel leaves each LN, from the hilum. Lymph nodes are provided with blood from an artery entering through the hilum. The artery branches in the outer cortex, converges to one vein and leaves the LN through the hilum. T cells (and B cells) arrive into the LN from the blood, via specialized vessels called high endothelial venules (HEV) and migrate to the cortex. Resident DCs in MLN originate from the blood and hence also arrives to the LNs via HEV. Migration to the cortex is mediated by secretion of the chemokines, CCL19 and CCL21, expressed by cortical stromal cells [23]. In peripheral tissues, DC express CCR6, the receptor for CCL20, but on migration to the draining lymph node, they downregulate CCR6, and upregulate CCR7 [24,25], allowing them to respond to CCL19 and CCL21. Following chemotactic gradients, both DCs and T cells migrate to the interfollicular areas of the paracortex of the MLN to interact with each other. The interaction results in activated T cells with diverse functions in SLOs and peripheral tissues.

Dendritic cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) were first described in 1973 by Ralph M. Steinman and Zanvil A. Cohn [26]. Notably, in 2011 Steinman received (post mortem) the Nobel Prize in medicine "for his discovery of the DC and its role in adaptive immunity". Indeed, DCs are now recognized as the most important APCs with an exceptional ability to migrate in afferent lymphatics and to prime naïve T cells in SLOs [27,28]. Heterogeneity within the DC population is classified by surface expression of distinct proteins, but all DC share a common ancestor. Transcription factors and other proteins can modulate the development and function of specific DC subsets. Mice harbouring defect in these proteins may function as useful model systems to study the role of specific DC subsets[29].

Classification of DCs

DCs are heterogeneous and the classification of DCs is often ambiguous. However, in mice, all DCs express the integrin CD11c and MHC class II (MHC-II), although to a variable extent[30]. The most obvious distinction can be made between the majority of DCs being conventional, also called classical DCs (cDCs), and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs)[31]. pDCs are also called natural interferon producing cells for their great ability to secrete type I interferons, which makes them specialized for immune response towards viral antigens[32]. pDCs express lower levels of CD11c and MHC-II than cDCs and additionally they express intermediate levels of B220 (CD45R), a commonly used B cell marker. To further classify the heterogeneic population of cDCs, division into migratory or tissue-resident cDCs is used[33-35]. However, the ability of associating this feature with phenotype by surface expression is limited. Subclassification of cDCs is instead usually made on the basis of surface expression of different proteins, most commonly CD8 α and CD11b, but also additional markers such as SIRP- α , CD103 (integrin α -E) and CD207 (Langerin), differentially expressed depending of the tissue site of the DCs[30,33,35]. DC subsets will be further discussed in later sections in relation to their localization.

DC ontogeny

As previously mentioned, all DCs originate from the bone marrow (BM) and arise during hematopoiesis. During this process a progenitor cell differentiates with gradual maturation and specification towards a certain cell type and concurrent reciprocal loss of ability to become other cell types (In Figure I1 the steps of DC ontogeny is outlined). The ultimate progenitor of immune cells is a hematopoietic stem cell[36-38], which gives rise to the common myeloid progenitor (CMP) and the common lymphoid progenitor (CLP)[30,39]. These two separate progenitors account for all subsequent immune cells. B and T cells, among others, evolve from the CLP, whereas the CMP gives rise to a macrophage/DC progenitor (MDP). The next stage of maturation in the MDP-linage results in a loss of ability to generate cells of monocyte phenotype and thus exclusively generate DCs, therefore called the common DC progenitor. Both cDCs and pDCs arise from this progenitor, and seed the blood (Figure I1 [40]).

The generation of DC from the BM is stimulated by hematopoietic growth factors. BMcultures supplemented with granulocyte-monocyte-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) generate DCs[41]. GM-CSF is also involved in the generation of inflammatory monocyte derived DCs and tissue DCs in the intestine and skin[35,42,43]. Upon inflammation, enhanced production of GM-CSF, which is secreted by various cell types, including stromal cells, endothelial cells, activated T cells and macrophages, may contribute to DC generation[44]. However, the role of GM-CSF in DC generation during homeostasis seems minor as mice deficient for GM-CSF or its receptor have normal or only marginally decreased levels of DCs during steady homeostasis[45]. In contrast, both pDC and cDC generation during steady state have shown to be dependent on the hematopoietic growth factor, Fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (FLT3L)[37,38], with significantly reduced numbers of pDC and cDCs in FLT3^{-/-} mice[46]. A combined lack of GM-CSF and Flt3L reduces the number of DC progenitors and skin DC further[47]. In contrast, mice with a combined lack of GM-CSFR and FLT3 do not have additional reduction in comparison with FLT3^{-/-} mice[48].



Figure I1. The development of DCs originates from a hematopoetic stem cell (HSC). CLP:common lymphoid progenitor; CMP:common myeloid progenitor; MDP:Macrophage/DC progenitor; CDP: common DC progenitor; M ϕ : Macrophage

Additionally, the ability of progenitors to develop DCs, regardless of lineage, was linked to expression of FLT3[49]. Moreover, addition of FLT3L, both *in vitro*[50,51] and *in vivo*[52]

results in vastly increased numbers of both pDCs and cDCs. In contrast, BM cultures supplemented with GM-CSF promote generation of $CD11b^+$ DCs, but inhibit the generation of pDC[53]. The signaling pathway for FLT3L involves the TF (transcription factor) signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), which is essential for the efficient generation of pDCs (and cDC) from FLT3L BM cultures[54].

In order to study the role of DCs and other immune cells of hematopoetic origin, in relation to non-hematopoietic cells, such as stromal or parenchymal cells, e.g. epithelial cells, bone marrow chimeras (BMCh) are used as a tool. BMCh are generated by lethal irradiation of the host's own bone marrow and replacement with new BM substituting the whole hematopoietic compartment, for more than 6 months[55]. However stromal cells and other low-dividing cells survive irradiation.

DC subsets

In the following section, the subsets of DCs most relevant for the thesis will be described. Although pDC clearly represent a DC subset, the focus on this subset has been minor during this thesis and pDCs are therefore very briefly discussed. Although, many DC subsets share expression of membrane markers and may share some functions, for example, being migratory or tissue-resident, most probably they have distinct functions[34] and therefore should be differentiated when possible. However, based solely on surface expression the most commonly used distinction between cDC subsets in lymphoid tissues is made on the expression of CD8 α and CD11b, originally also including CD4. Based on this, three cDC subsets are present in the spleen; CD8 α^+ CD11b⁺, CD8 α^- CD11b⁺CD4⁺ and CD8 α^- CD11b⁺CD4⁺, in addition to pDCs[27,56,57](Figure I2). In MLN and PP, an additional, triple negative population exists[58,59] along with the CD8 α^+ CD11b⁻ and CD8 α^- CD11b⁺CD4⁺ cDC



several subsets divided on the basis of tissue specific markers in addition to CD8 α and CD11b e.g. Langerin[60] and CD103, preferentially in the skin and in the intestine[61], respectively. Langerin, a transmembrane lectin, was originally identified as a marker for a DC subset, in mouse and human epidermis, called Langerhans cells(LCs)[60]. Newer mouse model systems have, however, demonstrated Langerin⁺ cells distinct from LCs, in dermis and skin-draining LNs[62-64]. LCs are, in contrast to other DC subsets, radioresistant, due to self renewal from a local precursor, independent of blood and BM [65]. Although the mechanisms behind the generation of LC during steady state are incompletely known, Gr1⁺ monocytes have been shown to migrate to inflamed skin and proliferate locally and differentiate into LCs[66]. LCs do migrate to skin-draining LNs but at arrive much later than dermal Langerin⁺ DCs, thus their role for induction of immunity in skin-draining LNs is doubtful[67]. In contrast to most DCs, LC evolve independently of FLT3 and FLT3L[68].

Transcription factors important for selective DC subsets

The generation of DCs has been shown to be dependent on different TF, some with differential importance for different DC subsets[69]. TFs of the interferon regulatory factor (IRF) family have shown to be predominantly expressed in immune cells and many of the known IRFs have a profound effect on immune regulation. IRF2 deficiency leads to decreased numbers of $CD11b^+$ cDCs and, to a certain degree, Langerhans cells[70]. Mice deficient in IRF4 have reduced splenic CD11b⁺ cDCs and pDC[71]. In contrast, CD8 α^+ cDCs, and pDCs as well as Langerhans cells are reduced in mice lacking IRF8 [72]. Other TF affecting CD11b⁻DC development include RelB [73] and TRAF6 (TNF receptor-associated factor 6) [74] involved in nuclear factor kappa beta signaling pathway. The TF Id2 is of special importance for CD8 α^+ DCs. A more general developmental defect among all cDCs and pDCs is seen in mice deficient for PU.1 [75] and Ikaros [76].

To elucidate the function of different DC subsets, models in which selective subset defects have been shown, would be of great interest. Mice deficient in selective IRFs could be used. However, in IRF8^{-/-} mice lacking CD8 α^+ DCs but with normal numbers of CD4⁺ DCs, these "remaining" DCs do not upregulate MHC-II or co-stimulatory molecules [72]. In addition, migration of DCs to T cell areas of SLOs does not occur, showing a broader functionality of IRFs and making conclusions regarding DC function in IRF8^{-/-} mice difficult.

BATF3

Another TF separate from IRFs, with a more restricted expression profile and with profound effects on the generation of DC subset is the basic leucine zipper transcription factor, AFTlike 3 (BATF3). BATF3 is an activator protein 1 TF[77] that is expressed at high levels selectively in DCs, with low or no expression in other immune and non-immune cells[78]. In particular, $CD8\alpha^+$ DCs have a high expression of *Batf3* and show a specific dependency on this TF for their generation (Batf3^{-/-} mice)[78]. CD8 α^+ DCs are the main cross-presenting APC, i.e have the ability to present antigens from another cell on its own MHC-I. Thus, as Batf^{3-/-} mice specifically lack this subset of DCs, they show an impaired ability to activate CD8⁺ T cells and to induce a cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) response and thereby combat viral infections, such as West Nile virus, as demonstrated by Hildner et al[78]. In addition to $CD8\alpha^+$ DCs. $CD103^+$ DCs in peripheral lymphoid and non-lymphoid tissues, eg. MLN, LP. lung and dermis, are dependent on BATF3 for their generation[79]. However, B and T cells are apparently unaffected, with T cells fully capable of expressing the gut-homing molecules $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and CCR9[79]. The requirement for *batf3* during CD8 α^+ DCs development varies in mice bred on different backgrounds, demonstrating a non-universal effect[80,81]. Notably, the depletion CD8 α^+ DCs is not irreversible in Batf3^{-/-} mice and can be regenerated upon microbial stimulus or IL-12 administration[81]. $CD8\alpha^+$ DCs are important for the generation of IL-12 and for control of infectious agents such as Toxoplasma gondii[82] and Mycobacterium tuberculosis[81]. Consequently, the level of IL-12 is low during the first three weeks after infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis, but increases to approximately half that seen in WT mice, with a concomitant regeneration of $CD8\alpha^+$ DCs by the end of the experiment. Injections of IL-12 also increase the frequency of $CD8\alpha^+$ DCs and these DCs generated in Batf3^{-/-} mice are as efficient as WT CD8 α^+ DCs in initiating responses in antigenspecific CD8⁺ T cells on a cell to cell basis. Thus, a positive feedback loop seems to exist between IL-12 and CD8 α^+ DCs. This "de novo-generation" in Batf3^{-/-} mice was elegantly shown to be dependent on the TF IRF8 via a leucin Zipper DNA domain shared among Batf3 and *Batf* [82].

CD47 and CD172a

Proteins other than TFs have been shown to have an effect on development or function of cDC subsets. The glycoprotein CD47 is such an example. CD47 (also called integrin-associated protein[83]) is a ubiquitously expressed glycoprotein belonging to the Ig superfamily[84]. It associates with several integrins, collagen receptor, fibrinogen receptor and thrombospondins[85]. Additionally, CD47 is the major receptor for signal-regulatory protein alpha (SIRP- α /CD172a)[86]. Whereas the interactions between CD47 and integrins appear to be predominantly in cis, resulting in a plasma membrane complex, the interaction with CD172a can function both with integrins and independently of integrins, in *trans*[87,88]. Ligation of CD172a and subsequent signaling induces phosphorylation of immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs (ITIMs) on its cytoplasmatic tail leading to the recruitment and activation of Src homology domain 2 containing phosphatases -1 and -2, (SHP-1, and SHP-2, respectively). The outcome of CD172a ligation results in both positive and negative regulation of diverse functions such as phagocytosis, cell migration, and cellular response to growth factors[85,86,88]. A certain interaction between CD172a and CD47 is of major immunological importance as CD47 on any cell binds to CD172a on macrophages delivering a negative signal for phagocytosis, thus functioning as a marker of self[89]. CD47 has also been implicated to be involved in cytokine induction. However, both immune stimulatory and dampening modulations have been reported[90,91].

CD47 deficiency results in reduced numbers of cDCs in the marginal zone of the spleen, corresponding to CD172a-expressing CD8 α ⁻CD11b⁺ DCs[92]. CD47 has also been shown to be important for migration to skin draining LNs, despite normal numbers of tissue DCs in CD47^{-/-} mice and normal CCR7 expression[92,93]. The *in vivo* competitive migration assay, with CD47^{-/-} and CD47^{+/+} BM-DCs revealed impaired migration of CD47^{-/-} BM-DCs to draining LN, suggesting an intrinsic defect in the DC. Additionally, BMCh constructed from irradiated CD47^{-/-} hosts grafted with CD47^{+/+} DC behaved as normal mice in regards to generation of T cell proliferation[93]. Due to the role of CD47 as a marker of self, the opposite BMCh cannot be generated as CD47^{-/-} cells are readily phagocytosed by the host.

Whether CD47 also affects DC subsets in the gut and whether this affects intestinal immune responses had not been carefully addressed when the second study of this thesis was initiated. The only study available was with regard to trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (TNBS)-induced colitis. In this study, Fortin et al showed that TNBS induced colitis is associated with increased migration of CD103⁻SIRPa⁺(CD11b⁺) DC from the intestine to the MLN. Furthermore, CD47 deficient mice, harbouring a lower frequency of this DC subset and concomitant reduced migration to the MLN, are protected from TNBS-induced colitis[94]. In addition, CD172a, one of the receptors for CD47, has also been reported to modulate DC function and specifically their migration from the skin[95]. CD172a is differentially expressed, with highest expression seen in spleen, but other lymphoid and non-lymphoid organs such as LNs, brain and ovaries also express CD172a[96]. Cellular expression is highest in cDCs and pDC in spleen, but also NK cells and mature macrophages preferentially express CD172a[96]. Further, within the cDC population, highest expression is seen in CD4⁺ DCs and to a lesser extent double negative (DN) DCs[96]. In mice lacking the cytoplasmic region of CD172a, a decreased proportion of total cDCs, and more specifically CD4⁺ DC (and not $CD8\alpha^+$) is observed[97]. This is most likely not due to a generational defect from BM, as in vitro culture of CD172a mutant mice with FLT3L (and GM-CSF) results in normal numbers of cDCs. Rather, an intrinsic defect resulting in shortened half-life specifically in CD172a mutant CD4⁺ DCs has been detected and suggested as an explanation for the DC subsetspecific deficiency [97].

Intestinal DC subsets

Small intestinal lamina propria

The generally accepted view of DC function in the intestine is that DCs capture antigens and migrate to draining LN to exert their role as APC. In addition to the major $CD11b^+ CD8\alpha^-$ and CD11b⁻CD8 α^+ DC subsets present in the lamina propria, expression of the integrin CD103 can be used to further divide the cells (Figure I3). Furthermore, cells situated in the gut epithelium with protrusions into the gut lumen have been identified as CD11c⁺CX3CR1⁺[98-100]. With the use of the CX3CR1^{gfp/+} reporter mouse, the CX3CR1^{hi} cells have been clearly distinguished from the CD103⁺ population[101,102]. CX3CR1^{hi} have an inability to migrate in lymph, both during steady state[102] and upon administration of the TLR7/8-ligand, R848 (Resiguimod)[101]. This is consistent with a inability to up-regulate CCR7[98,101]. This is in contrast to a study by Diehl et al[103] that suggests that CX3CR1⁺ cells migrate in afferent lymph, particularly upon infection of antibiotic treated (microbiota-deprived) mice, with noninvasive Salmonella. Unfortunately, the authors did not clearly distinguish CX3CR1^{int} cells from CX3CR1^{hi} cells, two highly diverse populations, with the former previously detected, although rarely, in lymph during steady-state[101]. Notably, the suggested migratory ability of CX3CR1⁺ (Diehl et al., 2013) is in contrast not only to data obtained using the same method[101], but also pseudo-afferent lymph[102]. Furthermore, the differential origins of CX3CR1^{hi} and CD103⁺ cells have been clearly demonstrated in several reports[42,98,101,104], implying a common origin of CX3CR1^{hi} to macrophages. Mice lacking the receptor for monocyte colony stimulating factor, have a reduced population of CX3CR1, but not CD103[42]. Although not depicted in the original paper[98], in subsequent papers the expression of F4/80, a common marker for macrophages, is elevated in cells expressing high levels of CX3CR1[101,102]. Fluorescence-labelled OVA was readily taken up by CX3CR1⁺ cells, in fact more efficiently than by CD103⁺. However, only CD103⁺ induced the proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells[101].

CX3CR1⁺CD11c⁺ cells identified in spleen and lymph nodes express CD8 but do not produce IL-12, are poor at cross-presenting and hence therefore distinct from classical CD8 α^+ DCs. Additionally, CX3CR1⁺ DCs do not secrete type 1 interferons in response to virus and thus are distinct from pDCs [98]. DCs, originating from the gut also transmit information to responding T cells the tissue location of antigen. This gut homing feature can be measured by the ability to up-regulate CCR9 in responding T cells and correspondingly aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) activity, is lower in CX3CR1⁺ cells than CD103⁺ DCs[101]. Reports of the proportion of CD11c-expressing cells in the small intestine of either cell type are contradictory making definition of the major cell population difficult [98,101,105].

Small intestinal lymph

In my PhD work I set up a system to specifically study DCs migrating from the murine intestine towards the MLN (by thoracic duct cannulation (TDC); described more in detail in key methodologies). The TD is, as mentioned, an efferent vessel and as such contains virtually no DCs. Removal of the MLN and subsequent cannulation of the thoracic duct thereby provides pseudo-afferent intestinal lymph, containing intestinal lymph DC (IL-DCs).

In rodents, cDCs but not pDCs migrate in intestinal lymph of mesenteric lymphadenectomized rats (MLNX)[106]. In larger animals, such as sheep and mini-pigs, pDCs or pDC-like cells have been retrieved from afferent skin lymph[107]. Although pDCs do not migrate in murine intestinal lymph[106], they have been shown to be of particular importance in activation and release of cDCs from the intestine via their production of cytokines in response to TLR7/8 stimuli[108]. Recently, further characterization of DC subsets have been made in murine intestinal lymph [102] revealing four subsets of cDCs with regard to CD103 and CD11b

expression, I) $CD103^+CD11b^+$, II) $CD103^+CD11b^-(CD8\alpha^+)$, III) $CD103^-CD11b^+$ and IV) CD103⁻CD11b⁻ (Figure I3). While populations I and II were expected to be found, as CD103 was used as a marker for intestinal migratory DCs, this was the first report showing migration of DCs not expressing CD103 from the gut. The CD103⁻ DCs constitute approximately 15% of all intestinal lymph DCs (IL-DCs). As with CD103⁺ IL-DC, CD103⁻ express MHC-II and co-stimulatory molecules CD80, CD86 and CD40, but not the macrophage marker F4/80. $CD103^{+}CD8\alpha^{+}$ DCs are the most prominent cell type to present antigen to $CD8^{+}$ T cells. Nonetheless, at higher DC:T cells ratios CD103⁻ DCs have a similar capacity. With regard to priming of CD4 cells, OVA transgenic CD4⁺ T cells (OT-II) cultured with OVA-pulsed CD103⁻ DCs proliferated to a higher extent than OT-II cells cultured with either CD11b⁺ or $CD8\alpha^+$ CD103⁺ cDCs. Previous *in vitro* studies have, despite a similar induction of proliferation within responding T cells of different DC subsets, shown that the ability to induce the gut homing molecule CCR9 is restricted to CD103⁺ DCs in MLN[105,109]. However, CD103⁻ IL-DCs showed a similar ability to induce gut homing as both CD103⁺ subsets, concomitant with the fact that they also have ALDH activity[102]. Taken together, this demonstrates that the CD103⁻ cells present in murine intestinal lymph are, in fact, bona fide DCs. Importantly, only the CD103⁻ IL-DCs induced IFN-y and IL-17 secretion by OT-II cells, after co-culture with the four IL-DC subsets collected under steady state[102]. Similar findings were reported when CD103⁻ and CD103⁺ MLN DCs were separated[110]. However, in these experiments the CD103⁻ DCs were not only gut derived, but would also include blood-derived DCs in this population of DCs from the MLN.

Mesenteric lymph node

MLN is supplemented with both blood and intestinal lymph, resulting in blood-derived resident and gut-derived migratory DCs. Despite many efforts, there is as yet no single marker to distinguish between blood-derived and intestinal derived DCs within MLN. CCR7 is important for migration of intestinal DCs to MLN[111,112] and IL-DCs express high levels of CCR7 mRNA[102]. CCR7^{-/-} have reduced numbers of DCs in MLN [105],[113] and p.o. immunization with OVA in CCR7 deficient mice does not induce proliferation of responding T cells, neither CD8⁺ nor CD4⁺ [105]. Staining with CCR7 does unfortunately not result in a reliable differentiation of DC subsets by flow cytometry. However, with the knowledge obtained from the cannulation experiments described above, the same division into four DC subsets as for IL-DCs can be applied to the MLN when DCs expressing high levels of MHC-II are analyzed (Figure I3 and D1). Additionally, DCs that have migrated from PP may contribute to the DC populations in the MLN[6,21,22].

The ability of inducing the gut homing molecules CCR9 and $\alpha 4\beta7$ on CD8⁺ T cells has previously been shown to be exclusive for the CD103⁺ DCs within LP and MLN during steady state[105]. Of note, LP DCs but not MLN DCs, are the most prominent gut-homing inducers regarding CCR9 and $\alpha 4\beta7$ induction. PP also have this ability, but splenic DCs do not[105]. It has been shown that the property of induction of gut homing is not associated only with expression of CD103, as splenic CD103⁺ DCs do not induce CCR9 expression. Later *in vitro* experiments confirm that CD103^{-/-} DCs are able to induce CCR9 expression in responding T cells[109], endorsing the finding by Cerovic et al regarding lymph CD103⁻ DCs [102]. Interestingly, elegant studies with LN transplantations demonstrated the importance of stromal cells within MLN for the induction of gut homing properties of T cells[114]. Peripheral, i.e. axillary, inguinal and brachial LNs transplanted into MLNX mice could not confer guthoming properties to T cells[114].

The gut homing ability is linked to ALDH activity. Additionally, CCR9 expression is induced only after p.o. immunization[105]. CCR9 is not, however, required for the actual activation of effector T cells entering the intestine, as CCR9-deficient mice induce proliferation of CD8⁺ OVA transgenic cells, equivalent to the level of which WT mice induce proliferation. However, the ability to home back to the intestine fails in these mice[105].

Peyer's patches

Three different subtypes of cDCs have been reported within the PP: $CD11b^+CD8\alpha^-$, $CD8\alpha^{+}CD11b^{-}$ and $CD11b^{-}CD8\alpha^{-}[27,30,58]$ (Figure I3). $CD11b^{+}$ cDCs preferentially localize within the SED; CD8 α^+ cDCs in IFR; the double negative are found throughout both the SED and IFR[58]. Upon microbial stimulation, the SED becomes devoid of CD11b⁺ cDCs, most likely due to an efficient migration into IFR[58]. These different cDC subsets do not just show preferential localization, but also differential cytokine production. CD11b⁺ cDC is the only IL-10-producing cDC in PP. Additionally, the cytokine production from the responding T cells is different accordingly to the different priming cDC subset. T cells primed by CD11b expressing DCs preferentially produce IL-4 and IL-10, while IFN-y was produced by T cells co-cultured with $CD8\alpha^+$ DCs and $CD11b^-CD8\alpha^-$ cDCs[59]. Also, $CD11b^+$ DCs within the SED express CCR6 and thus show a more immature phenotype[58]. A later study using oral administration of labelled OVA, showed that DCs within the SED migrated with internalized OVA to T cell areas to initiate DC-T cell interactions[115]. Suggestively, immature DCs within the SED capture antigen with or without microbial stimuli[58,115]. Without microbial stimuli, the responding T cells show an immature phenotype; i.e. they do not express CCR7, but express CCR4, CxCr3, CCR9. Interestingly, relatively high mRNA levels of FoxP3 were also expressed by these T cells suggesting a potential induction of regulatory T cells[115].

The specific role of PP in gut immunity is still controversial. Mice lacking PP due to *in utero* treatment with lymphotoxin receptor antibodies, are still able to generate IgA response[116].



However, several *in vitro* co-culture studies have shown the vital role of PP-DCs to generate IgA[117,118]. In addition, Germ-free mice with underdeveloped PP show an increase in IgA and IgG-titers following maturation of PP upon antigenic stimuli[119]. Previous studies have also indicated that PP is the main site for the generation of IgA-producing precursor cells[58].



Antigen processing and presentation by DCs

DCs express a variety of receptors to capture antigens, and differential endosomal processing within the DC ensures accurate presentation to T cells. Antigens taken up by the DCs are processed within exosomal or endosomal compartments followed by presentation on differential MHC-complexes. Exogenous particles taken up into the cell are degraded and loaded onto MHC-II in cytosolic compartments called lysosomes. MHC-II molecules arrive to the lysosome from the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) with invariant chain bound the antigen cleft, also holding the MHC complex together and guides the MHC-II towards the lysosome[120,121]. In late endosomal compartments invariant chain is degraded to CLIP, which in the lysosomes is exchanged for peptides with higher affinity. Peptide-loaded MHC-II translocate to the surface and are recognized by CD4⁺ T cells[122]. CD4⁺ T cell help B cells to become antibody-producing plasma cells and are therefore most important for immunity against extracellular pathogens.

All cells should signal to declare their health status, as peptides from endosomal antigens are associated with MHC-I expressed on all nucleated cells. Cytosolic proteasomes degrade ubiquitin marked misfolded proteins, alternative transcripts, as well as functional proteins; cytosolic or derived from endosomal compartments [123-125]. Further digestion by cytosolic peptidases yield peptides for transport to the ER performed by TAP[120,124-126]. The degraded antigen is loaded onto newly synthesized MHC-I molecules in the ER and transported to the surface[124-126]. A TAP independent pathway is suggested where endocytosed antigens are loaded onto recycled MHC-I molecules [120]. At the surface, MHC-I/peptide complexes are selectively bound by CD8⁺ T cells. These CD8⁺ T cells are needed for effective eradication of intracellular pathogens by cytotoxic mechanisms. In order for the CD8⁺ T cell to become "mature" and respond to antigen bund to MHC-I in the periphery, it needs to be primed by APCs. APCs thus need to be able to "cross-present" antigens produced by other cells on its own MHC-I. DCs and in particular $CD8\alpha^+$ DCs have *in vitro* and *in vivo* proved to be the major cross-presenting cell[127,128]. In contrast, when targeted with antigen *in vivo* CD11b⁺ DCs preferentially stimulate proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells, whereas antigentargeted $CD8\alpha^+$ DCs have the ability to present not just on MHC-II but also MHC-I and thus activate CD8⁺ T cell [127].

Uptake of Ag by intestinal APCs

DCs sample their environment by two broad mechanisms: phagocytosis and pinocytosis. Pinocytosis, an important feature in DC biology, can be further divided into macro-pinocytosis and receptor-mediated endocytosis[129]. Mature DCs leave the intestine with captured antigen and, if receiving microbial stimuli, become activated with a subsequent increase in the levels of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules during the course of migration. Intestinal antigens are readily taken up by M cells of PPs for transport to DCs in the SED. Alternatively luminal antigens are taken up by absorptive epithelial cells and then endocytosed by the DCs present within the LP. Pathogens, like Salmonella and Shigella reaching the intestinal lumen predominately gain access to the host via M cells in FAE of the PP[130]. Additionally, lamina propria CD11c⁺ cells have been shown to extend intraepithelial dendrites into the gut lumen[99] and it is suggested that they thereby sample luminal antigens[131]. These interepithelial dendrites have been shown by intra vital microscopy to be generated by CX3CR1⁺ CD11c expressing cells[100]. The contribution of this route to total uptake of luminal antigen into DC is unclear, as non-invasive pathogens still gain access to gut mucosa in CX3CR1 deficient mice that lack luminal dendrites[132]. In addition, the designation of CX3CR1⁺ cells as DCs, has more recently been questioned, as they in fact more resemble macrophages than DCs, as mentioned previously. Moreover, in vivo imaging has recently

visualised the transfer of intestinal antigen absorbed by goblet cells to underlying CD103⁺ LP-DCs [133].

Pathogen recognition receptors

As mentioned previously, the innate immune system is characterized by response against commonly shared features among classes of pathogens. Different pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), are recognized by different classes of PRRs. These shared features comprise bacterial or viral nuclei acids, e.g. double stranded RNA, components of the bacterial cell wall e.g. peptidoglycan or lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and are recognized by different PRRs. Various types of PRRs are expressed by a phagocytic cell, such as the DC, including Scavenger receptors, mannose receptors, and most relevant for the work in my thesis; Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and NOD-like receptors (NLRs).

Toll-like receptors

TLRs are the best-characterized PRRs. TLRs are a family of membrane receptors with differential expression between the surface membrane and endocytic membranes. Differential expression of TLRs is also seen between pDC and cDCs as well as between different cDC subsets. Intracellular TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9, identify viral double stranded RNA, viral single stranded DNA and viral and bacterial unmethylated CpG in DNA, respectively. TLR7 and TLR9 are mainly expressed by pDCs, explaining their central role in anti-viral In cDCs, the expression of TLRs is responses[134]. concentrated on the surface membrane: TLRs such as TLR2, specific for, e.g., bacterial peptidoglycan; TLR4, specific for LPS; and TLR 5, sensing flagellin; but also intracellular TLRs like TLR3, TLR9 and TLR13 are expressed[134]. Also within the cDC population, expression of TLR varies, CD8⁺ DCs preferentially express TLR3, but in contrast to CD11b⁺ lack expression of TLR7 [135]. Signaling via TLRs starts by dimerization of two hetero or homo dimers of TLRs. All TLRs employ the adaptor protein MyD88, with the exception of TLR3 and TLR4. TLR4 has both a MyD88-dependent and a MyD88⁻independent pathway, the TRIF pathway which is also employed in TLR3 signaling. The major signaling steps exemplified by TLR4, are outlined in Figure I4a. TLR4 ligation results in the activation of the TFs NF $\kappa\beta$, AP-1 and



Figure I4. LPS ligation to TLR4 induces MyD88- and TRIF signaling pathways.

Irf3, orchestrating a pro-inflammatory response by transcription of a diverse range of genes important for proliferation and differentiation and lead to downstream activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines. IFN- β is produced upon TLR4 ligation, and by a feedback loop, results in TRIF or Myd88 dependent induction of IFN- α , further activating the cell[136].

NOD-like receptors and their involvement in inflammasome signaling

NLRs compromise various intracellular PRRs involved in microbial/viral recognition. NLRrelated protein 3 (NLRP3/ also denoted NALP3) is of particular interest as it has been shown to be involved in the response towards diverse viruses and bacteria, as well as fungi [137]. However, non-pathogenic stimuli such as stress mediated by reactive oxygen species can also lead to activation of this receptor[138]. Upon activation, a signaling protein complex called the inflammasome is assembled. The cardinal feature of the inflammasome is the activation of caspase-1 which catalyses the cleavage of proIL-1 β and proIL-18 to yield the active IL-1 β and -20-



Figure 15. Signaling pathways for NLRP1/NALP1 and NLRP3/NALP3 inflammasome

IL-18 proinflammatory cytokines. Both macrophages and DCs, but also intestinal epithelial cells have expression of all the inflammasome compartments involved in NLRP3 inflammasome signaling. [139]. The inflammasome is not a static complex. Several receptors with different specificities have been reported to induce IL-1ß and IL-18 secretion in a caspase-1 dependent manner, although NLRP3 is the best described. RIG-1 and AIM2 are two receptors involved in viral recognition, while NLRP1 and IPAF both have bacterial specificities[137]. The signaling leading to recruitment, and thereby autocleavage, of caspase 1, involves caspase activator and recruitment domain (CARD) directly on the receptor, or via the adaptor protein apoptosis-associated speck like protein and containing CARD (ASC), which also contains a pyrincontaining domain (PYD) for binding to PYD on the receptor (Figure I4b)[140]. Initial studies of caspase 1^{-/-} ascribed caspase 1 certain functions. However, recently caspase 1 and caspase 11 have shown to be to closely mapped in the genome to be segregated by Kayagaki et al, suggested that meanwhile canonical inflammasome activation of caspase 1 induces programmed cell death, in addition to IL-1B and IL-18 activation, a non-canonical signaling pathway exist with caspase 1 as activator of IL-1 β and IL-18 but caspase 11 as responsible for the programmed cell death. Interestingly,

Kayagaki et al found CTB as activator of the non-canonical signaling pathway in LPS-primed macrophages[141].

A study in mice generated by gene targeting to lack the TLR-adaptor protein Myd88, revealed that Myd88 is an important adaptor in the signaling of IL-1R and IL-18R pathways[142]. Effector functions of IL-1 β , including induction of acute phase proteins and IL-1 β -specific cytokine were impaired in Myd88^{-/-} mice. These mice were also unresponsive to IL-18-stimulation leading to impaired IFN- γ production by natural killer cells[143].

T cell responses – CTLs and T helper cells

The differentiation of T cells after priming results in effector CD8⁺ T cells ready to respond to cognate antigen when in the periphery and effector CD4⁺ T cells, of several possible T helper cell subclasses, with diverse function and cytokine production profiles. Generation of mature effector CD4⁺ T cells is dependent on three signals for full activation. The first signal is through the T cell receptor/CD4 and MHC-II/antigen complex. The second signal is through CD28 ligated by a co-stimulatory molecule, CD86 (or CD80), on the DC. The third is mediated by secreted cytokines. Without the co-stimulatory signal via CD28⁻ CD80/CD86[144], DC-T cell interaction lead to T cell anergy, a state of unresponsiveness and inability to proliferate[145]. The differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells is essential for the generation of high affinity antibodies with increased specificity, but also for proliferation of CD8⁺ CTLs upon re-encounter with an antigen[146].

In addition to DCs maturation in response to microbial/viral stimuli via PRRs, as mentioned above, secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α or interleukin IL-1 β [147,148] and ligation of CD40[149], also results in activation of the DC[150]. Also non-pathogenic/non-inflammatory actions - for example, during mechanical and enzymatic

purification - can lead to activation of the DC[150]. However, the state of activation is different. DCs activated by non-pathogenic stimuli do not result in efficient upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules[151] and T cells responding to these DCs do not differentiate to effector T cells[152]. DCs activated in the presence of "danger signals" can either become directly activated, that is through ligation to PRRs or indirectly activated by inflammatory signals such as interferons. DCs activated in either situation generate proliferating T cells, but not all become functionally active. Direct activated DCs generates IFN γ -producing T cells, whereas indirect activated DCs do not[153].

Subsequent interaction of activated DCs with CD4⁺ T cells results in a reciprocal upregulation of diverse surface proteins leading to cytokine production and effector function of the T cell. Naïve CD4⁺ T cells (T helper 0) differentiate into different subsets of T helper cells, with distinct specificities characterized by differential cytokine profile[154]. Th1 and Th2 subsets were the first to be identified, but several lineages have recently emerged, including Th17, T follicular helper cell (Tfh) and T regulatory cells [155]. Th1 cells differentiate in response to expression of the TF T-bet and secrete IFN- γ as their signature cytokine. IFN- γ activates STAT1 which induce expression of T-bet, resulting in a positive feedback-loop[156]. Th1 cells are governed by IL-12 secreting macrophages and DCs, and are involved in the immune responses towards virus and intracellular pathogens. Th2 cells are regulated by the TF GATA-3, and IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 are secreted as the signature cytokines for Th2[157]. Th2 response, classically induced by helminth infection results in IgE antibodies and activation of mast cells and basophils [158]. ROR-yT is the TF important for differentiation into Th17 cells[159]. Th17 cells are identified by their production of IL-17, but also secrete IL-22, both important cytokines in protection against bacteria and fungi[160]. Development of Th17 cells is driven by STAT-3, IL-6 and IL-23. TGF- β in combination with IL-6 induces ROR- γ T expression[161]. In contrast, TGF- β in the absence of IL-6 induces Foxp3, the TF crucial for Treg development [162]. The cytokine milieu will also affect the T cell dependent antibody response. IL-4 from Th2 cells results in the generation of IgE and IgG1 while IgG2a is primarily induced by Th1 cell produced IFN-y. In addition, specialized Tfh cells are located in the B cell follicle and the germinal center to assist in B cell maturation into plasma cells secreting high affinity antibodies. DC-primed CD4⁺ T cells destined to become Tfh upregulate CXCR5 and down-regulate CCR7 to enable migration towards B cells at the borders of the B cell follicles[163]. The TF important for Tfh induction is Bcl-6, which serves as a master regulator that also antagonize TF of the other Th cell lineages[164]. Bcl-6 promotes Il-21 secretion, which is crucial for GC formation as mice deficient for IL-21 have deformed GCs.

Primed CD8⁺ T cells later mature into cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) with the ability to kill target cells by the delivery of lytic granules[165]. Co-stimulatory signals through CD40/CD40L are necessary for the accumulation of CD8⁺ T cells in the intestine, as well as for their differentiation into CTLs. In contrast, CD40/CD40L is not required for the actual CTL response[166].

B cell responses - generation of antibodies

Antibodies, are secreted forms of the immunoglobulin of the BCR. Antibodies can be generated independently of T cell help by crosslinking several BCRs, which results in activation of the B cell[167]. Alternatively the generation of antibodies is dependent on CD4⁺ T cell help. It is generally believed that generation of high affinity antibodies and memory B cells are T cell dependent[168-170]. Most naïve B cells reside in the follicles within the SLO awaiting antigenic encounter. Primed B cells migrate toward the B/T cell zone in the follicular

border by up-regulation of CCR7, the receptor for CCL19, and CCL21 expressed in the T cell zone[171,172]. The continued expression of CXCR5 ensures that the B cell is kept within the follicle through the retained responsiveness toward the follicle-expressed CXCL13[173]. The B cell interacts with the cognate T cell through binding of MHC-II/antigen complex to TCR, ensuring antigen-specificity. The MHC-II/antigen complex- TCR interaction leads to reciprocal activation of the cells by increased expression of CD40 and CD40L, on the B and T cell respectively. CD40L/CD40 ligation is of particular importance as mice deficient in either molecule have defective GC-formation[174,175]. GCs are specialized regions within the B cell follicle in which rapid cell division (clonal expansion) takes place in response to infection or vaccination. The primary purpose of the GC reaction is to generate antibody-producing plasma cells and memory B cells with high affinity[176].

Somatic hypermutation (SHM) and class switch recombination (CSR), both involving the enzyme, activation induced cytidine deaminase (AID)[177] are central for the maturation of antibody responses. Point mutations in the light chain initiated by AID yield, in concert with error prone DNA repair, B cells producing antibodies with higher affinity[178]. CSR involves modification within the heavy chain generating different subclasses or isotypes. There are five classes of antibodies, IgM, IgD, IgG, IgA and IgE, each with different functions and tissue localisation. IgM is the native antibody isotype, expressed by naïve B cells; IgG is important for bacterial and viral defence in systemic infections; IgE is the primary antibody against parasites; and IgA is predominantly expressed in mucosal tissues[179].

70% of all antibodies produced in the body is estimated to be IgA [180]. IgA is important both for immunity against pathogens and to retain commensal bacteria in the gut lumen. Binding with high affinity suggests to mediate neutralization of toxins and pathogens, whereas low affinity binding restricts commensal bacteria to the gut lumen[180]. Two mechanisms have been proposed for generating IgA antibodies. The first is a T cell independent mechanism, driven by commensal bacteria and the second mechanism is driven by T-dependent antigens and initiated in organized lymphoid tissue of the GALT. Gut DC have a unique ability to induce IgA switching *in vitro*, mainly through TGF-β and RA, with contributions by effector cytokines e.g. IL-6, IL-4 and IL-5[180,181]. Specifically, CD11b⁺ DC in PP induce IgA production by B cells in vitro, with contribution of IL-6[118]. The contribution of different cytokines have been addressed in vivo by studies in mutant mice specific for selective cytokine, where mice lacking IL-6[182] or IL-5[183] have lead to their suggested contribution to IgA-responses[180]. Two additional factors that initiate IgA CSR are; a proliferation inducing ligand (APRIL) and; B cell activation factor of the tumour necrosis factor family (BAFF)[184,185]. These factors, derived from DCs and epithelial cells may act directly on B cells, independently of T cells. Thus, these factors may promote IgA responses in the absence of organized lymphoid tissues, e.g. in intestinal lamina propria. This serves as the proposed mechanism by which commensal bacteria induce IgA responses. In contrast, CT is highly dependent on CD4⁺ T cells to generate IgA responses[186]. By using ligated intestinal loops challenged with CT, Husband and Gowans[187], demonstrated PP as inductive sites for IgA responses against CT. Intestinal loops that contain PP induced IgA responses while loops devoid of PP did not[187]. PP were described already 40 years ago as the main inductive site for IgA responses and the predominant site for IgA precursor cells[188]. The precursor cells migrate via TD and home to lamina propria[189].

Vaccines and adjuvants

Vaccination is based on nature's own way to elicit an immune response to deal with infectious agents. Ultimately, the aim of an immune response is not the mere extermination of the invading pathogen, but also, in case of a secondary infection, to respond with an even faster and more precise immune reaction. The cardinal function of such memory responses is to generate antibodies with high affinity (by SHM) and effector specificity (by CSR) i.e. induction of IgA upon mucosal antigenic stimuli, from memory B cells - with the help of memory T helper cells.

The first vaccination is commonly attributed to Dr. Edward Jenner in the classical experiment in 1796. An 8-year old boy was inoculated with lesion material from the severe smallpox, remarkably without catching disease, and due to prior inoculation with matter from a cowpox lesion. Hence, the term vaccine derives from the latin word *vacca* meaning cow, and although this was perhaps not the very first case of vaccination, it became a milestone in immunology[190]. Jenner and colleagues set the basis for what led to eradication of small pox in our time, and to effective control of a number of diseases including polio, diphtheria, tetanus, *Haemophilus influenza* type B, measles, yellow fever, mumps, rubella, typhoid fever and rabies[191]. However, challenging and emerging infections like dengue fever, malaria and HIV raise a demand for better and more effective vaccines.

Overall, vaccines can be divided into 2 different formulations: live attenuated; or killed whole/subunit vaccines. Live attenuated vaccines induce a strong long-term memory response like a natural infection, as all antigens are retained. The down-side is the requirement for a cold-chain and more importantly for the vaccinee, the risk of mutation, reversing the attenuation with regained virulence[192]. A more safe vaccine is based on killed bacteria, virus or their toxins. Killed whole cell/subunit vaccines are weaker and poor inducers of long-term memory and thus need co-administration of adjuvants. Polio and cholera exemplify killed whole vaccines, whereas diphtheria toxin and tetanus toxin are examples of subunit vaccines.

Adjuvants do not elicit immunoreactions by themselves but enhance an immune response towards a co-administered antigen. Importantly in vaccine formulations, adjuvants need to be able to stimulate a long-lived memory response[193]. Benefits from adding adjuvant to a vaccine formulation to enhance immune reactions is that less antigen can be used and that the number and frequency of antigen doses can be reduced. The actions by which adjuvants operate include enhanced antigen processing/presentation, immune activation and by creating a depot for elongated presence of antigen[194,195]. Many of the adjuvants possess known features of PAMPs to activate DCs, or other APCs, via PRRs[196].

TLR agonists

The outer membrane component, LPS of gram-negative bacteria is a TLR4 ligand. LPS activates DC resulting in up-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules, migration to T cell areas within the spleen and increased T cell proliferation[197]. However, LPS is too toxic to be used in humans. Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPLA), is a attenuated version of LPS that induces migration and co-stimulatory molecules similar to LPS, but has a much reduced toxicity[198]. The reduced toxicity is attributed to the mode of action in signaling pathways, biased to recruit the adaptor protein TRIF rather than MyD88[199]. Due to their dependence of MyD88, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IFN- γ and IL-6 only increases after LPS but not MPLA administration. Furthermore, immunization with MPLA and LPS as adjuvants elicited similar immune responses in MyD88 deficient mice[199]. The discrepancy of decreased toxicity in MPLA compared to LPS and ability to produce IL-1 β can further be attributed the impaired

ability of MPLA to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome, activated upon MyD88 signaling[200].

MPLA is used in two vaccines, towards human papilloma virus and hepatitis B, respectively, together with alum[201].

Alum

Alum, widely referred to in the field of medicine, as aluminium salts, is the most commonly used adjuvant in human vaccines. It is included as adjuvant in a range of different vaccines, for example, against diphtheria (*Corynebacterium diphtheriae*), tetanus (*Clostridium tetani*), *Haemophilus influenzae* type B, pneumococcus (*Streptococcus pneumoniae*)[202]. Alum elicits a strong antibody response and is a potent TH2 inducer and thus is highly effective against extracellular bacteria and their toxins[203]. In contrast, due to its attenuated TH1 response, it is a poor adjuvant for intracellular pathogens such as viruses. Alum has been used for over 70 years with an outstanding safety record, but the mode of a function is still puzzling. Alum induces a massive influx of innate immune cells, such as neutrophils, eosinophils, pDC, cDC and inflammatory monocytes[203,204]. The inflammatory monocytes adopt DC phenotype upon stimuli with antigen and alum, and increase the level of CD11c, MHC-II and CD86[203]. Several studies have outlined the role of the NALP3 inflammasome in alum adjuvanticity. Most studies are united in recognising the contribution of NLRP3 for the secretion of IL-1 β . However, with regard to antibody responses, the NLRP3 inflammasome is not essential[205], except in IgE and IgG1 responses[204,206].

Mucosal vaccination

The majority of the human vaccines available today are administered via parenteral routes, intramuscularly or subcutaneously.[207]. These are good inducers of systemic immunity, but usually less efficient for mucosal immunity[208]. Mucosal tissues are often a barrier to systemically produced serum antibodies, especially intestinal mucosa, permeable only during inflammation[207]. However, mucosal sites are ports of entry for a majority of infectious agents, so a local immune response is desirable. Mucosal vaccination yields a more effective vaccination because systemic immunity is also induced in concert with local immune responses[209]. Furthermore, mucosal immunization has the advantages over parenteral immunization of ease of administration and being needle free – with a lesser risk of transmitting infection in addition to improved compliance in, e.g., children.

On the market today, there is only a hand full mucosal vaccines: orally administered vaccines against cholera, polio and against typhoid fever, and one vaccine against rotavirus, administered intranasally[207]. This reflects the caveat with oral in contrast to systemic delivery. Orally administered vaccines have a risk of degradation in the digestive system, in contrast to systemic delivered vaccines. In addition, in order to generate immunity, oral vaccines demands a strong adjuvant included in the vaccine-formulation, in order to override the mechanism of oral tolerance.

Cholera toxin

Cholera toxin (CT) is the powerful toxin released by the Gram-negative bacterium *Vibrio cholerae*, the causative agent of cholera, resulting in massive loss of water by diarrhea. Cholera and the related heat-labile toxin (LT) from *Escherichia coli* are among the most powerful toxins known affecting millions of people annually, thousands with lethal outcome[210]. CT together with e.g. heat-labile toxin from *Escherichia coli* belongs to the family of AB₅ toxins, constructed of one enzymatic active A component (CTA) and a pentameric ring of B components (CTB) with receptor binding properties[211,212]. The A

component consists of a enzymatically active A_1 linked by a disulphide bond to the A_2 subunit, the latter linking the A units to the B subunits[212].

The only known receptor for CT is the ganglioside GM1[213] present on all nucleated cells[214,215]. Upon binding of the CTB to GM1, the holotoxin is endocytosed and transported by retrograde transport from Golgi to the ER[210,213,216,217](Figure I6). In the ER the disulphide bond between the two A subunits is reduced, separating the A1 from the A2 and B subunit. A1 translocates to the cytosol via ER-associated degradation pathway, usually mediating the proteosomal degradation of misfolded proteins[218]. The A1 unit evades degradation by unknown mechanisms but, proposed by natural low lysine content, and instead refolds in the cytoplasm where it acts in ADP-ribosylation of the α subunit of the G protein Gs at the cell membrane. Following ADP-ribosylation, $G_s\alpha$ continuously activate adenylate cyclase, increasing the levels of cyclic-AMP[210,219]. One of the actions of cyclic-AMP is facilitation of the efflux of Cl⁻ with accompanying water into the gut lumen, causing the watery diarrhea that can reach 500up to 1000mL/h[220](Figure I6).



Figure I6. Transmigration of cholera toxin from gut lumen into intracellular compartements

In addition to its toxicity, CT also provides strong adjuvanticity when administered per os[221,222] or other mucosal and systemic routes[223-225]. Cholera toxin is the most potent oral adjuvant in mice. However, due to its toxic effect it is precluded from human use. In trials to separate the toxicity from the adjuvanticity, recombinant versions of CT and LT have been produced. One such, is the CTA1-DD fusion protein which links the enzymatically active CTA1 subunit with a dimer of the D-fragment from *Staphylococcus aureus* protein A[226]. This fusion protein retains the adjuvant effect but is devoid of the toxic effects generated by CT holotoxin[226]. CTA1-DD activates complement, through its DD-domain, enabling interaction with complement receptors on follicular DCs [227]. Immunization with CTA1-DD as adjuvant co-administered with T dependent antigens augments the GC formation and serum antibody production and generation of long-term memory response[227]. Successfully modified versions of LT, have also been made. In particular, the double mutant LT (dmLT) with 2 point mutations leading to inability to release the A1 subunit, results in effective protection without toxic effects and is included in human clinical trails[228,229].

Activation of intestinal DC by CT

CT induces various responses in DCs including migration and activation and its adjuvanticity is believed to work through interactions with DC[203[230,231]. DCs accumulate in MLN 24h after oral administration of CT[232,233]. Preceding this, the number of DCs are increased in the small intestinal lamina propria already with the first to second hour after the administration of CT [232]. The influx of DCs to MLN results in elevated proliferation of T cells[232,233]. The activated T cells secrete IL-4, IL-13 and to a lower extent IFN- γ [232,233]. CT have generally been considered as a Th2 adjuvant but more recent studies have shown a mixed Th1/Th2/Th17 type of response[234].

In contrast to MLN, the number of DC in PP remains stable during 48h after p.o. CT. Although DC numbers in PP may stay the same, intra gastric administered CT induces a rapid migration of DCs into the FAE, in particular[235]. This is transient and within 12-24h the efflux of DC brings the DC levels back to normal. A more sustained response of oral immunisation with CT, is the migration of DC from the SED into the IFR[230]. This migration is seen in both the CD11b⁺ and DN cDC populations within the SED[58,230,236]. Of note, CCR6^{-/-} mice lack the SED populated CD11b⁺ cDCs specifically and generate a lower antibody response exclusively after oral, but not systemic, immunization with CT[236].

Traditionally vaccines have been used based on empirical results, reflected by the abundant use of alum as an adjuvant with action mechanism that are still incompletely understood. However, more recently, increased knowledge of the mechanisms of adjuvanticity have led to the rational design of vaccines[237]. In order to induce successful vaccination, memory cells in both humoral and cellular immunity is needed. DC as the main APC to prime naïve lymphocytes, thus function as the main inducer of these adaptive immune responses necessary to elicit the long-term memory. Hence, efforts in gaining understanding of DCs may contribute to knowledge important in vaccinology
Aim

The overall aim of this thesis work was to elucidate the role of intestinal DC subsets in the induction of immune responses following oral administration of antigen, with or without CT as adjuvant.

The specific aims were:

- To determine the requirement of cDCs for CD4⁺ T cell activation and subsequent antibody production following oral immunization
- To develop a microsurgical technique to characterize cDC migrating in murine intestinal lymph under steady state and following oral immunization
- To assess the role of cDCs subsets in the generation of antigen-specific immune responses following oral immunization with CT
- To elucidate the signaling pathway involved in intestinal DCs activation and induction of antigen-specific antibody responses following oral immunization with CT.

Key methodologies

Mice

Wild-type (WT) BALB/c (paper II) were purchased from Taconic, Denmark and WT C57BI/6 (paper I and III) were purchased from Taconic, Denmark or Harlan, Netherlands. All transgenic and knockout (KO) mice were bred on the C57BI/6 background, with the exceptions of CD47^{-/-} and DO11.10 mice, which were on BALB/c background. All mice were housed under specific pathogen-free conditions at the Experimental Biomedicine Animal Facility, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden. Unlike humans, mice do not naturally express the receptor for diphtheria toxin (DTR), so transgenic CD11c-DTR (B6.FVB-Tg Itgax-DTR/GFP 57Lan/J) mice were constructed, expressing DTR under control of the CD11c promoter, enabling conditional CD11c-expressing DC ablation upon diphtheria toxin (DTx) administration. An additional technique specifically targeted to cDCs was the use of the cre-lox system to evaluate the importance of G_sα specifically in cDCs (Fahlén-Yrlid et al submitted). Mice in which G_sα was floxed[238] were crossed with mice with the enzyme Cre targeted to the CD11c locus [239]. In the offspring, when Cre is actively expressed, i.e in cDCs, a loop is formed between the two loxP loci and the intervening G_sα is enzymatically deleted.

Immunizations (paper I-III)

For measurements of antibody responses, the model antigen, ovalbumin (OVA), was administered per os (p.o.) at 300 μ g/mouse, with or without 10 μ g/mouse of cholera toxin (CT) on four occasions ten days apart. For DC activation measurements, 10 μ g/mouse of CT was administered p.o. 24h before sacrificing the mice.

Oral tolerance (paper I)

For induction of oral tolerance, 50 mg (or 5 mg) of OVA, or PBS as control, was administered p.o. to CD47^{-/-} and BALB/c mice. Ten days later, all mice were challenged with 100 µg OVA in incomplete Freud's adjuvant (IFA) subcutaneously. Draining inguinal LN were excised after one week and harvested cells were restimulated with OVA, 10-fold titrations up to 1mg, for three days. Proliferation of cells was assessed by [³H]thymidine incorporation the last 6 h.

Bone marrow chimeras (paper I-III)

CD11c-DTR transgenic mice given DTx injection will respond by efficient ablation of DCs *in vivo* [240]. Unfortunately, the injection results in death of the mice within 6-7 days, due to the loss of CD11c-expressing, radiation-resistant, non-hematopoietic cell type/s [241]. Therefore, generating BM-chimeras from irradiated WT mice, reconstituted with CD11c-DTR BM, enables study of the mice for longer periods after injection of DTx. Bone marrow (BM) chimeras were generated by lethal irradiation (1000rad) of mice and reconstitution with BM from a donor with genome diverse from the host. The approach of BM-chimeras was employed to elucidate the importance of CD47 in different cell types. CD47^{-/-} mice were reconstituted with WT bone marrow after irradiation, but the reverse chimerism was not possible as CD47^{-/-} cells would be eradicated by WT (CD47^{+/+}) macrophages. This is due to that CD47 expressing cells deliver inhibitory phagocytic signals to macrophages via the ligand CD172a. Thus, CD47-deficient cells in a CD47 competent host cannot deliver these inhibitory signals and will hence be phagocytosed.

Bone marrow DC culture (paper I and III)

Bone marrow was flushed from femurs and tibias from BM donors and resulting BM cells were filtered. After red blood cell lysis, remaining cells were established in culture in ISCOVEs complete medium supplemented with murine FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (m-FLT3L). FLT3L was generated from supernatants of CHO cells transfected with a plasmid containing m-FLT3L and a FLAG peptide followed by purification in anti-FLAG columns [242].

Adoptive transfer

Spleens and LNs from mice harbouring OVA-specific CD4⁺ T cells, OT-II or DO11.10, were harvested, red blood cells were lysed and remaining cells washed. The CD4⁺ T cell fraction was enriched by magnetic separation and stained with 5,6-carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE) before intravenous (i.v.) injection into recipients, $2.5-5x10^6$ cells/mouse. CFSE is preserved in the cell cytoplasm during cell divisions. Thus, the proliferation of CFSE labeled T cells, can be followed as the CFSE content is halved for every division. This technique is commonly used to study antigen specific T cell activation. To induce T cell proliferation in adoptively transferred mice, the day following adoptive transfer of the T cells mice were immunized with OVA p.o., intra nasal (i.n.), or i.v. - with or without CT 10µg p.o. Lymph nodes and lymphoid organs were harvested for analysis three days later.

Antibody assay (paper I-III)

Intestines and serum were collected one week after the last immunization, for measurements of antibody responses. The mice were perfused with heparin-containing PBS before extraction (PERFEXT-samples) of the small intestine. Antigen-specific antibody titers in the samples were measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). The plates were coated with OVA and blocked for non-specific binding with bovine serum albumin (BSA). Samples and a positive control were added and 3-fold dilution series were made. Bound antigen-specific IgA and IgG in the samples was detected by adding a secondary antibody, conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP). O-phenylene-diamine (OPD) dihydrochloride substrate was added and antigen titers were assessed by measuring the highest concentration giving an optical density with a value of 0.4 above background.

Flow cytometry and cell sorting (paper I-III)

The characterization and analysis of different properties of cells have been a major methodology throughout the work described in the papers for this thesis. For this, the technique of flow cytometry has been applied. Flow cytometry is a method in which cells in single cell suspension travel through a nozzle, and diffract laser light, which is collected by detectors. Scattered light gives information on granularity and size. Additional detectors sense the emitted light from laser-excited fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies - directed to epitopes of interest. Expression of both cell-surface and intracellular proteins can be detected. Additionally, live cells with different properties can be sorted from complex populations and can be included in further experiments, by fluorescence activated cell sorting, FACS, whereby an electrical charge is placed on the cells according to chosen properties, and cell populations are sorted into separate tubes, directed by magnetic fields. For FACS, a FACSAria II was used to sort DC subsets and OT-II cells for co-culture, as well as for analysis. Cell phenotype analysis and cytokine production by OT-II cells were performed using a LSR-II flow cytometer in conjunction with cytometric bead assays.

Thoracic duct cannulation (paper III)

Extensive work has been carried out on the technique to collect murine intestinal lymph, by cannulation of the thoracic duct (TD). As DCs within MLN, are not conclusively distinguishable if they have derived from blood or mesenteric lymph, this technique was set up to enable study of known intestine-derived DCs. In addition this technique has the advantages of minimal physical or enzymatic manipulation. At four weeks of age MLNs were surgically removed by mesenteric lymphadenetomy, MLNX. After six weeks afferent and efferent lymphatic vessels (leading to and from MLN, respectively) had anastomosed. Mice then underwent thoracic duct cannulation (TDC), in which lymph, now containing DCs from the intestine, was collected for up to 24 h, before performing further analysis. Cannulation of mice with intact MLNs give virtually no DCs as all DCs are trapped in the draining LNs (Figure D1A; in the discussion). In contrast, in MLNX mice a clear DC population derived from the intestine, that no longer is trapped in MLN, is present (Figure D1B). In MLN, the same CD11c⁺MHC-II^{bright} population of intestinal migratory DCs is present along with an additional blood-derived tissue-resident CD11c⁺MHC-II⁺ cell population (Figure D1C). The two techniques used for MLNX and TDC within the thesis are described below. In both techniques, isoflurane anaesthesia was used, with Temgesic (buprenofen) and Marcain (bupivacaine) given for systemic and local analgesia, respectively.

For MLNX, the abdomen was shaved and after incision along the *linea alba* the intestine was exteriorised to expose the MLNs. Using fine forceps, MLNs were removed by gentle pinching. The intestines were replaced and the muscular layer and skin were sutured. Surgery and recovery were carried out on a heat pad. Mice were maintained for at least six weeks before TDC.

For TDC, the incision was made just below the ribs on the left abdomen. The TD is situated proximal of the adrenal gland and dorsal (but adjacent to) the abdominal aorta. To better visualize the TD and the point of incision, the procedure was performed under a 10x magnification microscope. A small incision, using either microscissors or needle, was made to allow cannulation with a polyurethane cannula (outer diameter of 0.6mm). For optimal flow, the cannula was filled with heparin-supplemented PBS. When inserted, the cannula was glued into place. The cannula exited through the muscle and along the back of the mouse and out through the skin in the neck. The cannula was then inserted into a metal spiral in a harness to allow the collection of intestinal lymph during normal activity. The normal activity of the mouse ensured good lymphatic flow and, thus, higher DC yield than a mouse under anaesthesia, which was the standard protocol used initially during establishment of the TDC experiments.

Results

Paper I: CD11chigh Dendritic Cells Are Essential for the Activation of CD4+ T Cells and the Generation of Specific Antibodies following Mucosal Immunization

The development of CD11cDTR mice[240] introduced a new ability to specifically study the role of DCs in different settings. Initially, the majority of studies had focussed on the role of DCs in parenteral immunization, most often related to $CD8^+$ T cell activation. Parenteral immunization is effective for the induction of systemic protection, but the majority of pathogens use mucosal surfaces as the point of entry into the body and many have adapted for replication within mucosal tissues. Hence, mucosal immunizations are more effective than parenteral at a local level and, in addition, are also good inducers of systemic protection. The role of DCs in mucosal immunization, particularly with regard to their interaction with CD4⁺ T cells, had not been studied at the onset of the PhD studies and is the focus of paper I.

Conventional DCs are essential for the activation of CD4⁺ T cells

In paper I, BM-chimeras were used, in which the WT hematopoietic cell compartment was exchanged for CD11cDTR BM (CD11cDTR/WT). Firstly, it was established that CD11c^{high}expressing DCs (conventional DCs; cDCs) were efficiently ablated after injection of DTx into both CD11cDTR/WT and CD11cDTR mice. Although more efficient in some tissues than in others, the depletion of cDCs was evident in all organs analysed: spleen, MLN, LP, PP, peritoneal exudate cells, nasal associated lymphoid tissue (NALT) and cervical LN (CLN). To test the effect on proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells, adoptive transfer experiments were carried out. Injection of DTx was given 70hrs and 2hrs before i.v. transfer of OVA-specific CD4⁺ T cells. The mice were immunized 18hrs after depletion and after a further 3 or 5 days the organs were harvested. The administration of DTx and subsequent loss of CD11chigh DCs resulted in markedly reduced proliferation of responding T cells after both oral and nasal immunization with OVA. This was not due to altered recruitment or baseline activation of adoptively transferred T cells, as frequency of total and CD69⁺ OVA transgenic CD4⁺ T cells retrieved in LNs was unaltered after transfer. Addition of CT as an adjuvant demonstrated a dependence of cDC for proliferation of T cells similar as for OVA without adjuvant. Additionally, the activation of responding T cells, measured by expression of CD69, was decreased in mice where cDC were depleted by DTx injection (Figure R1). Hence, cDCs are vitally important for the activation of CD4⁺ T cells after oral and nasal administration of OVA, with or without CT.

Conventional DCs are critical for antibody responses

To investigate if the defect in activation of CD4⁺ T cells resulting from from cDC depletion gave rise to any downstream effect, the generation of antigen-specific antibodies was next assessed. Thus, CD11cDTR/WT were immunized once with OVA and CT, after depleting cDC or not. Following oral and nasal immunization, both anti-OVA and anti-CTB IgG in serum were abrogated in mice devoid of cDCs. Unfortunately, anti-OVA IgA responses in intestines were at undetectable levels, regardless of depletion of cDCs or not. Evidently, a single immunization was not sufficient to induce detectable levels of anti-OVA IgA in the intestine. However, several immunizations with preceding DC depletions would have resulted in depletion of plasmablasts, in addition to DC, as B cells differentiating to plasma cells upregulate CD11c-expression[243]. Nevertheless, anti-CTB IgA was detected and was at a significantly lower level than for mice with an intact DC pool (Figure R2). Taken together, these data indicate that cDCs are critical for the generation of OVA-specific serum IgG and intestinal IgA following oral immunization.



Figure R1. Activation of T cells is dependent on <u>cDCs</u>. Proliferation of OT-II cells in MLN after **A**, oral OVA (left), or PBS administration (right) and **B**, OVA+CT immunization. Numbers indicate the frequency of cells that entered division. **Upper panels**, without DTx injection, **Lower panels**, after DTx injection. **C**, Percentage of CD69⁺ non-divided OT-II cells.

Conventional DC dependence is overridden by increased antigen dose

Tolerance at mucosal surfaces can be broken by high doses of antigen. It has been suggested that high concentrations of antigen might lead to an altered immune response because antigen may then become accessible to APCs other than cDCs[244]. For this reason, a high dose of antigen, 30 times more than required for detection of T cell proliferation in a control animal, was administered. At this dose of antigen, proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells was also seen in mice depleted of cDCs, i.e. overriding the dependence for cDCs seen under conditions of limited antigen dose. This prompted a search for the cells responsible for inducing this proliferation. In CD11cDTR/WT mice CD11b^{high}CD11c^{-/low} myeloid cells (mostly Ly6G expressing neutrophils) were recruited after DTx injection. However, as these cells were poor inducers of T cell proliferation *in vitro*, they were most likley not APC candidates in this setting. To study the importance of B cells *in vivo* in DC-depleted mice, mixed BMCh mice were constructed. Thus, B cell-deficient mice (µMT) were bred with CD11cDTR to enable combined B- and DC-deficiency. However, mice lacking all B cells also suffer from structural immune defects presumingly affecting more than B cell immune response. To circumvent this drawback, BM from CD11cDTR/µMT offspring, was mixed with BM from MHC-II deficient (MHC-II^{-/-})



Figure R2. OVA-<u>and CTB</u>-specific antibody responses are dependent on <u>cDCs</u>. Antibody responses towards OVA in <u>serum</u> after A, oral and B, nasal immunization. C, IgA antibodies against the intestine.

mice, which have B cells but which are unable to present Ag. These mixed BMCh mice showed proliferation of T cells after depletion of the DTx sensitive cDCs, when the high dose of antigen was given, like in CD11cDTR mice. To analyze the possibility that pDCs influence T cell proliferation, CD11cDTR/WT mice was injected with the depleting monoclonal antibody 120.G8, directed against pDCs, for a combined depletion of pDCs and cDCs upon DTx treatment. Although demonstrating cDC dependence at low antigen dose, a 30-fold increase in dose induced T cell proliferation even after addition of the 120.G8 antibody, confirming that pDCs are not required for the proliferation seen at high antigen dose.

In this paper, the dependence of cDCs for CD4⁺ T cell activation after mucosal immunization, with or without CT, was demonstrated, and it was shown that cDCs were essential for the generation of antigen-specific antibodies. However, a very high dose of Ag still elicits T cell proliferation, but neither pDCs, B cells and most likely not newly recruited CD11b^{high}CD11c⁻/low</sup> myeloid cells are responsible for this proliferation.

Paper II: CD47-deficient mice have decreased production of intestinal IgA following oral immunization but maintain the capacity to induce oral tolerance

Following the confirmation of the importance of cDC in the induction of immune responses to fed antigen in mice, we next wanted to address the role of subsets within the diverse DC population. The maintenance of homeostasis of CD11b⁺ DCs in lymphoid organs had been reported to be dependent on the expression both of the ubiquitously expressed glycoprotein CD47 and of one of its ligands, namely CD172a (SIRP-a)[97]. Also, using mice deficient for CD47 or in CD172a-signaling, the dependence of these two proteins for the migration of the CD11b⁺ DCs, to draining LNs from skin, had been shown [92,93,95]. However, the importance of CD47 in both oral tolerance and adaptive immune responses was unknown, so in paper II, CD47-deficient mice were used to determine its importance in orally induced immune responses. At the same time, the role of CD11b⁺ DCs would be applicable also to non-skin draining LN, i.e. gut-draining MLN (as this subset would be lacking in herein).

CD47-expression is important for maintaining cell numbers in gut

The basal DC phenotype in CD47^{-/-} mice was firstly established, in comparison with WT mice. Mice deficient in CD47 have as much as a 50% reduction of the number of total leukocytes, selectively within MLN, small intestinal LP and PP, while maintaining normal cell numbers in spleen and skin-draining axillary and inguinal LNs (Table 1).

Strain	Organ					
	ALN	ILN	Spleen	MLN	LP	РР
Wild-type	6.98	3.51	82.14	25.00	7.60	8.53
	± 2.58	± 1.43	± 16·12	± 7.60***	± 3.75**	± 3.58**
Knockout	6.85	3.18	63.23	14.25	3.25	5.04
	± 2·49	± 0.92	± 19·54	± 3.77	± 2.54	± 3.01

Table 1. Total number of cells in different organs

ALN, axillary lymph node; ILN, inguinal lymph node; MLN, mesenteric lymph node; LP, lamina propria; PP, Peyer's patches.

The organs were harvested and digested in liberase or collagenase (LP) after EDTA-treatment (LP + PP) and the total number of live cells in the cell suspensions was determined as non-Trypan blue stained cells. Data shown are median $\times 10^6 \pm$ SD, and represent data from at least three experiments with four mice in each.

 $^{**}P < 0.005$ and $^{***}P < 0.001$ using Student's t-test.

For further comparison of DC and DC subset between CD47^{-/-} and WT mice, frequencies and not absolute numbers were used, due to the skewed decrease in total cell numbers within the GALT of CD47^{-/-} mice. cDCs were present at a reduced frequency in MLN but not in PP or LP (Figure R3a). Within MLN, two populations of cDCs are found, CD11c⁺MHC-II⁺ mand CD11c⁺MHC-II⁺ (Westlund et al, manuscript; paper III). The CD11c⁺MHC-II⁺ population contains mostly CD103⁻, DCs while the CD11c⁺MHC-II^{bright} population contains mostly CD103⁺. CD103 has been shown to be highly expressed by most but not all DCs migrating in intestinal lymph (IL-DCs) ([102]Westlund et al. manuscript, paper III). Thus, the level of expression of MHC-II rather than CD103 was applied to discriminate IL-DCs from lymph node resident DCs in MLN. Within both CD11c⁺MHC-II^{bright} and CD11c⁺MHC-II⁺ DCs in MLN, the cDC subset expressing CD11b exist at a significantly lower frequency (Figure R3b and c). Also CD11b⁺ among CD103⁺ DCs in LP are significantly reduced in frequency (Figure R3d). However, frequency of CD11b-expressing DCs in PP is normal (Figure R3e). cDCs expressing CD11b mutually express CD172a[92,93,97,245].



Figure R3. Frequency of cDCs and cDC subsets. **A,** Frequency of $CD11c^+MHC-II^+$ cells in MLN among live leukocytes. **B,** Frequency of $CD11c^+MHC-II^{bright}$ cells and **C,** $CD11c^+MHC-II^+$ cells among total cDCs in MLN **D,** Frequency of $CD103^+$ DCs among total cDCs in LP **E,** Frequency of $CD11b^+$ DCs among total cDCs in PP.

Impaired mucosal but not systemic immune response following oral immunization of CD47 $^{-1}$ mice

The immunological relevance of this cellular defect in CD47^{-/-} mice and, more specifically, the importance of the CD11b-expressing DC-subset, was evaluated next. Mice with MLNs surgically removed (by mesenteric lymphadenectomy) are incapable of establishing oral tolerance (own data and [246]), but still fully capable of generating antigen-specific antibody responses. This underlines the importance of MLN as a site for maintaining the steady state in the gut. Therefore, the proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells in MLN was assessed after feeding OVA only.

First, the proliferation of adoptively transferred OVA-specific CD4⁺ T cells was assessed. After feeding OVA, the transferred T cells in CD47^{-/-} mice exhibited a reduced proliferation profile compared to in WT mice. Interestingly this reduced proliferation was a mucosal-



Figure R4. T cell proliferation after oral and i.v. immunization with OVA+/-CT. Frequency of $CD4^+$ OVA transgenic T cells in MLN that entered cell division after p.o. immunization with A and B, OVA D and E OVA+CT. C, Frequency of cells in spleen that entered division after i.v. immunizations with OVA. Pooled data from at least 3 experiments with 2-4 mice in each.

restricted phenomenon, as parenteral (i.v.) immunization resulted in equally good proliferation in the two strains of mice (Figure R4).

As CD47^{-/-} mice exhibited reduced cell numbers particularly in MLN, within the CD11bexpressing DC population, combined with the fact that these mice showed a reduced proliferation only after mucosal immunization, we hypothesized that the ability to induce oral tolerance would be reduced in these mice. However, induction of oral tolerance was at least equally efficient in CD47^{-/-} mice and WT mice (Figure R5). Next the importance of CD47 expression after including CT as an adjuvant was addressed. The proliferation pattern of adoptively transferred CD4⁺ OVA-specific T cells was no different from feeding OVA without adjuvant, i.e. exhibited reduced proliferation in CD47^{-/-} mice specifically after mucosal immunization.



Next, effects on antibody production were examined. After three immunizations with OVA and CT, the OVA-specific antibody responses in CD47^{-/-} mice revealed an impaired intestinal OVA-specific IgA (Figure R6a). In contrast, the generation of serum anti-

Figure R5. Maintained ability to induce oral tolerance in CD47^{-/-} mice. CD47^{-/-} and wild-type mice were fed PBS or **A**, 50 mg OVA, **B**, 5 mg OVA, challenged with OVA+IFA, s.c. and OVA-specific proliferation was measured in the draining LNs after restimulation *ex vivo*. Suppression index is calculated as the proliferation (counts/min) of T cells from OVA-fed mice in relation to PBS-fed animals that were normalized to 0%. Results are **A**, pooled from two experiments with two to four mice in each or **B**, from one experiment with six mice per group. Bars show grand median.

OVA IgA and IgG titers were comparable in wt and CD47^{-/-} mice (Figure R6c and d). This defect was not due to a general disability to produce IgA in the intestine, as total anti-IgA response herein was normal (Figure R6b). Thus, the defects in these CD47^{-/-} mice were skewed to mucosal tissues, i.e. intestinal antigen-specific antibody generation, and yet induction of oral tolerance was unaffected.



Figure R6. Intestinal OVA-specific IgA titer is reduced in CD47^{-/-} mice. WT and CD47^{-/-} mice were fed OVA+CT three times. One week later **A**, anti-OVA-specific IgA and **B**, total IgA in perfused intestines, or **C**, anti-OVA-specific IgA and **D**, IgG titers in serum were determined. The graphs show titers from four experiments with (a, b, d) at least three mice or (c) two or three mice in each. Error bars show SD.

Non-hematopoietic cells and not the reduced frequencies of $CD11b^+$ cDCs are responsible for the impaired mucosal immune response in CD47^{-/-} mice

In order to reveal the ontogeny of the cell responsible for the gut-associated defects in CD47^{-/-} mice, BMCH was used. CD47 is an innate marker of self and, through its ligation to macrophage SIRP α (CD172a), macrophage phagocytosis is prevented by inhibitory signaling through SIRP α [89]. Therefore, only WT BM can be transferred to CD47^{-/-} and not vice versa. When lethally irradiated CD47^{-/-} mice were reconstituted with WT BM, this did not restore either gut cellularity, i.e. number of cells or intestinal antibody production but, however, the frequency of CD11b⁺ DCs was restored. As the frequency of CD11b⁺ DCs is reduced in MLN, and not PP of CD47^{-/-} mice, and the defect lies not in oral tolerance induction, but rather in intestinal antibody generation, CD11b⁺ DCs are seemingly not responsible for the defects in CD47^{-/-} mice. Therefore, we conclude that CD47 is dispensable for oral tolerance induction

and that OVA-specific IgA production is dependent on non-hematopoietic cells expressing CD47 rather than on the decreased frequency of $CD11b^+DCs$.

Paper III: Oral adjuvant activity of cholera toxin is independent of classical toll-like receptor signaling, but requires $G_s \alpha$ expression in CD11c⁺ dendritic cells

In paper I we show the dependence of cDCs for $CD4^+$ T cell activation and antibody production after oral immunization adjuvanted with CT. In paper II, the role of $CD11b^+$ cDCs was addressed in CD47 deficient mice. In paper III we extended our analysis of the effect of oral administration of CT to other gut derived subsets of cDC. Further we wanted determine which signaling pathways, primarily in DCs, that were involved in orally induced immune responses after CT vaccination.

The role of different intestinal lymph DC subsets after oral CT administration

To continue the study on gut-derived DC subsets and their role in orally induced immune responses we used the cannulation technique that I have established during my PhD studies. This technique enables the direct study of DCs migrating from the gut; IL-DCs.

At the time for cannulation, mice were fed CT or left unfed as controls. Flow cytometric analysis of IL-DCs in these mice revealed that CT induced a significant increase in the frequency of cDCs migrating in intestinal lymph. (figure R7A). IL-DCs in lymph can be divided into four subsets with regard to the integrins CD103 and CD11b, I) CD103⁺CD11b⁺, II) CD103⁺CD11b⁻C103⁻ and IV) CD103⁻CD11b⁺ (figure R7A, right panels). Analysis of the subset frequencies, determined that there was no preferential increased exit of either (figure R7A, right panels). Interestingly, all IL-DCs subsets, except for the CD103⁺CD11b⁻(CD8\alpha⁺), showed a significant increase in CD86 expression following CT compared to unimmunized control mice (Figure R7B).



Figure R7. IL-DCs from CT-treated or untreated cannulated MLNX mice. **A**, Frequency of DCs among all live leukocytes (left), the four different IL-DC subsets, in regards to CD11b and CD103 expression (right). Upper panel; non-treated, lower panel; CT-treated. **B**, Expression of CD86 within the different subsets, empty circles; untreated, filled circles; CT-treated.

To examine any differential influence on responding CD4⁺ T cells in regards to proliferation and induction of cytokine production, the four different IL-DC subsets were sorted, pulsed

with OVA and cultured with CFSE labelled OVA-specific CD4+ T cells (OT-II cells). No obvious difference in proliferation of responding T cells was detected (not depicted), but their cytokine profiles were distinctive. The CD103⁻CD11b⁺ were major inducers of IFN γ -production in responding T cells during steady state. However, this production was reduced after CT administration, but with a parallel IL-10 production increase.

The role of Batf3-dependent DCs in oral immunization

The lack of up-regulation of CD86 by CD103⁺CD11b⁻ IL-DCs suggests that this subset might not be responding to CT in vivo. Batf3^{-/-} mice have been reported to have dramatically reduced numbers of CD103⁺CD11b⁻CD8⁺ DCs in MLN[79,80]. Interestingly, it was recently shown that these DCs, dependent on the transcription factor BATF3, were required when CT was used as an adjuvant in epicutaneous immunization[224]. To elucidate the importance of the CD103⁺CD11b⁻ DC subset in the oral adjuvant activity of CT, we took advantage of Batf3^{-/-} mice.

Although the initial reports stated complete loss of the CD11b⁻ DCs in the Batf3^{-/-} mice, subsequent reports have pointed instead towards a marked decrease in CD103⁺CD11b⁻CD8⁺ DCs, depending on different tissues and even different strains of mice. Cannulation of the thoracic duct in MLNx Batf3^{-/-} and WT mice yield a similar frequency of total IL-DCs. In PP, the total DC frequency in Batf3^{-/-} was decreased compared to WT controls. The subsequent quantification of subsets within IL-DCs and PP, revealed a dramatic, near, complete loss of the CD103⁺CD11b⁻CD8⁺ DC-population (Figure R8A and B). However, Batf3^{-/-} and WT mice showed comparable levels of anti-OVA IgA titers in the intestine after oral immunization with OVA and CT (Figure R8C). This shows that Batf3-dependent CD103⁺CD11b⁻DCs cDCs are not essential for the antigen-specific antibody production in the intestine after oral immunization with CT.



Figure R8. Batf3^{-/-} dependent DCs are not essential for intestinal antibody responses. Frequency of the four subsets in **A**, intestinal lymph and **B**, Peyer's patches. Upper panel; WT, lower panel; Batf3^{-/-}. **C**, Intestinal OVA-specific IgA titer following OVA + CT p.o.

$G_s \alpha$ -expression in cDCs is necessary for DC-activation and for the oral adjuvant activity of cholera toxin

In contrast to the well-known mechanism by which CT induces diarrhea, the mechanism of action for CT adjuvanticity is incompletely known. The diarrheal response results from the enzymatic activity of the CTA1 subunit and its ribosylation of $G_s\alpha$ G protein, resulting in constitutive production of cAMP and leading to ion efflux with accompanying water loss [247],(Iyengar 1993,[248]. The adjuvanticity of CT is also most likely coupled to the enzymatic activity of CTA1, as most enzymatic inactive mutants of CT do not elicit antibody production. Recent results from our lab show that the ganglioside GM1, the only known receptor for CT, needs to be expressed on DC, in order for orally administered CT to elicit adjuvant activity [249]. We therefore next wanted to explore which signaling pathways in cDCs that are involved in the oral adjuvant activity of CT. Applying cre-lox-technology, mice in which $G_s\alpha$ was deleted specifically in CD11c-expressing cDC, CD11c-cre X flox GsA (CD11cGsa), were generated (Fahlén-Yrlid et al submitted). While oral administration of CT resulted in upregulation of CD86 by gut-derived cDCs in the MLN of littermate controls, CD11cGsa mice failed to do so (Figure R9).



Figure R9. CT-mediated activation of intestinal cDCs *in vivo*. CD11cGsa mice and littermates were orally immunized with PBS or CT and 24h later single cell suspensions from MLNs were analyzed by flow cytometry. The analysis shows gated 7AAD⁻CD11c⁺CD45R⁻ cells being CD11c⁺MHC-II⁺CD103⁺ and finally analysed for CD86 expression. The error bars show SD.

In addition, BMDC from CD11cGsa mice stimulated either with CT or CTA did not elevate CD86 levels. However, CD11cGsa BMDCs are able to upregulate CD86 in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) *in vitro*. Finally, CD11cGsa mice were immunized four times with OVA and CT. Both OVA-specific antibody titers in intestine and serum of CD11cGsa mice were severely impaired compared to littermates (Figure R10). Thereby we conclude that $G_s\alpha$ mediated signaling specifically in cDCs is essential for the oral adjuvant activity of CT.



Figure R10. Impaired antibody responses in CD11cGsa mice following oral immunization with CT. CD11cGsa mice and littermate controls were fed OVA +/- CT four times at ten-day intervals. One week after the last immunization intestines and serum were collected and **A**, intestinal anti-OVA Ig A and **B**, serum anti-OVA IgG were determined.

The oral adjuvant activity of CT does not require TLR signaling

To evaluate the involvement of TLR-signaling in the oral adjuvant activity of CT, mice deficient for MyD88 were used. MLN-DCs of MyD88^{-/-} mice, upregulated the co-stimulatory molecule CD86, in response to oral CT, in comparable levels to WT (Figure R11A). Additionally, repeated oral immunization with OVA and CT in MyD88^{-/-} mice generated normal anti-OVA IgA and IgG responses (Figure R11B and C). TRIF signals via IFN α R, and thus mice with a combined deficiency for MyD88 and IFN α R, lacks the two adaptor proteins required for any TLR signaling. Still, MyD88/IFN α R^{-/-} mice displayed similar levels of IgA and IgG to WT mice following oral immunization with OVA + CT (figure R11B and C). Hence, this shows that TLR-signaling is dispensible for the oral adjuvant effect of CT.



Figure R11. Activation of intestinal DCs and induction of antibodies in mice lacking classical TLR signaling after oral immunization with CT. **A**, WT and MyD88 deficient mice were orally administered PBS or CT. 24h later CD86 expression by intestine-derived cDCs in the MLN was measured by flowcytometry. **B-C**, Anti-OVA **B**, IgA titres in intestinal tissue or **C**, IgG titres in serum one week after the last of three oral immunizations with OVA and CT of WT, MyD88 and MyD88/IFNαR deficient mice. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Error bars show SD.

Involvement of the inflammasome in the generation of intestinal IgA but not systemic IgG following oral immunization with CT

The cardinal feature in inflammasome signaling is the activation of caspase 1. Hence, mice deficient in caspase 1/11 (Casp1/11^{-/-}) were used to determine the role of the inflammasome in CT- induced oral immune responses. Gut-derived MLN DCs from Casp1/11^{-/-} fed CT did not upregulate CD86 (Figure R12A) suggesting an incapacity of CT to activate DCs in vivo. In addition, the ability to generate anti-OVA IgA response in the intestine was after four p.o. immunizations with OVA impaired in Casp1/11^{-/-} mice (Figure R12B and C). Comparing titers with GM1^{-/-} mice, which show a total inability to generate response in intestinal antibody production (Figure R12B and C).In contrast, the serum anti-OVA IgG response in Casp1/11^{-/-} mice was not impaired compared to WT mice. These results suggests that caspase1/11 dependent signaling is important for the activation of gut-derived DCs following oral immunization with CT. Furthermore they indicate that the inflammasome is involved in

generation of antigen-specific intestinal IgA but not systemic IgG following oral immunization adjuvanted with CT.



Figure R12. Activation of intestinal DCs and induction of antibodies after oral immunization with CT in Casp1/11^{-/-}. Casp1/11^{-/-} and matched WT controls were orally immunized with PBS or CT. 24h later CD86 expression by intestine-derived cDCs in the MLN were gated and analysed. **B-C**, Anti-OVA **B**, IgA titres in intestinal tissue or **C**, IgG titres in serum one week after three oral immunizations with OVA and CT. Error bars show SD. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA with Tukey post-hoc test where *p<0.05.

In this paper we investigated the adjuvant activity of CT with regard to DC signaling and subsets. We conclude that $Gs\alpha$ -expression in cDCs is necessary for activation of DC as well as for antibody response when CT is used as an oral adjuvant. This does not require TLR signaling but need caspase1/11 and hence inflammasome activity for the generation of antigen-specific intestinal IgA. Moreover, we conclude that CT is not dependent on CD103⁺CD11b⁻ cDCs for its oral adjuvant effect.

Discussion

DCs are phenotypically and functionally heterogeneous. Improved knowledge of the immunobiology of intestinal DCs and their role during homeostasis and following immunization would be useful for vaccinology to mucosal pathogens, but also in the field of food allergies. In this thesis the role of different DC subsets in immune responses towards orally administered antigens has been investigated.

The role of CD11c⁺ DCs in oral vaccination with CT

In paper I, we sought to elucidate the role of CD11c-expressing DCs in orally-induced immune responses. CD11c-DTR mice, in which cells expressing CD11c are sensitive to DTx and undergo apoptosis after DTx injection, were used for this purpose. Due to the essential expression of CD11c in non-hematopoietic cells, these mice succumb due to DTx-injection within a week. To circumvent this, BMCh mice were generated by irradiation of WT C57Bl/6 mice and re-constitution with BM from CD11c-DTR mice. Activation of CD4⁺ T cells in response to oral OVA, measured as their proliferation, was abolished after depletion of cDCs. The addition of CT did not alter the cDC dependence for CD4⁺ T cell activation. Furthermore, cDCs were essential for the generation of antigen-specific mucosal and systemic antibodies to orally (and nasally) administered OVA, adjuvanted by CT. However, when antigen concentration was not limiting, the dependence of cDC could be overridden.

Immediately after DC depletion, cells were recruited to lymphoid tissues. Interestingly, this had not been reported in previous studies with CD11c-DTR mice. Most recruited cells expressed high levels of CD11b, Ly6C and Ly6G, but did not express CD11c, or did so at very low levels. Splenocytes treated with DTx were poor inducers of proliferation of responding CD4⁺ T cells *in vitro*. Even at 72h after cDC depletion *in vivo*, little T cell proliferation was observed *in vitro*, strongly indicating that the recruited cells do not differentiate into efficient APCs. Hence, the majority of the recruited population most likely represents non-conventional APCs such as neutrophils, not directly responsible for the activation of CD4⁺ T cells *in vivo*. In unpublished studies, we have inhibited the influx of granulocytes induced by DTx by using depleting antibodies directed against Ly6C. However, this did not reduce the expansion of T cells in DTx-treated mice given a high dose of antigen.

It has been reported that OVA conjugated to pDC-directed antibodies can induce proliferation of OVA-specific CD4⁺ T cells in cDC-depleted mice after s.c immunization[250], suggesting a role for pDCs as APCs for CD4⁺ cells. In this study, Sapoznikov et al found no significant depletion of pDCs after DTx injection, while we have consistently observed a partial depletion, also reported by others [244,251]. The pDCs remaining after cDC depletion are fully functional, shown by the requirement for combined DTx treatment and pDC-depleting antibody treatment, for inhibition of OVA-specific antibody generation after a CpG-induced immune response. Nevertheless, proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells induced by immunization with a high dose of antigen was retained after combined depletion of cDCs and pDCs. Thus, pDCs are not responsible for the activation of T cells observed after mucosal immunization of cDCdepleted mice with a high dose of OVA. Although Sapoznikov et al[250] showed that specific targeting of antigen to pDCs resulted in activation of CD4⁺ T cells, they did not address whether removal of pDCs abrogated the activation. In addition, pDCs originating from skin (Sapoznikov), versus gut (our studies), could have different capacities to function as APCs. For example, skin pDCs have been shown to migrate in afferent lymph[107] while afferent lymph from mucosal tissues does not contain pDCs[106].

B cells were also excluded as the APC-population responsible for the activation of T cells after cDC depletion under non-limiting antigen conditions. This is consistent with a previous study where B cell-deficient mice retained CD4⁺ T cell-activating capacity in skin-draining LNs, in the absence of cDCs[250]. Lymphocytes are important for correct DC localisation and function within lymphoid structures [252,253]. Therefore, to exclude influences of changed structure or overall lymphocyte cellularity within LN, our study was conducted in the presence of B cells, though deficient for MHC-II. In contrast, BMCh mice generated by reconstitution of µMT mice with mixed BM from CD11c-DTR mice and B cells deficient in MHC-II showed, after DTx injection, a reduced proliferative response of T cells, in comparison to BMCh mice generated using WT mice as recipients[254]. This may be explained by different routes of immunization and/or antigen dose used in this study compared to our study. Nonetheless, B cells may contribute to T cell proliferation but, if so, then most likely in collaboration with cDCs, or after CD4⁺ T cells have been primed by cDCs. For example, previous reports have shown that cDCs are sufficient to initiate Tfh maturation, but cognate B cell interactions are necessary for their full differentiation into CXCR5, PD1 and Bcl-6 expressing Tfh[255].

DTx injection into CD11c-DTR mice also depletes marginal zone macrophages and their sinusoidal counterparts in LNs[256]. Therefore, it is unlikely that these cells are responsible for the cDC-independent proliferation of $CD4^+$ T cells after feeding a high dose of OVA. Additionally, it has been reported that mice ablated of macrophages by injection of chlodronate-containing liposomes, have increased rather than reduced number of antibody-secreting cells after T-dependent antigen immunization[257].

CD11cDTR mice are efficiently, although not absolutely, depleted of cDCs by DTx treatment. Thus, it is still possible that the remaining cDCs, although few, present antigen after high antigen dose. However, recent unpublished results from our group show that although T cells are activated after high antigen dose, the DTx-treated mice show a dramatically reduced ability to induce CD4⁺ T cells secreting IFN- γ . Impaired isotype switching to IgG2c antibodies following immunization also occurs. This shows that although there may have been some residual cDCs, they were not able to perform functionally as when present in normal numbers. In addition, other studies with similar cDC-depletion efficiency as that observed in our study, show an almost complete inhibition of CD8⁺ T cell responses following DTx treatment[240,251,258,259]. Hence, although we cannot directly address this experimentally, our data strongly suggest that the cDCs remaining after DTx injection are not the main inducers of CD4⁺ T cell proliferation, even when high doses of antigen are given.

A growing number of reports suggest a capability of inflammatory monocytes to differentiate into DCs under inflammatory conditions. Rivollier et al showed an influx of Ly6C^{hi} monocytes in colitis, differentiating in the inflamed colon into CX3CR1^{int} inflammatory DCs[260]. A more recent report further suggests that this population of inflammatory monocyte-derived DCs can adopt full APC-function, with migratory ability, and capacity to activate T cells[261]. NK-derived IFN- γ has been suggested to be involved in the recruitment of monocytes differentiating into DCs after intraperitoneal infection with *Toxoplasma gondii*[262]. Further, LPS may function as a mediator of recruitment of blood monocytes into LN and to induce subsequent differentiation into DCs[263]. Even though there are no reports confirming the differentiation of inflammatory monocytes into antigen presenting DCs in the small intestine, this could be an explanation for the cDC- independent T cell proliferation after immunization with a high dose of antigen.

Specific involvement of cDC subsets in orally-induced immune responses

After establishing the importance of cDCs for the activation of T cells and reciprocal antibody-production by plasma cells, we initiated further studies to elucidate the role of different subpopulations of DC in this context. We therefore established a cannulation model in mice that had previously been performed in rats and cattle. Using this model, we conducted a study of pseudo-afferent intestinal lymph DCs, following oral immunization with CT. DCs are easily activated and, during isolation from tissues by mechanical and enzymatic disruption, they could potentially become activated. In addition, only a fraction of cDCs are released by



Figure D1. cDC populations in **A**, intestinal lymph of mice with intact MLNs; **B**, intestinal lymph after surgical removal of MLNs, **C**, MLN

such techniques, which may preferentially purify particular subtypes of cells[264]. Collection of IL-DCs by cannulation does not only account for an isolation-method with minimal manipulation of DCs, but also gives a high yield of DCs. Further, cannulation of MLNx mice highlighted the CD11c⁺MHC-II^{bright} cDC phenotype as the best way of distinguishing intestinal migratory DCs from resident DCs, rather thanthe CD11c⁺MHC-II⁺ phenotype (Figure D1).

As stated previously, four subsets of IL-DCs can be distinguished based on the expression of CD103 and CD11b. The four populations are: I) CD103⁺CD11b⁺; II) CD103⁺CD11b⁻; III) CD103 CD11b⁺ and IV) CD103 CD11b⁻. Cannulation of CT-fed mice revealed an interesting finding in that CD103⁺CD11b⁻(CD8a⁺), as the only IL-DC subset, did not up-regulate the costimulatory molecule CD86. However, the migration of this subset in comparison with the others was not impaired, as all subsets migrated in intestinal lymph in similar frequencies with or without CT feeding. In addition, no obvious difference in proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells in co-cultures with the different subsets was detected, with or without CT. We have recently shown that direct interactions between GM1 and hematopoietic cells and CT is required for activation of gut-derived cDCs in the MLN[265] As all nucleated cells express GM1, a lack of GM1 expression cannot be the reason for the reduced activation. Our results, therefore, suggest that in addition to binding of CT to GM1, some factors, most likely soluble, are released in response to CT and that these must bind receptors expressed by DCs in order for them to upregulate CD86. If CD103⁺CD11b⁻(CD8a⁺) IL-DCs do not express such additional receptors then this could explain their incapacity to become fully activated by CT. We have not been able to address what these factors could be, but we have sorted the different populations of IL-DCs and will be conducting comparisons of genes expressed by the subsets. Importantly, in rats all IL-DCs subsets upregulate CD86 in response to R848 administration[108] and in preliminary experiments we have observed the same in mice. Hence CD103⁺CD11b⁻(CD8a⁺) are not refractory to direct or indirect effects of microbial stimuli. A third possibility is that the anatomical origin of this subset differs and that CT does not access this subset. Indeed, it was originally suggested that CD103⁺CD11b⁻(CD8a⁺) cells originate primarily from PP[266] but recent cannulation studies in mice lacking PP show that

this subset is still present. Hence, although this could be an explanation there is thus far no experimental evidence for differences in the distribution of CD103+CD11b+/- cDCs in the intestine.

The cytokine profiles of the responding CD4⁺ T cells co-cultured with different subsets from controls or mice fed CT, confirmed that CD103⁻CD11b⁺ cDCs were the major inducers of IFN- γ production by the T cells. CD103⁻CD11b⁺ IL-DCs from mice fed CT, however, displayed a reduced capacity to induce IFN-y production. This is not due to CT-induced apoptosis in the cells as these IL-DCs induce increased levels of IL-10 in these co-cultures. To test the role of CD11b⁻(CD8a⁺) cDCs for CT's adjuvanicity, we used Batf3^{-/-} mice with a reported lack of this specific subset. While Batf3^{-/-} mice displayed a pronounced reduction of CD103⁺CD11b⁻ both in PP and among IL-DCs, they still elicited normal antigen-specific intestinal antibodies following immunization with CT. In contrast, following epicutanous immunization, *batf3*-dependent CD11b⁻ cDCs were important for CT adjuvanticity[224]. Further, the importance of CD11b⁻ cDCs against viral infections, such as West Nile virus and Sendai virus, has been established in several reports [78,79], reflecting their role as the major cross-presenting cDC. In contrast, CD11b⁻ cDCs, as shown in our studies, are dispensible for CD4⁺ T cell activation and antibody responses. In line with this, CD4⁺ T cell activation in skin draining lymph nodes are dependent on CD11b⁺ cDCs[92,93]. Thus, we cannot find a requirement for CD11b⁻(CD8a⁺) in the induction of CD4⁺ T cell-dependent antibody responses. This subset is clearly important for activation of CD8⁺ T cells[78,82,127,128,224]. Whether CD11b (CD8a⁺) are important for the induction oral tolerance would be interesting to address, but was outside the scope of this thesis.

When we initiated the study that resulted in paper II, few KO-models were available to study the requirement of CD11b⁺ DC subsets for the induction of oral immune responses. Mice deficient for CD47 develop all DC subsets, but with a reduced frequency of CD11b⁺ splenic cDCs [92]. In addition, reports had shown that the cDC subset expressing CD11b had an impaired ability to migrate in skin-afferent lymph[92,93]. Hence, if CD11b⁺ cDCs migration in intestinal lymph was also reduced in these animals, this could help us elucidate the function of this subset in immune responses towards orally introduced antigens. Unfortunately, we were not able to cannulate the CD47^{-/-} mice and could therefore not directly assess the DC subsets that migrate in intestinal lymph. The reason for this was that the CD47^{-/-} mice available to us were bred onto a BALB/c background. We discovered a major anatomical difference between C57Bl/6 and BALB/c, in which the latter have an obstructed thoracic duct, thus severely diminishing the success rate of cannulations. Nevertheless, the influence on immune responses initiated after oral antigen delivery of the ubiquitously expressed CD47 had not previously been studied. In addition, this knockout strain allowed us to study the frequency of CD11b⁺ DCs in intestinal tissues. Thus, CD47^{-/-} mice served as an interesting model to explore intestinal immune responses.

Mice deficient in CD47 harbour an evident reduction of CD11b⁺ gut-derived DCs in MLN. CD47^{-/-} DCs show normal CCR7 expression, and no defect in migration towards CCL19 in mice on a BALB/c background. Interestingly, this differs from mice on C57Bl/6 background, which display impaired migration towards CCL19, measured by the same technique[92,93]. Notably, the CD47^{-/-} mice used in our study were of BALB/c genotype. Thus, the reduced frequencies of CD11b⁺ DCs we detected in MLNs of CD47^{-/-} is not due to differential chemokine receptor expression, but rather to the expression of CD47. In contrast to the situation in MLN of CD47 deficient mice, unaltered frequencies of CD11b⁺ DCs in PP were observed, particularly in relation to CD11b⁻/CD8⁺ DCs. It has been shown that PP, but not

MLN or ILFs, are the major site for generation of antigen-specific IgA following oral immunization with adjuvants[267]. This is further supported by the observation that $CCR6^{-/-}$ mice, that selectively lack $CD11b^+$ DC in SED of PP, showed impaired IgA responses following oral immunization with CT[236]. In addition, the frequency of $CD11b^+$ cDCs increased in spleens of BMCh constituted with WT BM, with a similar trend in MLN, but the BMCh mice did not regain the capacity to produce IgA following oral immunization with CT. This strongly suggests that the defect in the production of antigen-specific intestinal IgA following oral immunization of $CD47^{-/-}$ mice is not caused by the reduced frequencies of CD11b, but rather is due to the CD47 deficiency in radioresistant or non-hematopoietic cells.

Oral tolerance is dependent on DC carriage of antigen to MLN. This has been shown both in CCR7^{-/-} mice that have reduced DC migration from the intestine and in small bowel transplants lacking intestinal afferent lymph. In both settings, oral tolerance cannot be generated[246]. DCs, in particular CD11b⁺ DCs, within both CD103⁺ and CD103⁺ populations, were reduced in the CD47^{-/-} mice compared to WT mice. Moreover, impaired T cell activation was detected in CD47^{-/-} mice following oral immunization. In addition, our preliminary results show equivalent frequencies of Foxp3⁺ cells in CD47-deficient mice and WT mice. Thus, despite reduced cellularity in GALT, lower frequency of CD11b⁺ DCs, and impaired proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells in MLN, oral tolerance is maintained in CD47^{-/-} mice. This suggests that the reduced numbers of DCs - either $CD11b^+$ or $CD11b^-$ - that reach the MLN, are still sufficient to induce oral tolerance. Dependence on DCs, at least with regard to antibody generation, has been shown to be affected by the dose of antigen administered. Alternatively cDCs may not be required. The results presented in paper I clearly show that other APCs can activate CD4+ T cells when antigen is not limiting. However, induction of oral tolerance in CD47-deficient mice was - if anything - stronger than WT, with a ten fold lower antigen dose required to induce tolerance.

Our study of the oral immune response in CD47^{-/-} mice has uncovered several interesting findings. However, our initial intent, which was to study the requirement for CD11b⁺ DCs, was made difficult by some of these obesrvations. In addition, the reduction in CD11b⁺ DCs was only partial in GALT. Today, more refined animal models are generated allowing the possibility to study different DC populations more specifically. The Cre-Lox system has recently been engineered with floxed *irf4* (a gene important for the generation of CD4⁺ DCs) combined with the Cre enzyme under the promoter of CD11c (CD11c-Cre). The resultant CD11c-cre.Irf4^{fl/-} mice display a significantly reduced frequency of CD11b⁺ DCs in both MLN and LP[268]. Mice with a DC deletion in Irf4 display reduced numbers of intestinal IL-17-secreting T cells and fail to support the differentiation of IL-17 secreting T cells in MLN following immunization[268]. These mice could serve as a good model to study the requirement for CD11b⁺ DCs in oral tolerance induction, as well as for the generation of antibody responses following oral immunizations. An additional model to study the involvement of CD11b⁺ cDCs, CD11c-creNotch2-receptor deficient mice, was recently described. [239,269]. These mice also lack CD11b⁺ cDCs in spleen and intestinal lamina propria. Both models, would probably provide interesting strategies with which to study CD11b⁺ cDC-dependence in orally induced immune responses.

The role of CD47 in immune responses induced by oral CT

We uncovered that CD47^{-/-} mice, specifically in GALT, had reduced numbers of leukocytes and that the expansion of antigen-specific T cells in these tissues was impaired following oral immunization. The reduced cell numbers were not restricted to a single cell type, but

represented a general reduction. Furthermore, we showed that CD47^{-/-} mice have a reduced antigen-specific intestinal antibody response following immunization with CT. This could be due to the decreased proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells seen within MLN and PP in these mice following oral administration of antigen, or to the general reduction in intestinal leukocytes. However, while antigen-specific intestinal antibodies were reduced, total IgA levels were maintained. The question is then: why are total intestinal IgA responses not affected? A possible explanation could be that the total IgA levels that we detect in our IgA measurements constitute mostly IgA not requiring T cell help and that this is possibly generated in situ, as reported by [270]. ILFs have been shown to play a role in IgA production, possibly independently of T cells [271]. ILFs have been suggested to be influenced by leukocyte migration. For example CCR7^{-/-} mice, that display impaired migration to MLN and reduced intestinal antibody responses, have enlarged ILFs[18]. Hence in CD47-deficient mice, in which the migration of leukocytes is impaired, enlarged ILFs could potentially compensate for the loss of cells in other GALT structures and increase output of total IgA from ILFs. There may also be other homeostatic mechanisms in place ensuring that once a certain level of IgA is reached, feedback mechanisms regulate the production. Hence, although the number of IgA secreting cells in the intestine is reduced two-fold, these are sufficient to maintain the required threshold.

Another explanation for the reduced intestinal antibody response in CD47^{-/-} mice, could be a defective migration of leukocytes. In particular, extravasation from blood vessels and subsequent homing of IgA plasma cells to the intestine, could be impaired. The consensus regarding migration of antibody-secreting cells is that pre-plasma cells migrate from PP via lymph and TD back to the blood. They then cross endothelial blood vessels to home to intestinal tissue[272]. This is consistent with fewer intestinal antibody-secreting cells detected by ELISPOT. Phosphorylation of ITIMs in the cytoplasmatic tail of CD172a is essential for the function of CD172a. Phosphorylation of CD172a on endothelial cells requires not only CD47, but also integrin-mediated adhesion. Thus, the transmigration of leukocytes across endothelium could be affected, even with CD47-competent leukocytes in a mouse with CD47deficient endothelium [88]. Therefore, with an endothelium deficient in CD47, leukocytes expressing CD47 may still have a reduced capacity for integrin-mediated transmigration, as phosphorylation of CD172 may be important for transmigration. This could be a possible explanation for our observation of continued low levels of antigen-specific intestinal antibodies following immunization of BMCh in which the hematopoietic compartment is CD47-competent. In addition, memory B and T cells, and plasma cells producing serum antibodies, reside in BM and do not depend on endothelial transmigration. This is in line with our findings, as the level of serum antibody remains normal but with a decrease specifically in intestinal antibody responses, Neutrophils have been shown to signal via CD47, as treatment with antibodies against CD47 delayed their migration over collagen-coated filters in vitro[273]. In addition, transfer of CD47-competent antigen-pulsed BM-DCs to CD47deficient mice induced similar proliferation of CD4⁺ T cells as WT controls[93]. This suggests that CD47 is required on DCs, and not on the endothelium, to regulate DC trafficking across lymphatic vessels and endothelial barriers in vivo [93].

Signaling pathways involved in the oral adjuvant effect of CT

We have determined that cDCs are essential for oral immune responses adjuvanted by CT, when antigen is limiting. In addition, the role of different cDCs subsets following oral immunization with this adjuvant was also addressed. Finally, we assessed the signaling pathways involved in the activation of intestinal DCs and the adjuvant effect of oral CT.

MyD88-deficient mice fed OVA and CT generated normal levels of antigen-specific intestinal IgA antibodies, as well as serum IgG. This is consistent with increased levels of CD86 by gutderived DCs after oral immunisation of these KO mice. The Myd88-independent pathway employed by TLR-signaling through TRIF was also addressed using double mutant MyD88/IFN α R^{-/-} mice, as activation of TRIF leads to release of type I interferons. Antibody generation was not impaired in the double KO, nor was intestinal DC activation by oral CT, as measured by increased level of CD86. Hence TLR signaling is not required for the oral adjuvant activity of CT. This is in agreement with transcutaneous immunization, in which MyD88/TRIF double-mutant mice maintain the adjuvant effect of CT [224]. However, in mice deficient in IFN- α R, the CTL response was impaired, showing that TRIF-independent type I interferon production was required. Whether the differential requirement of IFN- α R for the adjuvant effect of CT is due to CD4⁺ T cell activation or CD8⁺ T cell activation, or due to routes of immunization, remains to be determined. IFN- αR signaling in DCs and nonhematopoetic cells has also been reported to be required for efficient CD4⁺CXCR5⁺ Tfh development and the generation of high affinity antibodies after i.p. immunisation with antigen and LPS or polyI:C. Thus, IFN- α R signaling is involved in the generation of antigenspecific antibodies using parenteral immunisations with TLR-ligands. That type I interferons may play a more limited role in oral immune responses is suggested by the observation that type III IFN and not type I IFN are of major importance for protection against rotavirus which exhibits strong intestinal epithelial cell tropism[274,275]. Taken together, signaling pathways important for oral CT adjuvanticity does not involve TLR pathways.

Canonical inflammasome signaling involves caspase 1 activation. Caspase 1 and caspase 11 are too close genomically to be separated by recombination, and so the caspase $1^{-/-}$ mice which we used to investigate the role of the inflammasome signaling pathway for oral adjuvant activity of CT were, in fact, Casp1/11-/-[141]. Gut-derived DCs in caspase1/11-/- failed to upregulate CD86 after oral CT administration. In addition, the antigen-specific intestinal IgA titer was significantly impaired. Caspase 1 activates IL-1ß and IL-18 from inactive precursors. Thus, activation of cDCs in mice deficient in the receptors for IL-1ß and IL-18 were assessed following oral immunization with CT. In contrast to caspase1/11^{-/-} mice, gut-derived DCs in both IL1R^{-/-} and IL-18R^{-/-} displayed efficient activation after oral CT. In agreement with these results, both IL-1R and IL-18R employ MyD88 for intracellular signaling. Our results, thus suggests that CT induces the caspase 1/11 signaling pathways that are important for cDC activation and antigen-specific IgA production, but that are independent of IL-1ß and IL-18. Recent reports have shown that inflammasome activation can lead to the release of inflammatory mediators independently of IL-1ß and IL-18[276]. During the last few years, several routes by which the assembly of inflammasomes can lead to caspase 1 activation have been described. The route described by von Moltke et al is also utilized by CT, if this secretion of inflammatory mediators is coupled to adjuvanticity remains to be discovered. Interestingly, the contribution of release of inflammatory mediators to the diarrheal response induce by CT has been known for a long time[277]. GM1^{-/-} mice, which are unable to respond to CT, display an even lower anti-OVA IgA titer after OVA and CT immunisation. Additionally, serum IgG titers to OVA in Casp1/11^{-/-}, were similar to that of WT mice. Thus, this would suggest that CT may induce antibody responses, at least in the intestine, via caspase-activating inflammasomes, even though cDCs migrating from the intestine are not efficiently activated. This may indeed reflect that DCs migrating to MLN are not the major DC population involved in the induction of intestinal IgA responses, but that this capacity lies within cDC populations elsewhere, for example, PP and/or ILF. Alternatively, although co-stimulation is needed for effective T cell activation by DCs, the level of CD86 expressed by migrating DCs per se may not be directly linked to IgA responses following oral immunisation. For example, we have

consistently observed lower levels of CD86 expression by DCs in PP than in MLN under homeostatic conditions and, more importantly, the upregulation of CD86 was not as pronounced after oral immunisation with CT.

Interestingly, both Casp1/11 and CD47^{-/-} display reduced antigen-specific intestinal antibodies while maintaining the level of antigen-specific antibodies in serum. This suggests differential mechanisms for local and systemic antibody responses. Separate inductive sites may be responsible for local versus systemic antibody generation. However, in paper II we confirm that MLN are dispensable for both local and systemic antigen responses following oral CT immunisation, suggesting that PP are the major inductive site. A recent study has shown that Th17 cells in PP are important for the generation of T cell dependent IgA[278]. Furthermore, IL-1 has been shown to be important for the generation of Th17 cells, recently suggested as important for the mucosal adjuvant effect of inhaled CT[279]. Macrophages exposed to CT also show increased release of IL-1 β , possibly by caspase-1 activation[280]. However, in preliminary experiments we have observed that IL-1R^{-/-} mice generate similar titers of antigenspecific antibodies as WT mice following oral immunization with CT. This suggests that if Th17 cells are important for the induction of IgA following oral immunisation, they can be generated independently of IL-1.

The adjuvant effect of CT in relation to its enzymatic activity has been studied in by sitedirected mutagenesis of the toxin. In some reports, the enzymatic activity was reduced, but with retained adjuvant activity[281-283], whereas others have shown that the non-toxic derivates lose both adjuvant effect and enzymatic activity[284,285]. Thus, it is still unclear how the adjuvant effect of CT, and of other enterotoxins, is linked to their enzymatic activity. Recent results from our group have demonstrated that GM1, the receptor for CT, needs to be expressed by DCs in order for oral adjuvant activity[265]. In this study mixed BMCh, based on CD11c-DTR and GM1^{-/-} mice, were used. CD11c-DTR mice have limitations for use in the study of antibody responses after multiple immunizations because DTx also affects plasma cells[243] and GC B cells[286]. In CD11c-Cre mice, Cre expression in B cells is less (5%, compared to >95% for cDCs)[287]. We therefore conducted experiments with CD11ccreGsaflox mice to specifically study the role of $G_s\alpha$ activity within cDCs. CD11c-Gsa DC did not respond to CT by up-regulation of CD86, neither in vitro nor in vivo. Furthermore, CD11c-Gsa mice were unable to generate antigen-specific antibody-production following oral immunization with CT. CD11c is expressed by cells other than cDCs in the gut. CX3CR1^{hi}CD103⁻ macrophages express CD11c, but these cells are non-migratory during homeostasis, and even after administration of TLR7/8L, a highly potent inducer of migration[101], and are poor inducers of T cell priming[101,102]. Therefore, it is unlikely that the concomitant deletion of these cells can explain the loss of responses in these mice. This strongly suggests that the oral adjuvant activity of CT in vivo is directly dependent on $Gs\alpha$ signaling in cDCs and their subsequent activation.

Several mutants of enterotoxins have been suggested to function as oral adjuvants without having enzymatic activity. This has been determined by in vitro assays or by showing a loss of diarrheal responses in vivo. However, we clearly show that intact $G_s\alpha$ -signaling, specifically in cDCs, is essential for the oral adjuvant activity of CT. It would therefore be of great interest to test whether these mutants of enterotoxins maintain their oral adjuvant activity in the CD11c-Gsa mice. If they lose their activity, then this would suggest that although the level of enzymatic activity is insufficient to induce a diarrheal response in epithelial cells, it is still sufficient and required for adjuvanticity.

Conclusion

Few mucosal vaccines are available on the market today, most likely because of the low number of available mucosal adjuvants. However, the most promising oral adjuvants in clinical trials today are based on detoxified enterotoxins. In order to improve the functionality of such mucosal adjuvant, greater knowledge of their mechanism of action is pivotal. DCs are important in sensing the microenvironment and serve to link innate and adaptive immunity and were, therefore, the focus of this study. Our results show that cDCs are required for the activation of antigen-specific T cells and the generation of antigen specific antibodies when using limiting doses of antigen and CT as an adjuvant. In addition, we show in vivo that intact Gsa-expression, specifically in cDCs, is essential for the oral adjuvant activity of CT in vivo. We found CD11b⁻CD8⁺ cDCs to be dispensable for the generation of antigen-specific intestinal antibodies after oral immunization with OVA and CT. The importance of CD47, expressed by non-hematopoietic cells for efficient generation of intestinal IgA following immunization with CT was established. Finally, the oral adjuvanticity of CT was shown to be independent of classical TLR-signaling, but Caspase 1/11 activity is involved in generation of intestinal IgA but serum IgG following oral immunization with CT.

Acknowledgement

During the years as a PhD student with the work resulting in this thesis, a lot of people have supported me in various ways and without your contributions ...you wouldn't even read this! I would like to thank all the people at the department for Microbiology and Immunology for making a nice and fun environment to work at, and all my friends and family for the great times we share. Especially I would to thank:

Ulf, my super-supervisor! Thank you for the opportunity and your trust and confidence in me to do quite a high-risk project by setting up the mlnx and cannulations. It has been great fun! Enormously frustrating – but yet great fun! I heartily thank you for your great patience and encourage in me, not the least in times of presentation and during the finishing of the thesis. You have a great ability to find solutions to problems and I admire your great knowledge and pedagogic skills.

Linda Y, my unofficial co-supervisor. You have been very helpful, with late minute/late evening sorting, "LP-preppar", and a source for medium - as well as knowledge. Besides, I have really enjoyed the warmth and hospitality during the occasional "Yrlid-group"- get-togethers, that you, Ulf and your lovely kids have given.

Tobias, I really agree with what you wrote in your thesis, you have definitely been like a "labbrother" to me. I really have enjoyed spending time and lab with you. You are a rock! I cannot thank you enough, for all the help you've been given me. I think back of the days when we both were working hard and laughing equally hard at our desks! I hope we can stay in touch in the future, what ever it holds for us.

Fredrik, my co-supervisor, for given me the opportunity to cannulate germ-free mice. Unfortunately, we were only able to generate very preliminary data, and hence those are left out from this thesis. However, the first and hardest steps are taken and the continuation will be interesting...

Cannulation-collaborators; Simon, and Vuk, for good collaboration and support while setting up the cannulations. It has been of valuable contribution. Simon, I specifically want to thank you and your family for your great hospitality upon my visit. I hope I can return the favor some day. Also, I like to extend a thank you to the rest of Milling and Mowat group-member that took nice care of me, I apologize I was in such a bad shape (although, due to a very good reason..).

Megan, for good company and collaboration at work and all the fun times we shared during your time in the "Yrlid-group". I miss our laughs!

Alex, for all your help with late-night sorting, and for making them fun by telling those good stories. Thank you also for lending anti-bodies in times of need. ;)

Per-Arne, for nice collaboration and good times in Umeå.

Paul, for the time and effort you put into critically reading of my thesis and the good comments.

Mats, for your excellent assistance with flow cytometry and MAC-related problems.

The ladies in L4212, Annelie, my dear friend. Åh, I miss your company so bad! Everyone should have a friend like you. I love your honesty. Oh, work...eumh..Thank you for taking such good care of me, setteling me in, when I first started here at the department, despite that

you didn't at all what someone new to come at that moment. ;) Lucky I am you changed your mind. **Margareta**, for making me feel at home at the lab when I started. You are such a good source of information, and with great experience. **Madde Lö**, our professional pathways haven crossed that many times, but I won't forget the one ELISA you run for me ;). Thank you all 3 for nice company at and of work!

My roomies, past and present, **AnnaKarin**, which I had the pleasure to get to know even outside of work. I remember your and **Helenas** "struggeling" with licentiate and thesis, respectively. I miss our lunches, how about a reunion, now soon that we all are a little more available? **Lucia**, you spread warmth around you, I keep the nice pen as a memory of our nice time in th office togheter; My present roomies; **Sara** and **Astrid**; You are such a good support! Thank you so much for all the good discussions, and ideas,I reaaly enjoy our nice chats, you bring a lovely environment to the office.

The fresh PhDs at the department; Veronica, Sara, Tobbe, Yu, Lucia and Johan for your tips and all your help, especially in regard to work with this book

Sara T, you are the reason I got in contact with Ulf in the first place. Thank you for thinking of me! Thank you also for the nice dinners and times at your place.

Jenni, for your nice company during the cold winter months on the bus. I miss your company and your good stories.

JC-members and bookclub:ers; You are contributors to my professional and personal development.

Samuel A, for you last-minute read-through of the thesis. I apologize for the bad welcoming I have given you, but... Welcome!

Lollo and Lotta for a truly memorably trip to Switzerland, somehow its not the conference it self I remember the most. Don't you just love those slopes in Davos, Lollo? ;)

Linda L, for spreading your lovely positivism in the corridor, **Karin S** for spreading your "norrländska" in the corridors. Also, thanks both of you for you help/contributions/ at and with EBM.

Susanne, Anita, Tinna, Andrea and Eva for keeping the department together and for your help over the years.

"Damerna i omklädningsrummet", for the nice small talks and little laughs that makes a good start in the morning.

The **personnel at EBM**, especially, **Pia**; for taking good care of the mice and showing interest in my research, **Aina**; **Ewa**,

Stefan K, Just what had I done if you hadn't showed up asking if the whole computer was dead or "just" the harddrive, after I poured water over it? You and Tobbe really saved my butt!

All my friends for not giving up the hope on me, but sticking in there with your valuable friendship!

Camilla och Eleonore, mina fina vänner sedan starten på molekylårbiologiprogrammet. Tack för alla härliga stunder vi haft tillsammans, för roliga påhitt, mysiga luncher och fikor och bra stöttning under denna sista tiden med avhandlingasarbetet. Tack för att ni så fina!

Mina gamla barndomsvänner, **Ida och Daniella**, tack för allt roligt vi haft genom åren. Jag ser verkligen fram emot att komma tillbaka till verkligenheten igen och kunna få umgås lite mer med er. Fast det dröjer länge mellan omgångarna känner jag alltid er nära vänskap när vi träffas.

Familjen Westlund;

Oscar, för din härliga förmåga att glädjas över även mina (små) framsteg. Du och **Neda** är härligt familjekära och hjärtligt inkluderande. Lilla **Dahlia**, så mysigt med en liten tjejkusin till Ruth till, ser fram emot att se er leka och växa upp tillsammans.

Helena och Ola, för alla mysiga stunder vi haft ihop, Albin, Arvid och Tuva, så roligt det är att se er växa upp till så finfina människor.

Svärmor Marie och svärfar Peter, för att ni så hjärtligt tagit emot mig i er familj. Tack för många fina minnen, speciellt på våra gemensamma resor. Tack för ert stöd och visat intresse av det jag gör!

Familjen Hanson/Hermansson/Olsson:

Joakim, min bror, för alla roliga minnen och för din och **Emmas** hjärtliga generositet. Jag önskar att vi kunde ses lite oftare, tiden går så fort förbi. **Melker och Esther**, ni växer så det knakar! Härligt att ni har så roligt ihop med Ruth när vi ses. Nu kan de ju riktigt busa ihop alla tre. Kul även för mig att få busa lite med er, Melker och Esther, ni är så fina!

Mamma och pappa, mina älskade föräldrar! Ni är så underbart fina och stöttande, på alla vis man kan tänka sig. Trots att ni inte förstår vad det är jag har gjort de sista åren, har ni ändå aldrig varit längre bort än ett telefonsamtal för att jag ska få känna er kärlek. Jag älskar er!

Min ungdomskärlek och min älskade make, **Jonathan.** Stort tack för att du tar så väl hand om mig, hemmet och vår underbara lilla dotter.och för det stora ansvaret du tagit, speciellt under doktorandtiden. Ditt tålamod har varit oändligt, trots otalet sena nätter och helgarbete du fått utsått. Du har varit ett enormt stöd. Jag älskar dig så otroligt mycket! Jag är så lycklig att jag har dig och **Ruth**. Ruth, min älskade lilla busunge, ingen är så fin som du! Världens underbaraste lilla tjej. Tänk vad du kan. Fortsätt att vara dig själv precis som du är, mamma älskar dig!

References

Russell-Jones GJ: Oral vaccine delivery. J Control Release 2000, 65:49-54.

1.

2. Xing Y, Hogquist KA: T-cell tolerance: central and peripheral. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2012, 4. 3. Janeway CA, Bottomly K: Signals and signs for lymphocyte responses. Cell 1994, 76:275-285. 4. Guerri L, Peguillet I, Geraldo Y, Nabti S, Premel V, Lantz O: Analysis of APC types involved in CD4 tolerance and regulatory T cell generation using reaggregated thymic organ cultures. The Journal of Immunology 2013, 190:2102-2110. 5. Brandtzaeg P, Kiyono H, Pabst R, Russell MW: Terminology: nomenclature of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue. *Mucosal Immunology* 2008, 1:31–37. 6. Tilney NL: Patterns of lymphatic drainage in the adult laboratory rat. J. Anat. 1971, 109:369-383. 7. Mowat AM: Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. Nat *Rev Immunol* 2003, **3**:331–341. 8. Makala LHC, Suzuki N, Nagasawa H: Peyer's Patches: Organized Lymphoid Structures for the Induction of Mucosal Immune Responses in the Intestine. Pathobiology 2002, 70:55-68. 9. Neutra MR, Frey A, Kraehenbuhl JP: Epithelial M cells: gateways for mucosal infection and immunization. Cell 1996, 86:345-348. 10. Kanamori Y, Ishimaru K, Nanno M, Maki K, Ikuta K, Nariuchi H, Ishikawa H: Identification of novel lymphoid tissues in murine intestinal mucosa where clusters of c-kit+ IL-7R+ Thy1+ lympho-hemopoietic progenitors develop. J. Exp. Med. 1996, **184**:1449–1459. 11. Pabst O, Herbrand H, Worbs T, Friedrichsen M, Yan S, Hoffmann MW, Körner H, Bernhardt G, Pabst R, Förster R: Cryptopatches and isolated lymphoid follicles: dynamic lymphoid tissues dispensable for the generation of intraepithelial lymphocytes. Eur. J. Immunol. 2005, 35:98–107. 12. Lügering A, Ross M, Sieker M, Heidemann J, Williams IR, Domschke W, Kucharzik T: CCR6 identifies lymphoid tissue inducer cells within cryptopatches. Clin. Exp. Immunol. 2010, 160:440-449. 13. Saito H, Kanamori Y, Takemori T, Nariuchi H, Kubota E, Takahashi-Iwanaga H, Iwanaga T, Ishikawa H: Generation of intestinal T cells from progenitors residing in gut cryptopatches. Science 1998, 280:275-278. 14. Hamada H, Hiroi T, Nishiyama Y, Takahashi H, Masunaga Y, Hachimura S, Kaminogawa S, Takahashi-Iwanaga H, Iwanaga T, Kiyono H, et al.: Identification of multiple isolated lymphoid follicles on the antimesenteric wall of the mouse small intestine. J. Immunol. 2002, 168:57-64. 15. Halle S, Bumann D, Herbrand H, Willer Y, Dähne S, Förster R, Pabst O: Solitary intestinal lymphoid tissue provides a productive port of entry for Salmonella

enterica serovar Typhimurium. Infect. Immun. 2007, 75:1577–1585.

- 16. Lorenz RG, Newberry RD: Isolated lymphoid follicles can function as sites for induction of mucosal immune responses. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 2004, **1029**:44–57.
- 17. Eberl G, Sawa S: **Opening the crypt: current facts and hypotheses on the function of cryptopatches.** *Trends Immunol.* 2010, **31**:50–55.
- Pabst O, Herbrand H, Friedrichsen M, Velaga S, Dorsch M, Berhardt G, Worbs T, Macpherson AJ, Förster R: Adaptation of solitary intestinal lymphoid tissue in response to microbiota and chemokine receptor CCR7 signaling. J. Immunol. 2006, 177:6824–6832.
- Bouskra D, Brézillon C, Bérard M, Werts C, Varona R, Boneca IG, Eberl G: Lymphoid tissue genesis induced by commensals through NOD1 regulates intestinal homeostasis. *Nature* 2008, 456:507–510.
- 20. Rhoades RPRG: *Human physiology*. Thomson ; Brooks/Cole; 2003.
- 21. Milling S, Yrlid U, Cerovic V, MacPherson G: Subsets of migrating intestinal dendritic cells. *Immunol. Rev.* 2010, **234**:259–267.
- Mowat AM, Millington OR, Chirdo FG: Anatomical and cellular basis of immunity and tolerance in the intestine. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 2004, 39 Suppl 3:S723–4.
- Chan VW, Kothakota S, Rohan MC, Panganiban-Lustan L, Gardner JP, Wachowicz MS, Winter JA, Williams LT: Secondary lymphoid-tissue chemokine (SLC) is chemotactic for mature dendritic cells. *Blood* 1999, 93:3610–3616.
- 24. Dieu MC, Vanbervliet B, Vicari A, Bridon JM, Oldham E, Ait-Yahia S, Briere F, Zlotnik A, Lebecque S, Caux C: Selective recruitment of immature and mature dendritic cells by distinct chemokines expressed in different anatomic sites. J. Exp. Med. 1998, 188:373–386.
- 25. Sallusto F, Schaerli P, Loetscher P, Schaniel C, Lenig D, Mackay CR, Qin S, Lanzavecchia A: **Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation.** *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1998, **28**:2760–2769.
- 26. Steinman RM, Cohn ZA: Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. J. Exp. Med. 1973, 137:1142–1162.
- 27. Kelsall BL, LEON F: Involvement of intestinal dendritic cells in oral tolerance, immunity to pathogens, and inflammatory bowel disease. *Immunol. Rev.* 2005, 206:132–148.
- 28. Banchereau J, Steinman RM: **Dendritic cells and the control of immunity.** *Nature* 1998, **392**:245–252.
- 29. van Blijswijk J, Schraml BU, Reis e Sousa C: Advantages and limitations of mouse models to deplete dendritic cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2013, **43**:22–26.
- 30. Alvarez D, Vollmann EH, Andrian von UH: Mechanisms and consequences of dendritic cell migration. *Immunity* 2008, **29**:325–342.

- 31. Shortman K, Naik SH: **Steady-state and inflammatory dendritic-cell development.** *Nat Rev Immunol* 2007, **7**:19–30.
- 32. Colonna M, Trinchieri G, Liu Y-J: **Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in immunity.** *Nature immunology* 2004, **5**:1219–1226.
- 33. Jaensson-Gyllenbäck E: **Phenotype and function of intestinal CD103+ dendritic cells**. 2011, [no volume].
- 34. Idoyaga J, Fiorese C, Zbytnuik L, Lubkin A, Miller J, Malissen B, Mucida D, Merad M, Steinman RM: **Specialized role of migratory dendritic cells in peripheral tolerance induction**. J. Clin. Invest. 2013, doi:10.1172/JCI65260.
- 35. Watowich SS, Liu Y-J: Mechanisms regulating dendritic cell specification and development. *Immunol. Rev.* 2010, 238:76–92.
- Fogg DK, Sibon C, Miled C, Jung S, Aucouturier P, Littman DR, Cumano A, Geissmann F: A clonogenic bone marrow progenitor specific for macrophages and dendritic cells. Science 2006, 311:83–87.
- Naik SH, Sathe P, Park H-Y, Metcalf D, Proietto AI, Dakic A, Carotta S, O'Keeffe M, Bahlo M, Papenfuss A, et al.: Development of plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell subtypes from single precursor cells derived in vitro and in vivo. Nature immunology 2007, 8:1217–1226.
- 38. Onai N, Obata-Onai A, Schmid MA, Ohteki T, Jarrossay D, Manz MG: Identification of clonogenic common Flt3+M-CSFR+ plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Nature immunology 2007, 8:1207–1216.
- 39. Geissmann F, Manz MG, Jung S, Sieweke MH, Merad M, Ley K: **Development of** monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. *Science* 2010, **327**:656–661.
- 40. Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A: **The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny** and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 2013, **31**:563–604.
- 41. Iwasaki-Arai J, Iwasaki H, Miyamoto T, Watanabe S, Akashi K: Enforced granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor signals do not support lymphopoiesis, but instruct lymphoid to myelomonocytic lineage conversion. J. Exp. Med. 2003, 197:1311–1322.
- 42. Bogunovic M, Ginhoux F, Helft J, Shang L, Hashimoto D, Greter M, Liu K, Jakubzick C, Ingersoll MA, Leboeuf M, et al.: Origin of the Lamina Propria Dendritic Cell Network. *Immunity* 2009, **31**:513–525.
- Randolph GJ, Beaulieu S, Lebecque S, Steinman RM, Muller WA: Differentiation of monocytes into dendritic cells in a model of transendothelial trafficking. Science 1998, 282:480–483.
- 44. Zhan Y, Xu Y, Lew AM: The regulation of the development and function of dendritic cell subsets by GM-CSF: more than a hematopoietic growth factor. *Mol. Immunol.* 2012, **52**:30–37.
- 45. Vremec D, Shortman K: Dendritic cell subtypes in mouse lymphoid organs: crosscorrelation of surface markers, changes with incubation, and differences among thymus, spleen, and lymph nodes. J. Immunol. 1997, 159:565–573.

46.	McKenna HJ, Stocking KL, Miller RE, Brasel K, De Smedt T, Maraskovsky E, Maliszewski CR, Lynch DH, Smith J, Pulendran B, et al.: Mice lacking flt3 ligand have deficient hematopoiesis affecting hematopoietic progenitor cells, dendritic cells, and natural killer cells. <i>Blood</i> 2000, 95 :3489–3497.
47.	Kingston D, Schmid MA, Onai N, Obata-Onai A, Baumjohann D, Manz MG: The concerted action of GM-CSF and Flt3-ligand on in vivo dendritic cell homeostasis. <i>Blood</i> 2009, 114 :835–843.
48.	Waskow C, Liu K, Darrasse-Jèze G, Guermonprez P, Ginhoux F, Merad M, Shengelia T, Yao K, Nussenzweig M: The receptor tyrosine kinase Flt3 is required for dendritic cell development in peripheral lymphoid tissues. <i>Nature immunology</i> 2008, 9 :676–683.
49.	D'Amico A, Wu L: The early progenitors of mouse dendritic cells and plasmacytoid predendritic cells are within the bone marrow hemopoietic precursors expressing Flt3. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2003, 198 :293–303.
50.	Onai N, Obata-Onai A, Schmid MA, Manz MG: Flt3 in regulation of type I interferon- producing cell and dendritic cell development. <i>Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.</i> 2007, 1106 :253–261.
51.	Onai N, Obata-Onai A, Tussiwand R, Lanzavecchia A, Manz MG: Activation of the Flt3 signal transduction cascade rescues and enhances type I interferon-producing and dendritic cell development. J. Exp. Med. 2006, 203:227–238.
52.	Karsunky H, Merad M, Cozzio A, Weissman IL, Manz MG: Flt3 ligand regulates dendritic cell development from Flt3+ lymphoid and myeloid-committed progenitors to Flt3+ dendritic cells in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 2003, 198:305–313.
53.	Gilliet M, Boonstra A, Paturel C, Antonenko S, Xu X-L, Trinchieri G, O'Garra A, Liu Y- J: The development of murine plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors is differentially regulated by FLT3-ligand and granulocyte/macrophage colony- stimulating factor. J. Exp. Med. 2002, 195:953–958.
54.	Laouar Y, Welte T, Fu X-Y, Flavell RA: STAT3 is required for Flt3L-dependent dendritic cell differentiation. <i>Immunity</i> 2003, 19 :903–912.
55.	Kondo M, Scherer DC, King AG, Manz MG, Weissman IL: Lymphocyte development from hematopoietic stem cells. <i>Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.</i> 2001, 11:520–526.
56.	Shortman K, Liu Y-J: Mouse and human dendritic cell subtypes. <i>Nat Rev Immunol</i> 2002, 2 :151–161.
57.	Vremec D, Pooley J, Hochrein H, Wu L, Shortman K: CD4 and CD8 expression by dendritic cell subtypes in mouse thymus and spleen. <i>J. Immunol.</i> 2000, 164 :2978– 2986.
58.	Iwasaki A, Kelsall BL: Localization of distinct Peyer's patch dendritic cell subsets and their recruitment by chemokines macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)- 3alpha, MIP-3beta, and secondary lymphoid organ chemokine. J. Exp. Med. 2000, 191:1381–1394.
59.	Iwasaki A, Kelsall BL: Unique functions of CD11b+, CD8 alpha+, and double- negative Peyer's patch dendritic cells. J. Immunol. 2001, 166:4884–4890.
60.	Valladeau J, Ravel O, Dezutter-Dambuyant C, Moore K, Kleijmeer M, Liu Y, Duvert- Frances V, Vincent C, Schmitt D, Davoust J, et al.: Langerin, a novel C-type lectin specific to Langerhans cells, is an endocytic receptor that induces the formation of Birbeck granules. <i>Immunity</i> 2000, 12:71–81.
-----	--
61.	Iwasaki A: Mucosal dendritic cells. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 2007, 25:381–418.
62.	Ginhoux F, Collin MP, Bogunovic M, Abel M, Leboeuf M, Helft J, Ochando J, Kissenpfennig A, Malissen B, Grisotto M, et al.: Blood-derived dermal langerin+ dendritic cells survey the skin in the steady state. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2007, 204 :3133–3146.
63.	Bursch LS, Wang L, Igyarto B, Kissenpfennig A, Malissen B, Kaplan DH, Hogquist KA: Identification of a novel population of Langerin+ dendritic cells. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2007, 204 :3147–3156.
64.	Poulin LF, Henri S, de Bovis B, Devilard E, Kissenpfennig A, Malissen B: The dermis contains langerin+ dendritic cells that develop and function independently of epidermal Langerhans cells. J. Exp. Med. 2007, 204 :3119–3131.
65.	Merad M, Ginhoux F, Collin M: Origin, homeostasis and function of Langerhans cells and other langerin-expressing dendritic cells. <i>Nature Reviews Immunology</i> 2008, 8 :935–947.
66.	Ginhoux F, Tacke F, Angeli V, Bogunovic M, Loubeau M, Dai X-M, Stanley ER, Randolph GJ, Merad M: Langerhans cells arise from monocytes in vivo. <i>Nature immunology</i> 2006, 7 :265–273.
67.	Randolph GJ, Ochando J, Partida-Sánchez S: Migration of dendritic cell subsets and their precursors. <i>Annu. Rev. Immunol.</i> 2008, 26 :293–316.
68.	Ginhoux F, Liu K, Helft J, Bogunovic M, Greter M, Hashimoto D, Price J, Yin N, Bromberg J, Lira SA, et al.: The origin and development of nonlymphoid tissue CD103+ DCs. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2009, 206 :3115–3130.
69.	Liu K, Nussenzweig MC: Development and homeostasis of dendritic cells. <i>Eur. J. Immunol.</i> 2010, 40 :2099–2102.
70.	Ichikawa E, Hida S, Omatsu Y, Shimoyama S, Takahara K, Miyagawa S, Inaba K, Taki S: Defective development of splenic and epidermal CD4+ dendritic cells in mice deficient for IFN regulatory factor-2 . <i>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.</i> 2004, 101 :3909–3914.
71.	Suzuki S, Honma K, Matsuyama T, Suzuki K, Toriyama K, Akitoyo I, Yamamoto K, Suematsu T, Nakamura M, Yui K, et al.: Critical roles of interferon regulatory factor 4 in CD11bhighCD8a– dendritic cell development . <i>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.</i> 2004, 101 :8981–8986.
72.	Aliberti J, Schulz O, Pennington DJ, Tsujimura H, Reis e Sousa C, Ozato K, Sher A: Essential role for ICSBP in the in vivo development of murine CD8alpha + dendritic cells. <i>Blood</i> 2003, 101 :305–310.
73.	Wu L, D'Amico A, Winkel KD, Suter M, Lo D, Shortman K: RelB is essential for the development of myeloid-related CD8alpha- dendritic cells but not of lymphoid-related CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. <i>Immunity</i> 1998, 9 :839–847.
74.	Kobayashi T, Walsh PT, Walsh MC, Speirs KM, Chiffoleau E, King CG, Hancock WW,

	Caamano JH, Hunter CA, Scott P, et al.: TRAF6 is a critical factor for dendritic cell maturation and development. <i>Immunity</i> 2003, 19 :353–363.
75.	Anderson KL, Perkin H, Surh CD, Venturini S, Maki RA, Torbett BE: Transcription Factor PU.1 Is Necessary for Development of Thymic and Myeloid Progenitor- Derived Dendritic Cells . <i>The Journal of Immunology</i> 2000, 164 :1855–1861.
76.	Wu L, Nichogiannopoulou A, Shortman K, Georgopoulos K: Cell-autonomous defects in dendritic cell populations of Ikaros mutant mice point to a developmental relationship with the lymphoid lineage. <i>Immunity</i> 1997, 7 :483–492.
77.	Murphy TL, Tussiwand R, Murphy KM: Specificity through cooperation: BATF-IRF interactions control immune-regulatory networks. <i>Nature Reviews Immunology</i> 2013, 13 :499–509.
78.	Hildner K, Edelson BT, Purtha WE, Diamond M, Matsushita H, Kohyama M, Calderon B, Schraml BU, Unanue ER, Diamond MS, et al.: Batf3 deficiency reveals a critical role for CD8alpha+ dendritic cells in cytotoxic T cell immunity. <i>Science</i> 2008, 322 :1097–1100.
79.	Edelson BT, Kc W, Juang R, Kohyama M, Benoit LA, Klekotka PA, Moon C, Albring JC, Ise W, Michael DG, et al.: Peripheral CD103+ dendritic cells form a unified subset developmentally related to CD8 + conventional dendritic cells . <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2010, 207 :823–836.
80.	Edelson BT, Bradstreet TR, Wumesh KC, Hildner K, Herzog JW, Sim J, Russell JH, Murphy TL, Unanue ER, Murphy KM: Batf3-Dependent CD11blow/– Peripheral Dendritic Cells Are GM-CSF-Independent and Are Not Required for Th Cell Priming after Subcutaneous Immunization . <i>PLoS ONE</i> 2011, 6 :e25660.
81.	Tussiwand R, Lee W-L, Murphy TL, Mashayekhi M, Kc W, Albring JC, Satpathy AT, Rotondo JA, Edelson BT, Kretzer NM, et al.: Compensatory dendritic cell development mediated by BATF-IRF interactions . <i>Nature</i> 2012, doi:10.1038/nature11531.
82.	Mashayekhi M, Sandau MM, Dunay IR, Frickel EM, Khan A, Goldszmid RS, Sher A, Ploegh HL, Murphy TL, Sibley LD, et al.: CD8α(+) dendritic cells are the critical source of interleukin-12 that controls acute infection by Toxoplasma gondii tachyzoites. <i>Immunity</i> 2011, 35 :249–259.
83.	Lindberg FP, Lublin DM, Telen MJ, Veile RA, Miller YE, Donis-Keller H, Brown EJ: Rh-related antigen CD47 is the signal-transducer integrin-associated protein. <i>J. Biol. Chem.</i> 1994, 269 :1567–1570.
84.	Lindberg FP, Gresham HD, Schwarz E, Brown EJ: Molecular cloning of integrin- associated protein: an immunoglobulin family member with multiple membrane- spanning domains implicated in alpha v beta 3-dependent ligand binding. J. Cell Biol. 1993, 123 :485–496.
85.	Brown EJ, Frazier WA: Integrin-associated protein (CD47) and its ligands. <i>Trends Cell Biol.</i> 2001, 11:130–135.
86.	Jiang P, Lagenaur CF, Narayanan V: Integrin-associated protein is a ligand for the P84 neural adhesion molecule. <i>J. Biol. Chem.</i> 1999, 274 :559–562.
87.	Babic I, Schallhorn A, Lindberg FP, Jirik FR: SHPS-1 induces aggregation of Ba/F3

	pro-B cells via an interaction with CD47. J. Immunol. 2000, 164:3652–3658.
88.	Johansen ML, Brown EJ: Dual regulation of SIRPalpha phosphorylation by integrins and CD47. <i>J. Biol. Chem.</i> 2007, 282 :24219–24230.
89.	Oldenborg PA: Role of CD47 as a Marker of Self on Red Blood Cells. Science 2000, 288:2051–2054.
90.	Hermann P, Armant M, Brown E, Rubio M, Ishihara H, Ulrich D, Caspary RG, Lindberg FP, Armitage R, Maliszewski C, et al.: The vitronectin receptor and its associated CD47 molecule mediates proinflammatory cytokine synthesis in human monocytes by interaction with soluble CD23. <i>J. Cell Biol.</i> 1999, 144 :767–775.
91.	Armant M, Avice MN, Hermann P, Rubio M, Kiniwa M, Delespesse G, Sarfati M: CD47 ligation selectively downregulates human interleukin 12 production. J. Exp. Med. 1999, 190:1175–1182.
92.	Hagnerud S, Manna PP, Cella M, Stenberg A, Frazier WA, Colonna M, Oldenborg P-A: Deficit of CD47 results in a defect of marginal zone dendritic cells, blunted immune response to particulate antigen and impairment of skin dendritic cell migration. J. Immunol. 2006, 176 :5772–5778.
93.	Van VQ, Lesage S, Bouguermouh S, Gautier P, Rubio M, Levesque M, Nguyen S, Galibert L, Sarfati M: Expression of the self-marker CD47 on dendritic cells governs their trafficking to secondary lymphoid organs. <i>EMBO J.</i> 2006, 25 :5560–5568.
94.	Fortin G, Raymond M, Van VQ, Rubio M, Gautier P, Sarfati M, Franchimont D: A role for CD47 in the development of experimental colitis mediated by SIRP +CD103-dendritic cells. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2009, 206 :1995–2011.
95.	Fukunaga A, Nagai H, Noguchi T, Okazawa H, Matozaki T, Yu X, Lagenaur CF, Honma N, Ichihashi M, Kasuga M, et al.: Src homology 2 domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase substrate 1 regulates the migration of Langerhans cells from the epidermis to draining lymph nodes. J. Immunol. 2004, 172:4091–4099.
96.	Lahoud MH, Proietto AI, Gartlan KH, Kitsoulis S, Curtis J, Wettenhall J, Sofi M, Daunt C, O'Keeffe M, Caminschi I, et al.: Signal regulatory protein molecules are differentially expressed by CD8- dendritic cells. J. Immunol. 2006, 177:372–382.
97.	Saito Y, Iwamura H, Kaneko T, Ohnishi H, Murata Y, Okazawa H, Kanazawa Y, Sato-Hashimoto M, Kobayashi H, Oldenborg PA, et al.: Regulation by SIRP of dendritic cell homeostasis in lymphoid tissues . <i>Blood</i> 2010, 116 :3517–3525.
98.	Bar-On L, Birnberg T, Lewis KL, Edelson BT, Bruder D, Hildner K, Buer J, Murphy KM, Reizis B, Jung S: CX3CR1+ CD8alpha+ dendritic cells are a steady-state population related to plasmacytoid dendritic cells. <i>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.</i> 2010, 107 :14745–14750.
99.	Rescigno M, Urbano M, Valzasina B, Francolini M, Rotta G, Bonasio R, Granucci F, Kraehenbuhl JP, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P: Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. <i>Nature immunology</i> 2001, 2 :361–367.
100.	Niess J-H, Brand S, Gu X, Landsman L, Jung S, McCormick BA, Vyas JM, Boes M, Ploegh HL, Fox JG, et al.: CX3CR1-mediated dendritic cell access to the intestinal lumen and bacterial clearance. <i>Science</i> 2005, 307 :254–258.

101.	Schulz O, Jaensson E, Persson EK, Liu X, Worbs T, Agace WW, Pabst O: Intestinal CD103+, but not CX3CR1+, antigen sampling cells migrate in lymph and serve classical dendritic cell functions. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2009, 206 :3101–3114.
102.	Cerovic V, Houston SA, Scott CL, Aumeunier A, Yrlid U, Mowat AM, Milling SWF: Intestinal CD103− dendritic cells migrate in lymph and prime effector T cells. <i>Mucosal Immunology</i> 2012, 6:104–113.
103.	Diehl GE, Longman RS, Zhang J-X, Breart B, Galan C, Cuesta A, Schwab SR, Littman DR: Microbiota restricts trafficking of bacteria to mesenteric lymph nodes by CX3CR1hi cells. <i>Nature</i> 2013, doi:10.1038/nature11809.
104.	Varol C, Vallon-Eberhard A, Elinav E, Aychek T, Shapira Y, Luche H, Fehling HJ, Hardt W-D, Shakhar G, Jung S: Intestinal Lamina Propria Dendritic Cell Subsets Have Different Origin and Functions. <i>Immunity</i> 2009, 31 :502–512.
105.	Johansson-Lindbom B: Functional specialization of gut CD103+ dendritic cells in the regulation of tissue-selective T cell homing. J. Exp. Med. 2005, 202:1063–1073.
106.	Yrlid U, Cerovic V, Milling S, Jenkins CD, Zhang J, Crocker PR, Klavinskis LS, MacPherson GG: Plasmacytoid dendritic cells do not migrate in intestinal or hepatic lymph. <i>J. Immunol.</i> 2006, 177 :6115–6121.
107.	Pascale F, Pascale F, Contreras V, Bonneau M, Courbet A, Chilmonczyk S, Bevilacqua C, Epardaud M, Eparaud M, Niborski V, et al.: Plasmacytoid dendritic cells migrate in afferent skin lymph. <i>J. Immunol.</i> 2008, 180 :5963–5972.
108.	Yrlid U, Milling SWF, Miller JL, Cartland S, Jenkins CD, MacPherson GG: Regulation of intestinal dendritic cell migration and activation by plasmacytoid dendritic cells, TNF-alpha and type 1 IFNs after feeding a TLR7/8 ligand. <i>J. Immunol.</i> 2006, 176:5205–5212.
109.	Jaensson E, Uronen-Hansson H, Pabst O, Eksteen B, Tian J, Coombes JL, Berg PL, Davidsson T, Powrie F, Johansson-Lindbom B, et al.: Small intestinal CD103+ dendritic cells display unique functional properties that are conserved between mice and humans . <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2008, 205 :2139–2149.
110.	Annacker O: Essential role for CD103 in the T cell-mediated regulation of experimental colitis. J. Exp. Med. 2005, 202:1051–1061.
111.	Forster R, Schubel A, Breitfeld D, Kremmer E, Renner-Müller I, Wolf E, Lipp M: CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. <i>Cell</i> 1999, 99 :23–33.
112.	Ohl L, Mohaupt M, Czeloth N, Hintzen G, Kiafard Z, Zwirner J, Blankenstein T, Henning G, Förster R: CCR7 governs skin dendritic cell migration under inflammatory and steady-state conditions. <i>Immunity</i> 2004, 21 :279–288.
113.	Jang MH, Sougawa N, Tanaka T, Hirata T, Hiroi T, Tohya K, Guo Z, Umemoto E, Ebisuno Y, Yang B-G, et al.: CCR7 is critically important for migration of dendritic cells in intestinal lamina propria to mesenteric lymph nodes. <i>J. Immunol.</i> 2006, 176:803–810.
114.	Hammerschmidt SI, Ahrendt M, Bode U, Wahl B, Kremmer E, Förster R, Pabst O: Stromal mesenteric lymph node cells are essential for the generation of gut-homing T cells in vivo. J. Exp. Med. 2008, 205:2483–2490.

115.	Nagatani K, Komagata Y, Asako K, Takayama M, Yamamoto K: Antigen-specific regulatory T cells are detected in Peyer's patches after the interaction between T cells and dendritic cells loaded with orally administered antigen. <i>Immunobiology</i> 2011, 216 :416–422.
116.	Yamamoto M, Rennert P, McGhee JR, Kweon MN, Yamamoto S, Dohi T, Otake S, Bluethmann H, Fujihashi K, Kiyono H: Alternate mucosal immune system: organized Peyer's patches are not required for IgA responses in the gastrointestinal tract. J. Immunol. 2000, 164:5184–5191.
117.	Spalding DM, Williamson SI, Koopman WJ, McGhee JR: Preferential induction of polyclonal IgA secretion by murine Peyer's patch dendritic cell-T cell mixtures. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 1984, 160 :941–946.
118.	Sato A, Hashiguchi M, Toda E, Iwasaki A, Hachimura S, Kaminogawa S: CD11b+ Peyer's patch dendritic cells secrete IL-6 and induce IgA secretion from naive B cells. J. Immunol. 2003, 171 :3684–3690.
119.	Pollard M, Sharon N: Responses of the Peyer's Patches in Germ-Free Mice to Antigenic Stimulation . <i>Infect. Immun.</i> 1970, 2 :96–100.
120.	Trombetta ES, Mellman I: Cell biology of antigen processing in vitro and in vivo. <i>Annu. Rev. Immunol.</i> 2005, 23 :975–1028.
121.	Villadangos JA, Schnorrer P, Wilson NS: Control of MHC class II antigen presentation in dendritic cells: a balance between creative and destructive forces. <i>Immunol. Rev.</i> 2005, 207 :191–205.
122.	Neefjes J, Jongsma MLM, Paul P, Bakke O: Towards a systems understanding ofMHC class I and MHC class II antigenpresentation. <i>Nature Reviews Immunology</i> 2011, 11:823–836.
123.	Rock KL, Goldberg AL: Degradation of cell proteins and the generation of MHC class I-presented peptides. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1999, 17:739–779.
124.	York IA, Rock KL: Antigen processing and presentation by the class I major histocompatibility complex. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1996, 14:369–396.
125.	Pamer E, Cresswell P: Mechanisms of MHC class Irestricted antigen processing. <i>Annu. Rev. Immunol.</i> 1998, 16:323–358.
126.	Rock KL, Shen L: Cross-presentation: underlying mechanisms and role in immune surveillance. <i>Immunol. Rev.</i> 2005, 207 :166–183.
127.	Dudziak D, Kamphorst AO, Heidkamp GF, Buchholz VR, Trumpfheller C, Yamazaki S, Cheong C, Liu K, Lee H-W, Park CG, et al.: Differential antigen processing by dendritic cell subsets in vivo. <i>Science</i> 2007, 315 :107–111.
128.	Haan den JM, Lehar SM, Bevan MJ: CD8(+) but not CD8(-) dendritic cells cross- prime cytotoxic T cells in vivo. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2000, 192 :1685–1696.
129.	Conner SD, Schmid SL: Regulated portals of entry into the cell. <i>Nature</i> 2003, 422 :37–44.
130.	Neutra MR, Pringault E, Kraehenbuhl JP: Antigen sampling across epithelial barriers and induction of mucosal immune responses. <i>Annu. Rev. Immunol.</i> 1996, 14:275–300.

131.	Rescigno M, Rotta G, Valzasina B, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P: Dendritic cells shuttle microbes across gut epithelial monolayers. <i>Immunobiology</i> 2001, 204 :572–581.
132.	Vallon-Eberhard A, Landsman L, Yogev N, Verrier B, Jung S: Transepithelial pathogen uptake into the small intestinal lamina propria. <i>J. Immunol.</i> 2006, 176 :2465–2469.
133.	McDole JR, Wheeler LW, McDonald KG, Wang B, Konjufca V, Knoop KA, Newberry RD, Miller MJ: Goblet cells deliver luminal antigen to CD103+ dendritic cells in the small intestine . <i>Nature</i> 2013, 483 :345–349.
134.	Kaisho T: Pathogen sensors and chemokine receptors in dendritic cell subsets. <i>Vaccine</i> 2012, 30 :7652–7657.
135.	Edwards AD, Diebold SS, Slack EMC, Tomizawa H, Hemmi H, Kaisho T, Akira S, Reis e Sousa C: Toll-like receptor expression in murine DC subsets: lack of TLR7 expression by CD8 alpha+ DC correlates with unresponsiveness to imidazoquinolines. <i>Eur. J. Immunol.</i> 2003, 33 :827–833.
136.	Richez C, Yasuda K, Watkins AA, Akira S, Lafyatis R, van Seventer JM, Rifkin IR: TLR4 ligands induce IFN-alpha production by mouse conventional dendritic cells and human monocytes after IFN-beta priming. <i>The Journal of Immunology</i> 2009, 182 :820–828.
137.	Dunne A: Inflammasome activation: from inflammatory disease to infection. <i>Biochem. Soc. Trans.</i> 2011, 39 :669–673.
138.	Tschopp J, Schroder K: NLRP3 inflammasome activation: The convergence of multiple signalling pathways on ROS production? <i>Nature Reviews Immunology</i> 2010, 10 :210–215.
139.	Becker HM, Bertschinger MM, Rogler G: Microparticles and their impact on intestinal immunity. <i>Dig Dis</i> 2012, 30 Suppl 3 :47–54.
140.	Schroder K, Tschopp J: The inflammasomes. Cell 2010, 140:821–832.
141.	Kayagaki N, Warming S, Lamkanfi M, Walle LV, Louie S, Dong J, Newton K, Qu Y, Liu J, Heldens S, et al.: Non-canonical inflammasome activation targets caspase-11 [Internet]. <i>Nature</i> 2011, 479 :117–121.
142.	Janssens S, Beyaert R: A universal role for MyD88 in TLR/IL-1R-mediated signaling. <i>Trends Biochem. Sci.</i> 2002, 27:474–482.
143.	Adachi O, Kawai T, Takeda K, Matsumoto M, Tsutsui H, Sakagami M, Nakanishi K, Akira S: Targeted Disruption of the MyD88 Gene Results in Loss of IL-1- and IL-18- Mediated Function [Internet]. <i>Immunity</i> 1998, 9:143–150.
144.	Jenkins MK, Taylor PS, Norton SD, Urdahl KB: CD28 delivers a costimulatory signal involved in antigen-specific IL-2 production by human T cells. <i>J. Immunol.</i> 1991, 147 :2461–2466.
145.	Schwartz RH: A cell culture model for T lymphocyte clonal anergy. <i>Science</i> 1990, 248 :1349–1356.
146.	Janssen EM, Lemmens EE, Wolfe T, Christen U, Herrath von MG, Schoenberger SP: CD4+ T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8+ T

		lymphocytes. Nature 2003, 421:852–856.
14	47.	Trevejo JM, Marino MW, Philpott N, Josien R, Richards EC, Elkon KB, Falck-Pedersen E: TNF-alpha -dependent maturation of local dendritic cells is critical for activating the adaptive immune response to virus infection. <i>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.</i> 2001, 98 :12162–12167.
14	48.	Yanagawa Y, Iijima N, Iwabuchi K, Onoé K: Activation of extracellular signal-related kinase by TNF-alpha controls the maturation and function of murine dendritic cells. <i>J. Leukoc. Biol.</i> 2002, 71 :125–132.
14	49.	Cella M, Scheidegger D, Palmer-Lehmann K, Lane P, Lanzavecchia A, Alber G: Ligation of CD40 on dendritic cells triggers production of high levels of interleukin- 12 and enhances T cell stimulatory capacity: T-T help via APC activation. J. Exp. Med. 1996, 184:747–752.
1:	50.	Mellman I, Steinman RM: Dendritic cells: specialized and regulated antigen processing machines. <i>Cell</i> 2001, 106 :255–258.
1:	51.	Jiang A, Bloom O, Ono S, Cui W, Unternaehrer J, Jiang S, Whitney JA, Connolly J, Banchereau J, Mellman I: Disruption of E-cadherin-mediated adhesion induces a functionally distinct pathway of dendritic cell maturation. <i>Immunity</i> 2007, 27 :610–624.
1:	52.	Vega-Ramos J, Villadangos JA: Consequences of direct and indirect activation of dendritic cells on antigen presentation: functional implications and clinical considerations. <i>Mol. Immunol.</i> 2013, 55 :175–178.
1:	53.	Spörri R, Reis e Sousa C: Inflammatory mediators are insufficient for full dendritic cell activation and promote expansion of CD4+ T cell populations lacking helper function. <i>Nature immunology</i> 2005, 6 :163–170.
1:	54.	Luckheeram RV, Zhou R, Verma AD, Xia B: CD4+T cells: differentiation and functions. <i>Clin. Dev. Immunol.</i> 2012, 2012 :925135.
1:	55.	Zhu J, Yamane H, Paul WE: Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations (*). <i>Annu. Rev. Immunol.</i> 2010, 28 :445–489.
1:	56.	Lighvani AA, Frucht DM, Jankovic D, Yamane H, Aliberti J, Hissong BD, Nguyen BV, Gadina M, Sher A, Paul WE, et al.: T-bet is rapidly induced by interferon-gamma in lymphoid and myeloid cells. <i>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.</i> 2001, 98 :15137–15142.
1:	57.	Zheng W, Flavell RA: The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells. <i>Cell</i> 1997, 89 :587–596.
1:	58.	Maizels RM, Pearce EJ, Artis D, Yazdanbakhsh M, Wynn TA: Regulation of pathogenesis and immunity in helminth infections. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2009, 206 :2059–2066.
1:	59.	Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, Cua DJ, Littman DR: The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. <i>Cell</i> 2006, 126 :1121–1133.
10	50.	Zelante T, Iannitti R, De Luca A, Romani L: IL-22 in antifungal immunity. <i>Eur. J. Immunol.</i> 2011, 41 :270–275.

161.	Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B: TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL- 17-producing T cells. <i>Immunity</i> 2006, 24 :179–189.
162.	Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei K-J, Li L, Marinos N, McGrady G, Wahl SM: Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. J. Exp. Med. 2003, 198:1875–1886.
163.	Breitfeld D, Ohl L, Kremmer E, Ellwart J, Sallusto F, Lipp M, Forster R: Follicular B helper T cells express CXC chemokine receptor 5, localize to B cell follicles, and support immunoglobulin production. J. Exp. Med. 2000, 192:1545–1552.
164.	Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Tanaka S, Matskevitch TD, Wang Y-H, Dong C: Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. <i>Science</i> 2009, 325 :1001–1005.
165.	Anikeeva N, Sykulev Y: Mechanisms controlling granule-mediated cytolytic activity of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. <i>Immunol. Res.</i> 2011, 51 :183–194.
166.	Lefrancois L, Olson S, Masopust D: A critical role for CD40-CD40 ligand interactions in amplification of the mucosal CD8 T cell response. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 1999, 190 :1275–1284.
167.	Vos Q, Lees A, Wu ZQ, Snapper CM, Mond JJ: B-cell activation by T-cell-independent type 2 antigens as an integral part of the humoral immune response to pathogenic microorganisms. <i>Immunol. Rev.</i> 2000, 176 :154–170.
168.	Allen CDC, Okada T, Cyster JG: Germinal-center organization and cellular dynamics. <i>Immunity</i> 2007, 27 :190–202.
169.	Victora GD, Nussenzweig MC: Germinal centers. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 2012, 30:429–457.
170.	Berek C, Berger A, Apel M: Maturation of the immune response in germinal centers. <i>Cell</i> 1991, 67 :1121–1129.
171.	Okada T, Miller MJ, Parker I, Krummel MF, Neighbors M, Hartley SB, O'Garra A, Cahalan MD, Cyster JG: Antigen-engaged B cells undergo chemotaxis toward the T zone and form motile conjugates with helper T cells. <i>PLoS Biol.</i> 2005, 3 :e150.
172.	Reif K, Ekland EH, Ohl L, Nakano H, Lipp M, Förster R, Cyster JG: Balanced responsiveness to chemoattractants from adjacent zones determines B-cell position. <i>Nature</i> 2002, 416 :94–99.
173.	Cyster JG, Ansel KM, Reif K, Ekland EH, Hyman PL, Tang HL, Luther SA, Ngo VN: Follicular stromal cells and lymphocyte homing to follicles. <i>Immunol. Rev.</i> 2000, 176 :181–193.
174.	Kawabe T, Naka T, Yoshida K, Tanaka T, Fujiwara H, Suematsu S, Yoshida N, Kishimoto T, Kikutani H: The immune responses in CD40-deficient mice: impaired immunoglobulin class switching and germinal center formation. <i>Immunity</i> 1994, 1 :167–178.
175.	Xu J, Foy TM, Laman JD, Elliott EA, Dunn JJ, Waldschmidt TJ, Elsemore J, Noelle RJ, Flavell RA: Mice deficient for the CD40 ligand. <i>Immunity</i> 1994, 1:423–431.

176.	Jacob J, Kelsoe G: In situ studies of the primary immune response to (4-hydroxy-3- nitrophenyl)acetyl. II. A common clonal origin for periarteriolar lymphoid sheath- associated foci and germinal centers. J. Exp. Med. 1992, 176:679–687.
177.	Muramatsu M, Kinoshita K, Fagarasan S, Yamada S, Shinkai Y, Honjo T: Class switch recombination and hypermutation require activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), a potential RNA editing enzyme. <i>Cell</i> 2000, 102 :553–563.
178.	Teng G, Papavasiliou FN: Immunoglobulin somatic hypermutation. <i>Annu. Rev. Genet.</i> 2007, 41 :107–120.
179.	Cerutti A, Chen K, Chorny A: Immunoglobulin responses at the mucosal interface. <i>Annu. Rev. Immunol.</i> 2011, 29 :273–293.
180.	Macpherson AJ, McCoy KD, Johansen F-E, Brandtzaeg P: The immune geography of IgA induction and function. <i>Mucosal Immunology</i> 2008, 1 :11–22.
181.	Mora JR, Iwata M, Eksteen B, Song SY, Junt T, Senman B, Otipoby KL, Yokota A, Takeuchi H, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, et al.: Generation of Gut-Homing IgA-Secreting B Cells by Intestinal Dendritic Cells. Science 2006, 314:1157–1160.
182.	Ramsay AJ, Husband AJ, Ramshaw IA, Bao S, Matthaei KI, Koehler G, Kopf M: The role of interleukin-6 in mucosal IgA antibody responses in vivo. <i>Science</i> 1994, 264 :561–563.
183.	Hiroi T, Yanagita M, Iijima H, Iwatani K, Yoshida T, Takatsu K, Kiyono H: Deficiency of IL-5 receptor alpha-chain selectively influences the development of the common mucosal immune system independent IgA-producing B-1 cell in mucosa-associated tissues. J. Immunol. 1999, 162:821–828.
184.	Castigli E, Wilson SA, Scott S, Dedeoglu F, Xu S, Lam K-P, Bram RJ, Jabara H, Geha RS: TACI and BAFF-R mediate isotype switching in B cells. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2005, 201 :35–39.
185.	Castigli E, Scott S, Dedeoglu F, Bryce P, Jabara H, Bhan AK, Mizoguchi E, Geha RS: Impaired IgA class switching in APRIL-deficient mice. <i>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.</i> 2004, 101 :3903–3908.
186.	Hörnqvist E, Goldschmidt TJ, Holmdahl R, Lycke N: Host defense against cholera toxin is strongly CD4+ T cell dependent. <i>Infect. Immun.</i> 1991, 59 :3630–3638.
187.	Husband AJ, Gowans JL: The origin and antigen-dependent distribution of IgA- containing cells in the intestine. J. Exp. Med. 1978, 148:1146–1160.
188.	Craig SW, Cebra JJ: Peyer's patches: an enriched source of precursors for IgA- producing immunocytes in the rabbit. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 1971, 134 :188–200.
189.	Mora JR, Andrian von UH: Role of retinoic acid in the imprinting of gut-homing IgA-secreting cells. <i>Semin. Immunol.</i> 2009, 21 :28–35.
190.	Bartlett BL, Pellicane AJ, Tyring SK: Vaccine immunology. <i>Dermatologic Therapy</i> 2009, 22 :104–109.
191.	Zepp F: Principles of vaccine design-Lessons from nature. <i>Vaccine</i> 2010, 28 Suppl 3 :C14–24.

192.	Macadam AJ, Ferguson G, Stone DM, Meredith J, Knowlson S, Auda G, Almond JW, Minor PD: Rational design of genetically stable, live-attenuated poliovirus vaccines of all three serotypes: relevance to poliomyelitis eradication. J. Virol. 2006, 80:8653–8663.
193.	Coffman RL, Sher A, Seder RA: Vaccine adjuvants: putting innate immunity to work. <i>Immunity</i> 2010, 33 :492–503.
194.	Stills HF: Adjuvants and antibody production: dispelling the myths associated with Freund's complete and other adjuvants. <i>ILAR J</i> 2005, 46:280–293.
195.	Cox JC, Coulter AR: Adjuvantsa classification and review of their modes of action. <i>Vaccine</i> 1997, 15 :248–256.
196.	Higgins SC, Mills KHG: TLR, NLR Agonists, and Other Immune Modulators as Infectious Disease Vaccine Adjuvants. <i>Curr Infect Dis Rep</i> 2010, 12 :4–12.
197.	De Smedt T, Pajak B, Muraille E, Lespagnard L, Heinen E, De Baetselier P, Urbain J, Leo O, Moser M: Regulation of dendritic cell numbers and maturation by lipopolysaccharide in vivo. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 1996, 184 :1413–1424.
198.	De Becker G, Moulin V, Pajak B, Bruck C, Francotte M, Thiriart C, Urbain J, Moser M: The adjuvant monophosphoryl lipid A increases the function of antigen-presenting cells. <i>Int. Immunol.</i> 2000, 12 :807–815.
199.	Mata-Haro V, Cekic C, Martin M, Chilton PM, Casella CR, Mitchell TC: The vaccine adjuvant monophosphoryl lipid A as a TRIF-biased agonist of TLR4. <i>Science</i> 2007, 316 :1628–1632.
200.	Embry CA, Franchi L, Nuñez G, Mitchell TC: Mechanism of impaired NLRP3 inflammasome priming by monophosphoryl lipid A. Sci Signal 2011, 4:ra28.
201.	Casella CR, Mitchell TC: Putting endotoxin to work for us: monophosphoryl lipid A as a safe and effective vaccine adjuvant. <i>Cell. Mol. Life Sci.</i> 2008, 65 :3231–3240.
202.	Mbow ML, De Gregorio E, Valiante NM, Rappuoli R: New adjuvants for human vaccines. <i>Curr. Opin. Immunol.</i> 2010, 22 :411–416.
203.	Kool M, Soullié T, van Nimwegen M, Willart MAM, Muskens F, Jung S, Hoogsteden HC, Hammad H, Lambrecht BN: Alum adjuvant boosts adaptive immunity by inducing uric acid and activating inflammatory dendritic cells. <i>J. Exp. Med.</i> 2008, 205 :869–882.
204.	Kool M, Pétrilli V, De Smedt T, Rolaz A, Hammad H, van Nimwegen M, Bergen IM, Castillo R, Lambrecht BN, Tschopp J: Cutting edge: alum adjuvant stimulates inflammatory dendritic cells through activation of the NALP3 inflammasome. <i>The Journal of Immunology</i> 2008, 181 :3755–3759.
205.	Franchi L, Nuñez G: The Nlrp3 inflammasome is critical for aluminium hydroxide- mediated IL-1beta secretion but dispensable for adjuvant activity. <i>Eur. J. Immunol.</i> 2008, 38 :2085–2089.
206.	Li H, Willingham SB, Ting JP-Y, Re F: Cutting edge: inflammasome activation by alum and alum's adjuvant effect are mediated by NLRP3. J. Immunol. 2008, 181:17–21.

- 207. Holmgren J, Svennerholm A-M: Vaccines against mucosal infections. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 2012, 24:343–353.
- 208. Kantele A, Kantele JM, Savilahti E, Westerholm M, Arvilommi H, Lazarovits A, Butcher EC, Mäkelä PH: Homing potentials of circulating lymphocytes in humans depend on the site of activation: oral, but not parenteral, typhoid vaccination induces circulating antibody-secreting cells that all bear homing receptors directing them to the gut. J. Immunol. 1997, 158:574–579.
- Holmgren J, Adamsson J, Anjuère F, Clemens J, Czerkinsky C, Eriksson K, Flach C-F, George-Chandy A, Harandi AM, Lebens M, et al.: Mucosal adjuvants and anti-infection and anti-immunopathology vaccines based on cholera toxin, cholera toxin B subunit and CpG DNA. *Immunol. Lett.* 2005, 97:181–188.
- 210. Rappuoli R, Pizza M, Douce G, Dougan G: Structure and mucosal adjuvanticity of cholera and Escherichia coli heat-labile enterotoxins. *Immunol. Today* 1999, **20**:493–500.
- 211. Merritt EA, Hol WG: AB5 toxins. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 1995, 5:165–171.
- Zhang RG, Scott DL, Westbrook ML, Nance S, Spangler BD, Shipley GG, Westbrook EM: The three-dimensional crystal structure of cholera toxin. J. Mol. Biol. 1995, 251:563–573.
- 213. Holmgren J, Lonnroth I, Svennerholm L: Tissue receptor for cholera exotoxin: postulated structure from studies with GM1 ganglioside and related glycolipids [Internet]. 1973, 8:208–214.
- 214. Spangler BD: Structure and function of cholera toxin and the related Escherichia coli heat-labile enterotoxin. [Internet]. 1992, 56:622–647.
- 215. Heyningen S Van: Cholera toxin: interaction of subunits with ganglioside GM1. *Science* 1974, **183**:656–657.
- 216. Orlandi PA, Curran PK, Fishman PH: Brefeldin A blocks the response of cultured cells to cholera toxin. Implications for intracellular trafficking in toxin action. J. Biol. Chem. 1993, 268:12010–12016.
- 217. Lencer WI, Hirst TR, Holmes RK: **Membrane traffic and the cellular uptake of cholera toxin.** *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1999, **1450**:177–190.
- 218. Hazes B, Read RJ: Accumulating evidence suggests that several AB-toxins subvert the endoplasmic reticulum-associated protein degradation pathway to enter target cells. *Biochemistry* 1997, **36**:11051–11054.
- 219. Kassis S, Hagmann J, Fishman PH, Chang PP, Moss J: Mechanism of action of cholera toxin on intact cells. Generation of A1 peptide and activation of adenylate cyclase. J. Biol. Chem. 1982, 257:12148–12152.
- 220. Sack DA, Sack RB, Nair GB, Siddique AK: Cholera. Lancet 2004, 363:223–233.
- 221. Hörnquist E, Lycke N: Cholera toxin adjuvant greatly promotes antigen priming of T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1993, 23:2136–2143.
- 222. Elson CO, Ealding W: Cholera toxin feeding did not induce oral tolerance in mice and abrogated oral tolerance to an unrelated protein antigen. J. Immunol. 1984,

133:2892–2897.

- 223. Lavelle EC, McNeela E, Armstrong ME, Leavy O, Higgins SC, Mills KHG: Cholera toxin promotes the induction of regulatory T cells specific for bystander antigens by modulating dendritic cell activation. [Internet]. 2003, 171:2384–2392.
- 224. Olvera-Gomeza I: Cholera toxin activates nonconventional adjuvantpathways that induce protective CD8. 2012, doi:10.1073/pnas.1105771109/-/DCSupplemental/sapp.pdf.
- 225. Raghavan S, Ostberg AK, Flach C-F, Ekman A, Blomquist M, Czerkinsky C, Holmgren J: Sublingual immunization protects against Helicobacter pylori infection and induces T and B cell responses in the stomach. *Infect. Immun.* 2010, **78**:4251–4260.
- 226. Agren LC, Ekman L, Löwenadler B, Lycke NY: Genetically engineered nontoxic vaccine adjuvant that combines B cell targeting with immunomodulation by cholera toxin A1 subunit. J. Immunol. 1997, 158:3936–3946.
- 227. Mattsson J, Yrlid U, Stensson A, Schon K, Karlsson MCI, Ravetch JV, Lycke NY: Complement Activation and Complement Receptors on Follicular Dendritic Cells Are Critical for the Function of a Targeted Adjuvant. *The Journal of Immunology* 2011, **187**:3641–3652.
- 228. Leach S, Clements JD, Kaim J, Lundgren A: **The adjuvant double mutant Escherichia** coli heat labile toxin enhances IL-17A production in human T cells specific for bacterial vaccine antigens. *PLoS ONE* 2012, 7:e51718.
- 229. Summerton NA, Welch RW, Bondoc L, Yang H-H, Pleune B, Ramachandran N, Harris AM, Bland D, Jackson WJ, Park S, et al.: Toward the development of a stable, freezedried formulation of Helicobacter pylori killed whole cell vaccine adjuvanted with a novel mutant of Escherichia coli heat-labile toxin. *Vaccine* 2010, **28**:1404–1411.
- 230. Shreedhar VK, Kelsall BL, Neutra MR: Cholera toxin induces migration of dendritic cells from the subepithelial dome region to T- and B-cell areas of Peyer's patches. [Internet]. Infect. Immun. 2002, 71:504–509.
- 231. Gagliardi MC, Sallusto F, Marinaro M, Langenkamp A, Lanzavecchia A, De Magistris MT: Cholera toxin induces maturation of human dendritic cells and licences them for Th2 priming. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2000, 30:2394–2403.
- Anjuère F, Luci C, Lebens M, Rousseau D, Hervouet C, Milon G, Holmgren J, Ardavin C, Czerkinsky C: In vivo adjuvant-induced mobilization and maturation of gut dendritic cells after oral administration of cholera toxin. J. Immunol. 2004, 173:5103–5111.
- 233. Blázquez AB, Berin MC: Gastrointestinal dendritic cells promote Th2 skewing via OX40L. J. Immunol. 2008, 180:4441–4450.
- 234. Mattsson J: Mechanistic studies of the adjuvant effects of CTA1-DD and the native cholera toxin: Impact of cell targeting and tissue localization. *Doctoral thesis*
- 235. Anosova NG, Chabot S, Shreedhar V, Borawski JA, Dickinson BL, Neutra MR: Cholera toxin, E. coli heat-labile toxin, and non-toxic derivatives induce dendritic cell migration into the follicle-associated epithelium of Peyer's patches. *Mucosal Immunology* 2008, 1:59–67.

- Cook DN, Prosser DM, Forster R, Zhang J, Kuklin NA, Abbondanzo SJ, Niu XD, Chen SC, Manfra DJ, Wiekowski MT, et al.: CCR6 mediates dendritic cell localization, lymphocyte homeostasis, and immune responses in mucosal tissue. *Immunity* 2000, 12:495–503.
- 237. Rueckert C, Guzmán CA: Vaccines: from empirical development to rational design. *PLoS Pathog.* 2012, **8**:e1003001.
- Chen M, Gavrilova O, Zhao W-Q, Nguyen A, Lorenzo J, Shen L, Nackers L, Pack S, Jou W, Weinstein LS: Increased glucose tolerance and reduced adiposity in the absence of fasting hypoglycemia in mice with liver-specific Gsα deficiency. J. Clin. Invest. 2005, 115:3217–3227.
- 239. Lewis KL, Caton ML, Bogunovic M, Greter M, Grajkowska LT, Ng D, Klinakis A, Charo IF, Jung S, Gommerman JL, et al.: Notch2 receptor signaling controls functional differentiation of dendritic cells in the spleen and intestine. *Immunity* 2011, **35**:780–791.
- Jung S, Unutmaz D, Wong P, Sano G-I, De los Santos K, Sparwasser T, Wu S, Vuthoori S, Ko K, Zavala F, et al.: In vivo depletion of CD11c+ dendritic cells abrogates priming of CD8+ T cells by exogenous cell-associated antigens. *Immunity* 2002, 17:211–220.
- 241. Zammit DJ, Cauley LS, Pham Q-M, Lefrançois L: **Dendritic cells maximize the memory CD8 T cell response to infection.** *Immunity* 2005, **22**:561–570.
- 242. Rasko JE, Metcalf D, Rossner MT, Begley CG, Nicola NA: **The flt3/flk-2 ligand:** receptor distribution and action on murine haemopoietic cell survival and proliferation. *Leukemia* 1995, **9**:2058–2066.
- Hebel K, Griewank K, Inamine A, Chang H-D, Müller-Hilke B, Fillatreau S, Manz RA, Radbruch A, Jung S: Plasma cell differentiation in T-independent type 2 immune responses is independent of CD11chigh dendritic cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2006, 36:2912–2919.
- 244. Scandella E, Fink K, Junt T, Senn BM, Lattmann E, Förster R, Hengartner H, Ludewig B: Dendritic cell-independent B cell activation during acute virus infection: a role for early CCR7-driven B-T helper cell collaboration. J. Immunol. 2007, 178:1468– 1476.
- 245. MSc MR, BSc MR, BSc GF, BSc KHS, PhD HH, Bart N Lambrecht MD P, Marika Sarfati MD P: Selective control of SIRP-α-positive airway dendritic cell trafficking through CD47 is critical for the development of TH2-mediated allergic inflammation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2009, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2009.07.021.
- 246. Worbs T: Oral tolerance originates in the intestinal immune system and relies on antigen carriage by dendritic cells. J. Exp. Med. 2006, 203:519–527.
- 247. Kahn RA, Gilman AG: **Purification of a protein cofactor required for ADPribosylation of the stimulatory regulatory component of adenylate cyclase by cholera toxin.** J. Biol. Chem. 1984, **259**:6228–6234.
- 248. Sanchez J, Holmgren J: Cholera toxin a foe & a friend. Indian J. Med. Res. 2011, 133:153–163.
- 249. Gustafsson T: The role of dendritic cells in adjuvant-induced immune responses. [no

date], [no volume].

- 250. Sapoznikov A, Fischer JAA, Zaft T, Krauthgamer R, Dzionek A, Jung S: Organdependent in vivo priming of naive CD4+, but not CD8+, T cells by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J. Exp. Med. 2007, 204:1923–1933.
- 251. Ciavarra RP, Stephens A, Nagy S, Sekellick M, Steel C: Evaluation of immunological paradigms in a virus model: are dendritic cells critical for antiviral immunity and viral clearance? J. Immunol. 2006, 177:492–500.
- 252. Crowley MT, Reilly CR, Lo D: Influence of lymphocytes on the presence and organization of dendritic cell subsets in the spleen. J. Immunol. 1999, 163:4894–4900.
- 253. Moulin V, Andris F, Thielemans K, Maliszewski C, Urbain J, Moser M: **B lymphocytes** regulate dendritic cell (DC) function in vivo: increased interleukin 12 production by DCs from B cell-deficient mice results in T helper cell type 1 deviation. J. Exp. Med. 2000, 192:475–482.
- 254. Crawford A, Macleod M, Schumacher T, Corlett L, Gray D: **Primary T cell expansion** and differentiation in vivo requires antigen presentation by B cells. J. Immunol. 2006, 176:3498–3506.
- 255. Goenka R, Barnett LG, Silver JS, O'Neill PJ, Hunter CA, Cancro MP, Laufer TM: **Cutting edge: dendritic cell-restricted antigen presentation initiates the follicular helper T cell program but cannot complete ultimate effector differentiation.** *The Journal of Immunology* 2011, **187**:1091–1095.
- 256. Probst HC, Tschannen K, Odermatt B, Schwendener R, Zinkernagel RM, van den Broek M: Histological analysis of CD11c-DTR/GFP mice after in vivo depletion of dendritic cells. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 2005, 141:398–404.
- 257. Delemarre FG, Kors N, van Rooijen N: **The in situ immune response in popliteal lymph nodes of mice after macrophage depletion. Differential effects of macrophages on thymus-dependent and thymus-independent immune responses.** *Immunobiology* 1990, **180**:395–404.
- 258. Kassim SH, Rajasagi NK, Zhao X, Chervenak R, Jennings SR: In vivo ablation of CD11c-positive dendritic cells increases susceptibility to herpes simplex virus type 1 infection and diminishes NK and T-cell responses. J. Virol. 2006, 80:3985–3993.
- 259. Probst HC, van den Broek M: **Priming of CTLs by lymphocytic choriomeningitis** virus depends on dendritic cells. J. Immunol. 2005, 174:3920–3924.
- 260. Rivollier A, HE J, Kole A, Valatas V, Kelsall BL: Inflammation switches the differentiation program of Ly6Chi monocytes from antiinflammatory macrophages to inflammatory dendritic cells in the colon. J. Exp. Med. 2012, 209:139–155.
- 261. Zigmond E, Varol C, Farache J, Elmaliah E, Satpathy AT, Friedlander G, Mack M, Shpigel N, Boneca IG, Murphy KM, et al.: Ly6C hi monocytes in the inflamed colon give rise to proinflammatory effector cells and migratory antigen-presenting cells. *Immunity* 2012, **37**:1076–1090.
- 262. Goldszmid RS, Caspar P, Rivollier A, White S, Dzutsev A, Hieny S, KELSALL B, Trinchieri G, Sher A: NK cell-derived interferon-γ orchestrates cellular dynamics and the differentiation of monocytes into dendritic cells at the site of infection. *Immunity* 2012, 36:1047–1059.

- 263. Cheong C, Matos I, Choi J-H, Dandamudi DB, Shrestha E, Longhi MP, Jeffrey KL, Anthony RM, Kluger C, Nchinda G, et al.: Microbial stimulation fully differentiates monocytes to DC-SIGN/CD209(+) dendritic cells for immune T cell areas. *Cell* 2010, 143:416–429.
- 264. Pabst O, Bernhardt G: **The puzzle of intestinal lamina propria dendritic cells and macrophages.** *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2010, **40**:2107–2111.
- 265. Gustafsson T, Hua Y-J, Dahlgren MW, Livingston M, Johansson-Lindbom B, Yrlid U: Direct interaction between cholera toxin and dendritic cells is required for oral adjuvant activity. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 2013, doi:10.1002/eji.201242867.
- 266. Jakubzick C, Bogunovic M, Bonito AJ, Kuan EL, Merad M, Randolph GJ: Lymphmigrating, tissue-derived dendritic cells are minor constituents within steady-state lymph nodes. J. Exp. Med. 2008, 205:2839–2850.
- 267. Yamamoto M, Kweon M-N, Rennert PD, Hiroi T, Fujihashi K, McGhee JR, Kiyono H: Role of gut-associated lymphoreticular tissues in antigen-specific intestinal IgA immunity. J. Immunol. 2004, 173:762–769.
- Persson EK, Uronen-Hansson H, Semmrich M, Rivollier A, Hägerbrand K, Marsal J, Gudjonsson S, Håkansson U, Reizis B, Kotarsky K, et al.: IRF4 Transcription-Factor-Dependent CD103+CD11b+ Dendritic Cells Drive Mucosal T Helper 17 Cell Differentiation. Immunity 2013, 38:958–969.
- 269. Satpathy AT, Briseno CG, Lee JS, Ng D, Manieri NA, Kc W, Wu X, Thomas SR, Lee W-L, Turkoz M, et al.: Notch2-dependent classical dendritic cells orchestrate intestinal immunity to attaching-and-effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nature immunology* 2013, 14:937–948.
- 270. Fagarasan S, Honjo T: Regulation of IgA synthesis at mucosal surfaces. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 2004, 16:277–283.
- 271. Suzuki K, Fagarasan S: Diverse regulatory pathways for IgA synthesis in the gut. *Mucosal Immunology* 2009, **2**:468–471.
- 272. Fagarasan S: Evolution, development, mechanism and function of IgA in the gut. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 2008, **20**:170–177.
- Chin AC, Fournier B, Peatman EJ, Reaves TA, Lee WY, Parkos CA: CD47 and TLR-2 Cross-Talk Regulates Neutrophil Transmigration. *The Journal of Immunology* 2009, 183:5957–5963.
- 274. Pott J, Mahlakõiv T, Mordstein M, Duerr CU, Michiels T, Stockinger S, Staeheli P, Hornef MW: **IFN-lambda determines the intestinal epithelial antiviral host defense.** *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 2011, **108**:7944–7949.
- 275. Angel J, Franco MA, Greenberg HB, Bass D: Lack of a role for type I and type II interferons in the resolution of rotavirus-induced diarrhea and infection in mice. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. 1999, **19**:655–659.
- 276. Moltke von J, Trinidad NJ, Moayeri M, Kintzer AF, Wang SB, van Rooijen N, Brown CR, Krantz BA, Leppla SH, Gronert K, et al.: **Rapid induction of inflammatory lipid mediators by the inflammasome in vivo [Internet]**. *Nature* 2012, **490**:107–111.
- 277. Peterson JW, Ochoa LG: Role of prostaglandins and cAMP in the secretory effects of

cholera toxin. Science 1989, 245:857-859.

- 278. Hirota K, Turner J-E, Villa M, Duarte JH, Demengeot J, Steinmetz OM, Stockinger B:
 Plasticity of TH17 cells in Peyer's patches is responsible for the induction of T celldependent IgA responses [Internet]. Nature immunology 2013, 14:372–379.
- 279. Sandip K Datta MSKPLNPAVJMG-NSIIMJFPAINJWDGGER: From the Cover: Mucosal adjuvant activity of cholera toxin requires Th17 cells and protects against inhalation anthrax [Internet]. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 2010, 107:10638–10643.
- 280. Bromander AK, Kjerrulf M, Holmgren J, Lycke N: Cholera toxin enhances antigen presentation. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 1995, **371B**:1501–1506.
- 281. Watanabe I, Hagiwara Y, Kadowaki S-E, Yoshikawa T, Komase K, Aizawa C, Kiyono H, Takeda Y, McGhee JR, Chiba J, et al.: Characterization of protective immune responses induced by nasal influenza vaccine containing mutant cholera toxin as a safe adjuvant (CT112K). Vaccine 2002, 20:3443–3455.
- 282. Yamamoto S, Takeda Y, Yamamoto M, Kurazono H, Imaoka K, Yamamoto M, Fujihashi K, Noda M, Kiyono H, McGhee JR: **Mutants in the ADP-ribosyltransferase cleft of cholera toxin lack diarrheagenicity but retain adjuvanticity.** J. Exp. Med. 1997, **185**:1203–1210.
- 283. Hagiwara Y, Kawamura YI, Kataoka K, Rahima B, Jackson RJ, Komase K, Dohi T, Boyaka PN, Takeda Y, Kiyono H, et al.: A second generation of double mutant cholera toxin adjuvants: enhanced immunity without intracellular trafficking. J. Immunol. 2006, 177:3045–3054.
- 284. Douce G, Fontana M, Pizza M, Rappuoli R, Dougan G: Intranasal immunogenicity and adjuvanticity of site-directed mutant derivatives of cholera toxin. *Infect. Immun.* 1997, **65**:2821–2828.
- 285. Fontana MR, Manetti R, Giannelli V, Magagnoli C, Marchini A, Olivieri R, Domenighini M, Rappuoli R, Pizza M: Construction of nontoxic derivatives of cholera toxin and characterization of the immunological response against the A subunit. [Internet]. 1995, 63:2356–2360.
- 286. Baumjohann D, Preite S, Reboldi A, Ronchi F, Ansel KM, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F: Persistent Antigen and Germinal Center B Cells Sustain T Follicular Helper Cell Responses and Phenotype. Immunity 2013, 38:596–605.
- 287. Caton ML, Smith-Raska MR, Reizis B: Notch-RBP-J signaling controls the homeostasis of CD8- dendritic cells in the spleen [Internet]. J. Exp. Med. 2007, 204:1653–1664.